Draft 4

KINGS CAPLE NDP

RESPONSE TO INITIAL COMMENTS FROM PLANNING INSPECTOR

Housing Need (Paragraphs 3 and 4)

1.1 The relevant documents are as follows:

- The Local Affordable Housing Needs Survey for Kings Caple Parish (March 2012). This was prepared by Herefordshire Council as part of a countywide polling programme. This was based on a survey within the parish and attempted to predict need over the ensuing three-year period. No later parish surveys have been undertaken by the Council.
- The Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment prepared for Herefordshire Council by G L Hearn. This was dated January 2013; overall housing needs estimates were updated in 2015 prior to the examination of Herefordshire Council's Core Strategy. The Assessment analyses potential need over the 20-year period 2011-31. Its findings are not dis-aggregated below the level of the local housing market areas within the county as it identifies them.

1.2 The Affordable Housing Needs Survey notes that a housing association (Herefordshire Housing) has a stock of six units in the village, none of which has a Section 106 local connexion restriction, but three of which are age-restricted for elderly people. Bids from people with a local connexion have been limited. At the time of the survey one respondent indicated an interest in shared ownership.

1.3 Herefordshire Housing takes the view that because of its small size and its relative isolation and lack of facilities, particularly public transport, the village is unsuitable as a focus for further affordable housing development. It was precisely these features which led to the NDP's conclusion that further development of rented social housing was inappropriate for the relatively vulnerable people who would be in the best position to make successful bids for such housing. Shared equity housing seemed the least unsuitable alternative. However Herefordshire Housing advises that the size of the village and of the sites likely to be available do not support this option.

1.4 With reference to Policy 3, the local housing market need is in general terms established in the appropriate local area housing market analysis of the Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment (Figure 8.11 page 160), and, bearing in mind the capacity of the village and of individual sites, this requirement would need to be taken into account in the case of single houses.

1.5 The revised update of the 2012-based household projections noted by G L Hearn in 2015 suggested a modest reduction in the Herefordshire growth target from 14,600 to 14,200. The update report, however, noted possible factors, including optimum economic growth, which might justify an upward revision to a maximum of 16,200. All these figures are lower than that of 16,500 retained in the Herefordshire Council Adopted Core Strategy. It is the latter figure which generates the minimum targets for rural settlements including Kings Caple.

Identification of Housing Sites (Paragraphs 5-9)

2.1 The Call for Sites exercise was individually conducted for Kings Caple Parish Council by Herefordshire Council in connexion with the production of the Kings Caple NDP. Consequent upon this purpose it did not restrict landowners' responses to sites with any minimum capacity, and a number of small sites were in fact notified and included. These sites were indicated on the County's SHLAA map as land with no suitability during the plan period. The County SHLAA team, however, noted that this was because their size was such that they could not be included in the County's five year supply of building land. Planning applications in relation to such sites could therefore be assessed within the policy parameters of the NDP. This information was included in Appendix A3 of version 5.6 and all subsequent drafts of the Kings Caple NDP. (Two of these sites are included among the preferred sites – HLAA/469/001 (0.04 hectares) and HLAA/470/001 (0.19 hectares). Four further sites at a distance from the settlement (HLAA/472/001a-c and HLAA/474/001 could be considered under NDP policy H2.

2.2 As indicated above the identification of sites was progressed by a Call for Sites exercise conducted by Herefordshire Council at the request of Kings Caple Parish Council. This was carried out by public notice posters widely displayed in the parish and by website between 18 June and 31 July 2015. In addition a letter was sent on 10 June to the landowner of O/KinC/003; apart from the other notifications, a letter was received on 2 September, 2015 from the agent of the owner of this site confirming its availability.

Site	Area (hectares)	No. of dwellings proposed	Timescale (years)	Amended or withdrawn
HLAA/218/001	0.79	8	6-10 (2020-4)	no
HLAA/222/001	0.41	1	6-10 (2020-4)	no
O/KinC/003	0,48	6	6-10 (2020-4)	no
HLAA/469/001	0.04	1	0-5 (2015-9)	no
HLAA/470/001	0.19	2	Not stated	no

2.3 Details of the preferred sites are summarized in the table below:

The timescales noted by the landowners have been calibrated from the year of notification (2015). As at 20 April 2017, officers at Herefordshire Council dealing with the SHLAA confirm that none of these notifications has been amended or withdrawn.

2.4 The following comments relate to the timescale of availability. The information in 2.3 above suggests that the possible time window for development in the majority of preferred sites will commence within a five-year period beginning in 2017. It is noted, however, that the ministerial statement HCWS346 issued by the Minister of State for Housing and Planning offers protection to NDPs from the obligation placed on planning authorities by paragraph 49 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This protection applies where the NDP allocates preferred sites for housing development and the planning authority can demonstrate a three-year supply of development land; currently Herefordshire Council can demonstrate a 4.3-year supply of such land.

2.5 The following comments relate to the housing numbers identified for the three largest of the preferred sites.

- HLAA/222/021. This site is being considered for a barn conversion. The site requires sensitive treatment in view of its location (see NDP Appendix A3, page 42).
- HLAA/218/001. This site lies at the edge of the settlement boundary. Development here
 would need to take account of policies BD1 and 3-6 in the NDP. There is additionally a
 minor highways issue related to this site. It is a roughly square plot with adopted C roads
 on two sides, to the north and east; the first of these offers very poor visibility; the second
 to the south contains the only current field entrance and the only feasible access point
 with reasonable visibility; in addition the site may need to accommodate internal access
 arrangements from this entrance to the individual houses. The SHLAA notes; 'There is
 potential for limited development preferably single storey and linear to reflect the
 settlement pattern.'
- O/KinC/003. The site lies adjacent to the settlement boundary with open country to the north. It adjoins the village primary school to the west. The SHLAA assessment notes that development would need to be low density and sensitively integrated and that proximity to the school could cause some problems from parents' parking.

In all these cases a lower than standard urban density has been suggested in view of the factors outlined above, and it is felt that the numbers of dwellings recommended should not be increased

.6 The manner in which information about the identification of sites was disseminated in the parish and how consultation was conducted are both set out in the Consultation Statement submitted with Kings Caple NDP. The Regulation 14 stage included a consultation with the entire village community. As well as the publication of version 5.6 of the NDP on the Herefordshire Council and Parish Council websites, this involved the distribution by hand of a hard copy to every household in the parish (including those of all the landowners who had notified sites for the SHLAA). The distribution also contained a covering letter and a response form for comments divided into separate sections for each section of the plan (including Appendix A3). The distribution took place during the week commencing 27 June, 2016 with a six-week response deadline commencing from 30 June. Appendix 3A of the NDP gave all relevant details of the five preferred sites including a SHLAA map provided by Herefordshire Council indicating them as well as other notified sites; the appendix also contained necessary explanations. The material in this appendix was reproduced in all subsequent drafts of the NDP including version 6.0 – the version submitted by Herefordshire Council for examination..

2.7 The responses to the village consultation exercise are fully recorded in 4.1 of the Consultation Report. The responses on site identification indicated no criticism of their selection nor any wish to withdraw them. No negative comments on this matter were received up to and including the unanimous approval and adoption of the plan by Kings Caple Parish Council prior to its progression to Regulation 16 in December 2016.

2.8 In the light of the information set out above there appears to be no substance in the assertions made regarding landowners' intentions in the representation addressed to the Examiner and relayed in his Initial Comments (paragraph 6). The statement that the plan does not represent the views of the village is a single un-evidenced assertion. The analysis of responses to the Residents' Questionnaire (April 2014) and contained in 5.0 (Appendix 2) of the Consultation Report demonstrates how far the plan strives to accommodate the aspirations of the village, consistent with conformity to the NPPF and the Herefordshire Council Adopted Core Strategy; so similarly does the response to the Regulation 14

consultation. The prevalence of any negative attitudes will be tested in the village referendum which must precede formal adoption.

2.9 It is relevant to comment on the timeline relating to the views advanced in the representation. No indication of these views was apparent before 16 February 2017 On 7 February Herefordshire Council published a planning application submitted by an agent on behalf of a landowner in Kings Caple, On 16 February the Parish Council considered this application and determined to object to it on the ground that it was for a development of market housing well outside the settlement boundary and thus failed to conform to the policies of the NDP (which at Regulation 17 carried planning weight). The landowner was clearly in a position to know of the progress of the NDP having received a copy at the Regulation 14 consultation. He was aware of the Call for Sites because he had notified three sites (HLAA/473/001-3). Part of HLAA473/002 had been assessed but had not suggested a high enough landscape capacity to warrant selection as a preferred site. HLAA/473/001 lies within the settlement boundary and an application for two houses was granted outline permission as a windfall development of two houses in in September 2016.

2.10 The agent's design and access statement for the application published on 7 February 2017 (dated 21 December 2016) cited the NPPF and the Herefordshire Council Adopted Core Strategy but made no mention of Kings Caple NDP, then at Regulation 16. This is despite the fact that, for the benefit of applicants and their agents, Herefordshire Council has maintained a constantly updated website with a colour-coded map that shows the location of all the county's parishes, whether they are progressing an NDP, and, if so, the regulation stage it has reached. The version 6.0 Kings Caple NDP was also on the County Council and Parish Council websites. Consideration of the reliability of, and motivation for, this representation needs to take account of these facts,

Settlement Boundary (Paragraph 10)

3.1 The Herefordshire Council Adopted Core Strategy sets out the principles for allocating housing development to rural settlements and the role of neighbourhood development planning in this process (paragraphs 4.8.16 and 4.8.21, policy RA2 and figure 4.14). The process requires the identification of the main settlement area; the main focus for new development should be within or adjacent to this settlement area. The definition of the area is in the remit of the NDP though the minimum new housing target is calibrated by reference to the total number of houses in the parish,

3.2 Kings Caple has a sharply identifiable main settlement area which the NDP has identified. None of the open land outside this area has been included because of the danger of potential ribbon expansion in a parish which, as is a common in this part of Herefordshire, contains a disseminated pattern of individual houses and small clusters of houses outside the main settlement. However, all the parcels of land immediately adjacent to the settlement area have been assessed for landscape capacity and sensitivity. This assessment shows that some land is suitable for development and some not.

3.3 In these circumstances it was considered more prudent to follow the apparent letter of the Adopted Core Strategy and retain the existing settlement boundary whilst noting some land adjacent might be suitable for development and might in due course become a part of a re-defined main settlement area. The Inspector's advice on this point is sought.



Local Plan Examination Hearings February 2015

Inspector's Update

Response to Inspector Note No 3

In her note of 2 March 2015 the Inspector asked the Council to advise her of the effect of the Department for Communities and Local Government 2012 – based household projections: England, 2012 – 2037 on the calculations for the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) and all relevant housing figures set out in the submission Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy.

As a result Herefordshire Council commissioned GL Hearn to consider the implications of the 2012 projections and their note is attached to this update.

The note indicates that the projections equate to 14,200 homes over the plan period (2011-31) but that it might be appropriate to consider an upwards adjustment to take account of affordable housing need and market signals (as included in the Local Housing Requirements Study Update (LHRS) (September 2014)). This would result in an assessed need of just under 15,000 homes over the plan period (as opposed to 15,400 at the lower end of the range in the LHRS).

The higher end for the OAN in the LHRS update included evidence from the economic assessment which suggested a higher housing target (16,200) might be necessary to support employment growth. The GL Hearn note suggests it would be reasonable to assume that there would be some increase (from 15,000 homes) associated with higher economic growth.

Conclusion

The GL Hearn note indicates that the new household projections provide no evidence that the Objectively Assessed Need would be higher than that set out in the LHRS Update (September 2014). In fact the note indicates that the projections have, if anything, a modest downside impact (3%).

On this basis Herefordshire Council contend that the Core Strategy target of 16,500 dwellings remains robust. It would more than meet the full Objectively Assessed Need over the plan period and provide a degree of flexibility to support higher growth and improve affordability.

Andrew Ashcroft Assistant Director – Economy, Environment and Culture 18 March 2015



Herefordshire Local Plan Examination

Note on Implications of 2012-based Household Projections

Government published 2012-based Household Projections on 27th February 2015. The projections run from 2012 to 2037.

Herefordshire Local Plan deals with a plan period from 2011 to 2031. This note summarises the results of the new Household Projections relating to this timeframe, and how this compares to the Council's evidence as presented at the examination, derived particularly from the Local Housing Requirements Study Update 2014.

The Local Housing Requirements Study (LHRS) Update considered the 2012-based Sub-National Population Projections. The new household projections are based on these. The key new information published in the 2012-based Household Projections (SNPP) are projections for future household formation (by age and sex) which are applied to the population projections.

The LHRS Update identified an Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for housing of between 15,400 - 16,200 homes in Herefordshire (770 – 810 homes per annum). The lower end of this range aligns with the 2012 SNPP, with adjustments to improve affordability. The higher end is based on evidence from the economic analysis which suggested a higher level might be necessary to support growth in employment.

The 2012-based Household Projections, issued by Government in February 2015, indicate an increase in households of 13,715 between 2011-31. Assuming 3.8% vacant/ second homes (based on the 2011 Census data), the projections would equate to housing need of 14,200 homes (710 per annum) over the 2011-31 plan period.

2012-based Household Projections

	Herefordshire
Households, 2011	78,450
Households, 2031	92,165
Household Growth, 2011-31	13,715
Dwelling Growth, 2011-31	14,236
Dwelling Growth, 2011-31 per Annum	712

The equivalent projection in the LHRS indicated a need for 735 dwellings per annum over the plan period. This was based on modelling a "part return to trend" in household formation rates. The new household



projections therefore indicate that expect household formation to be slightly more modest than was modelled in the LHRS. The difference, at 3%, however is relatively modest.

The new household projections look to provide a better set of projections for future trends in household formation than the CLG interim 2011-based Household Projections. At a national level they project stronger household growth over the period to 2021. This is particularly true for Herefordshire, where the projections show 24% stronger household growth between 2012-21 when applied to the same (2012-based) population projections. The new projections thus include stronger assumptions on household formation than the previous official projections, although they are slightly more modest than the 'part return to trend' approach modelled in the LHRS.

A number of academic studies were critical of the interim 2011-based Household Projections in that they expected household formation rates for younger households – particularly those in their 20s and 30s to fall. As the charts below demonstrate, this criticism cannot be levelled at the new 2012-based Household Projections. Household formation rates for these age groups are expected to be relatively stable.



The LHRS however included an upwards adjustment to household formation rates for those aged 25-34 in order to improve affordability by contributing to enhanced affordable housing delivery, a long-term improvement in the affordability of market housing and improved access for housing for younger people. The effect of this was to increase the housing need by 5% relative to the core demographic projections.

The 2012-based Household Projections expect household formation for those aged 25-34 to remain at lower levels consistent with recent trends. Taking account of the evidence of affordable housing need and from analysis of market signals in the LHRS, GL Hearn consider that it might be appropriate to consider a similar upwards adjustment to the figures in the new projections in order to improve affordability.



If a similar adjustment to the new household projections was applied, this would increase the assessed housing need to just under 15,000 homes over the plan period.

The higher end of the range for OAN described in the LHRS was based on the potential that higher housing provision might be needed to support economic growth, based on a higher growth scenario for Herefordshire's economy. It would be reasonable to assume that there is still some upside (from 15,000 homes) associated with achieving higher economic growth.

Conclusion

Overall the new household projections however provide no evidence that the OAN would be higher than that set out in the LHRS. They have if anything a modest downside impact.

The Core Strategy is based on delivering 16,500 homes over the 2011-31 plan period. It thus continues to be more than meeting the full objectively assessed need for housing.

Local Affordable Housing Needs Survey for Kings Caple Parish

Version 1.0 Herefordshire Council Research Team

March 2012







Working in partnership for the people of Herefordshire

Contents

Executive Summary
Introduction
Methodology4
Need for affordable housing as found from the survey4
Current Housing Association stock
Empty properties
Conclusions

If you need help to understand this document, or would like it in another format or language, please call 01432 383069 or e-mail researchteam@herefordshire.gov.uk

Executive Summary

- Questionnaires were mailed out to all households in Kings Caple parish, a total of 143 households.
- □ The survey found **2 households** that would need affordable accommodation in the parish in the next 3 years.
- 3 households were excluded from the reported total, as they were not considered to be eligible for affordable accommodation.

Introduction

- In October 2011, Herefordshire Council's Homes and Community Services Division commissioned a housing needs survey for the parish of Kings Caple. The survey is designed to assess the need for affordable housing over the next three years, as a statutory duty to assess housing needs under the Housing Act 1985 and forms part of the rolling programme of surveys across the county. The survey area includes the parish of Kings Caple, which is the village of Kings Caple together with other smaller settlements within the parish.
- Residents' views about housing needs/requirements within Kings Caple parish were collected via a questionnaire as part of a Parish Plan¹ and are summarised as follows -

There is little support in the Questionnaire responses for significant additional housing (10.7%). Most people are happy with only a limited amount of additional housing (58.8%) or none at all (28.2%). Low cost housing for local people is the only category of housing attracting widespread support (55.7%). Infill (60.3%) and barn conversions (45.8%) are the development types approved of. There is no material support for green field developments. The provision of additional workshop/office space has no significant support (10.7%).

The following action plan output about housing was extracted from the Parish Plan -

Herefordshire Council is currently finalising a new Unitary Development Plan (UDP) which will set out housing policy for the village. Kings Caple is designated a smaller settlement (H6) within the UDP and additional housing will be severely restricted. Development will only be permitted on small infill plots for limited size houses. This should encourage the provision of an amount of low cost housing. The village's wishes for housing provision are entirely consistent with the new Unitary Development Plan (UDP).

Census figures show that in 2001 the proportion of household spaces² that were vacant or used as a second home or holiday accommodation in the parish of Kings Caple was 6% - 3 dwellings that were second homes or holiday accommodation and 6 dwellings that were vacant.

¹ Kings Caple Parish Plan (2006) -

www.herefordshirepartnership.com/documents/Kings_Caple_Parish_Plan_Final_Version_Ma y_2006.pdf

² A household space is the accommodation occupied by an individual household or, if unoccupied, available for an individual household. A household is defined as one person living alone or a group of people (not necessarily related) living at the same address with common housekeeping - that is, sharing either a living room or sitting room or at least one meal a day (ONS - 2001 Census. © Crown Copyright)

Methodology

- A self-completion questionnaire was posted to every household in the parish of Kings Caple, together with a reply-paid envelope for responses. Only residents who are likely to have a need for affordable housing within the next three years were prompted to respond. A copy of the questionnaire can be found at the end of this report. Residents were given four weeks in total to respond.
- Respondents were asked whether they were happy to provide contact details, so that they may be contacted at a later date in order to assess their housing needs in more detail.
- In furtherance of the Council's Empty Property Strategy, each household was sent a slip of paper with the main questionnaire, asking if they know of any properties that appear to have been empty for a long period.

Need for affordable housing as found from the survey

- The process used to classify housing need is illustrated in Figure 1 on page 5. Figure 2 on page 6 shows the resulting analysis of the housing needs. 'Existing' households are those that intend to move together. The 'newly forming' households are usually formed by an adult child leaving the parental home to become independent.
- Questionnaires were mailed out to a total of 143 households. The survey found a total of 5 households that wish to move to another home in the next three years.
 - 2 of these households were found to need affordable accommodation within Kings Caple parish. The requirements of these households are summarised in Table 1 on page 7.
 - 3 households were excluded from the reported total as they were considered to be able to afford a property on the open market.
 - 1 of the 2 households with a need for affordable housing provided a choice of alternative areas outside the parish that they would also be prepared to move to (these areas are listed in Table 1 on page 7).
- Respondents were asked whether there is a family member with a 'local connection'³ who wishes to move to Kings Caple parish, if so, they were given the opportunity of completing a separate needs form. There were no requests for this type of form.
- All 5 households that wish to move to another home are 'existing' households, 1 of which is currently living in affordable rented accommodation (renting from a Housing Association) and have specified a wish to move to another rented Housing Association property.
- Development of rural affordable housing is currently restricted by national and local planning policy⁴ to villages with adequate services. Therefore, if a need is identified it may be necessary to meet this need outside of Kings Caple parish.

 ³ People who have a "local connection" to the parish will either work there, have moved away and wish to return to be near family or need to live in the parish to give / receive support.
 ⁴ Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (March 2007), Herefordshire Council - www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/29815.asp

Figure 1 – Diagram illustrating the process used to classify housing needs in this parish needs survey



Figure 2 – Pattern of housing need in Kings Caple parish from survey results



- Figure 2 shows the requirements of households who were found to have a need for affordable housing from the survey. Table 1 below defines these requirements in more detail, by showing required dwelling size, tenure, alternative areas of preference and the amount up to which each household can afford to purchase.
- Analysis of need is undertaken on a case-by-case basis, if a responding household's requested number of bedrooms is not consistent with the prospective composition of the household, the specified need will be downsized.

Household	Number of bedrooms required	Tenure options chosen	Alternative areas of preference	Can afford to purchase up to
Household 1	1	shared ownership		£50,000
Household 2 2 rent from a Housing Association		rent from a Housing Association	Tarrington; Lugwardine; Hampton Bishop	-

Table 1: Affordable housing needs in Kings Caple parish– breakdown by size and tenure required

From January 2012, single people under the age of 35 who are on a low income (whether working or not) and need financial help to pay all or part of their rent will no longer receive Housing Benefit based on one-bed self-contained accommodation. It may therefore be more appropriate to consider people who are in this situation for a bed-sit or a room in shared accommodation. None of the households that specified 'rent from a Housing Association' as one of their preferred tenure options is a single person household and under the age of 35.

Current Housing Association stock

- Within the surveyed area there are 6 units of rented Housing Association stock, none of which are subject to a section 106 Local Connection restriction (i.e. people who live there, work there, people who have moved away and wish to return to be near family or for people needing to give / receive support). The breakdown of the stock is given in Table 2 on page 8.
- Since 2002, Herefordshire has been operating a "Choice based lettings" scheme whereby people who are seeking affordable housing register with an agency called Home Point. They then submit "bids of interest" for properties where they would like to live. In January 2012, the number of applicants on the Home Point database stood at 4,771. 1 of the households classified as having an affordable need within Kings Caple parish was registered with Home Point.
- 5 Housing Association properties have been advertised for rent between October 2002 and December 2011 (can refer to the same unit advertised more than once). These vacancies generated a relatively high level of demand for one-bed bungalows compared to Herefordshire as a whole.

Table 2: Housing Association properties in Kings Caple advertised for rent by Home Point from October 2002 to December 2011

Property type	Current stock in parish	Median number of bids for this property size & type across the county	No. of properties advertised (can refer to the same unit advertised more than once)	Median number of bids of interest received
one-bed bungalow	3	11	5 (All have an age restriction for elderly people or/and are part of a sheltered scheme)	17
two-bed bungalow	2	9	0	n/a
three-bed house	1	20	0	n/a

Empty properties

As mentioned under "Methodology", each household was sent a slip of paper asking about empty properties. One such empty property slip was returned that yielded information about an address in the parish of Kings Caple. This has been forwarded to the relevant officer for further investigation to determine if action can be taken to bring the property back into residential use, if appropriate.

Conclusions

- Questionnaires were mailed out to all households in the parish of Kings Caple, a total of 143, who were requested to return them if they foresaw a need for affordable housing within their own household within the next three years.
- The survey found 2 households that would need affordable accommodation in Kings Caple parish within the next 3 years – The need is for 1 × one-bed and 1 × two-bed homes.
- 3 households were excluded from the reported total, as they were not considered to be eligible for affordable accommodation.





LOCAL AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY FOR THE PARISH OF KINGS CAPLE

In Herefordshire, affordable housing can mean one of the following.

Rented Housing provided by a Housing Association or a private landlord at a rent lower than market rents. Any vacancies are generally advertised in the Hereford Admag every Wednesday, and accessed via Home Point 01432 359500, web site www.home-point.info

Shared Ownership - an option where the householder is able to finance a 25-75% share in the property. Ownership of the other portion remains with a Housing Association, who charge rent on their "share". Properties are generally advertised through Home Point (as above)

Low Cost Market Housing - the sale price is pegged at below market value by legal covenant. This type of property is generally advertised via Home Point (as above).

For further information on any affordable options, please contact, the Housing Needs and Development Team on 01432 260269 or email <u>housingdevelopment@herefordshire.gov.uk</u>

or visit the website - www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/36077.asp

If your household (or a member of your household) considers they may have a need for affordable housing in the local area within the next 3 years we would be grateful if you would take the time to complete this form. If in doubt, you are encouraged to fill it in.

Q1 to Q4 collect details about you and your current home.

- Q1 How would you describe your current home?
 - House or cottage
 - Bungalow
 - Flat / apartment
 - Sheltered / retirement housing
 - Other, please state

- Q2 How many bedrooms does your home have?
- Q3 Is this home? (Tick one box only)
 - Owner occupied (with or without a mortgage)
 Rented from a private landlord
 Rented from a Housing Association
 Shared ownership (part owned / part rented)
 Provided rent free or at a subsidised rent as part of employment
 Other, please state
- Q4 Please enter the details of age and gender of each person in your current household.

Person 1					
Male	Female				
AGE: 0-15	16-24	25-29	30-44	45-59	60+
Person 2					
Male	Female				
AGE: 0-15	16-24	25-29	30-44	45-59	60+
Person 3					
Male	Female				
AGE: 0-15	16-24	25-29	30-44	45-59	60+
Person 4	_	_			
Male	Female				
AGE: 0-15	16-24	25-29	30-44	45-59	60+
Person 5	_	_			
Male	Female				
AGE: 0-15	16-24	25-29	30-44	45-59	60+
Person 6	_	_			
Male	Female				
AGE: 0-15	16-24	25-29	30-44	45-59	60+

Ρ	lease look at questions 5a to 5c to see which of the coloured pages you need to fill in.
Q5a	If your household needs to move to another home within the next 3 years, please tick where you would need to live (<i>you may tick both options</i>) and then answer the questions on the GREEN pages that follow
	This parish Other area(s)*, please state where
	Preference 1
	Preference 2
	Preference 3
25b	If anyone in your household will be leaving to form a new household within the next 3 years, and looking for a home, please tick where they would need to move to (<i>you may tick both options</i>) and then answer the questions on the PINK pages that follow This parish Other area(s)*, please state where
	Preference 1
	Preference 2
	Preference 3
lf	there will be more than one new household within this parish, please contact us for a second pink sheet (contact details below)
25c	Is there a family member who has previously left your household and moved away but wishes to return to the local area?
	ere is a family member who would like to move back to the local area but may have difficulties inding a suitable home locally, please ask them to contact us for a separate questionnaire so that they can be included in the Needs Survey Contact details: Housing Research, telephone 01432 383069 e-mail: rwilding@herefordshire.gov.uk Address: Herefordshire Council, PO Box 4, Plough Lane, Hereford HR4 0XH Thank you for your time and effort in completing this form
	Please return it in the pre-paid envelope provided

MAIN HOUSEHOLD - ACCOMMODATION NEEDS Please only complete the green pages if your household wishes to move within the next 3 years Q6 Who will form your household? All the people in your current household Other, please describe	Q10a What type of accommodation would you prefer? Rented from a Housing Association Rented from a Housing Association Shared Ownership (part owned / part Other, please state
Q7 Why does this household want to move? (Tick all that apply) To move to a smaller home To move to a cheaper home To move to a larger home To move to a larger home Need to leave a tied house Want to move from rented into owner occupied accommodation Family / relationship break up To be nearer other members of the family To be nearer employment Other, please state	Q10b Is this household currently registered with Home Point? You need to be registered with Home Point to be considered for affordable housing. Yes No For more information about Home Point ring 01432 359500 or visit the web site www.home-point.info Q11 If interested in renting, what weekly rent can this household realistically afford out of income? Under £60 E80 - £89 Over £150 E70 - £79 E100 - £150 Q12 If interested in purchasing, up to what amount towards the price of a home could this household afford? Up to £50,000 E90,000 - £119,999 Over £200,000 E50,000 - £69,999 E120,000 - £149,999 Over the fourth the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth to afford? Up to £50,000 E90,000 - £119,999 Over £200,000 E50,000 - £69,999 E120,000 - £149,999 Over the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards the price of a home could the fourth towards towards towards the price of a home could the f
Q8 What sort of home does this household need? House Live / Work unit for the self employed (some work space provided in a residential unit) Bungalow Sheltered accommodation (specialist accommodation for older persons with some level of support/care) Flat / apartment Other, please state	£70,000 - £89,999 £150,000 - £200,000 As you have expressed an interest in affordable housing within the local area, it may be useful for us to get back to you at a later date. If you are happy for us to do this, please could you provide contact details. Your details will be held securely and confidentially and will only be used in order to contact you again to assess your housing needs in more detail. Name

Q9 How many bedrooms does this household need?

NEWLY FORMING HOUSEHOLD - ACCOMMODATION NEEDS Please complete the pink pages for anyone who lives in your household at the moment and who will be setting up a new household of their own in the next 3 years Q13 Who will form this household? A working age person who will be living alone, please state age A couple without children	Q17a What type of accommodation would you prefer? Rent from a Housing Association Buy a property whose sale price is pegged at below open market value by legal covenant Shared Ownership (part owned / part rented)
 A couple without children One or more adults with children under 16, please state the age & gender of each child Person over retirement age who will be living alone Other, please state 	Q17b Is this household currently registered with Home Point? You need to be registered with Home Point to be considered for affordable housing. Yes No For more information about Home Point ring 01432 359500 or visit the web site www.home-point.info Q18 If interested in renting, what weekly rent can this household realistically afford out of
Q14 Why does this household want to move? (Tick all that apply) To be independent Family / relationship break up To meet the needs of an elderly / disabled person To be nearer other members of the family To be nearer employment Other, please state	income? □Under £60 □£80 - £89 □Over £150 □£60 - £69 □£90 - £99 □Don't know □£70 - £79 □£100 - £150 Q19 If interested in purchasing, up to what amount towards the price of a home could this household afford? □Up to £50,000 □£90,000 - £119,999 □Over £200,000 □£50,000 - £69,000 □£120,000 - £149,999 □Don't know □£70,000 - £89,999 □£150,000 - £200,000
Q15 What sort of home does this household need? House Live / Work unit for the self employed (some work space provided in a residential unit) Bungalow Sheltered accommodation (specialist accommodation for older persons with some level of support/care) Flat / apartment Other, please state Specially adapted home Other, please state Q16 How many bedrooms does this household need?	As you have expressed an interest in affordable housing within the local area, it may be useful for us to get back to you at a later date. If you are happy for us to do this, please could you provide contact details. Your details will be held securely and confidentially and will only be used in order to contact you again to assess your housing needs in more detail. Name
	Thank you for your time and effort in completing this form. Please return it in the pre-paid envelope provided

Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment

2012 Update: Draft Report

January 2013

Report commissioned by:



PREPARED BY

1



20 Soho Square London W1D 3QW

Tel: +44 (0)20 7851 4900 Fax: +44 (0)20 7851 4910 Email: info@glhearn.com www.glhearn.com

Date: January 2013

Contents

Sectio	on	Page No.
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
1	INTRODUCTION	13
2	POLICY AND RESEARCH CONTEXT	16
3	OVERVIEW OF HOUSING MARKET DYNAMICS	35
4	DEFINING LOCAL HOUSING MARKETS	62
5	APPROACH TO ANALYSING THE HOUSING MARKET	64
6	HEREFORD HOUSING MARKET	104
7	LEOMINSTER HOUSING MARKET	122
8	ROSS-ON-WYE HOUSING MARKET	137
9	LEDBURY HOUSING MARKET	153
10	BROMYARD HOUSING MARKET	169
11	KINGTON HOUSING MARKET	185
12	GOLDEN VALLEY HOUSING MARKET	199
13	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	212

Quality Standards Control

The signatories below verify that this document has been prepared in accordance with our quality control requirements. These procedures do not affect the content and views expressed by the originator.

This document must only be treated as a draft unless it is has been signed by the Originators and approved by a Business or Associate Director.

DATE

ORIGINATORS

Nick Ireland Planning Associate Director APPROVED

Graeme Tulley Planning Director

Limitations

This document has been prepared for the stated objective and should not be used for any other purpose without the prior written authority of GL Hearn; we accept no responsibility or liability for the consequences of this document being used for a purpose other than for which it was commissioned.

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 2 of

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) has been prepared to provide an evidence base for Herefordshire Council's policies regarding housing need and demand (for market and affordable housing) within Herefordshire and seven local housing market areas (HMAs) within the County, which are focused on the main settlements of Hereford City, Bromyard, Kington, Ledbury, Leominster and Ross along with the Golden Valley area. The LHMA will inform and support planning policies within the Local Development Framework (LDF), the preparation by the Council of a Housing Strategy and wider investment decisions by the Council and its partners.

This report represents an update to the original LHMA. It has been revised in late 2012 and early 2013 to take account of levels of housing provision proposed in the 2011 Core Strategy Preferred Options and other changes in housing need and market demand evident.

HOUSING MARKET DYNAMICS

A comprehensive review of local housing needs and the housing market has been undertaken, and identified the following dynamics:

- Herefordshire is a predominantly rural county which provides unspoilt countryside and a high quality of life, and this has contributed to housing demand reflected in high house prices, particularly relative to earnings;
- Population growth over the last 10 years has been marginally below the regional average; however the structure of the population has been changing, with an increasing proportion aged over 35. A growing population of retirement age is a particular feature;
- While levels of economic participation amongst the working-age population, and employment growth in the period before the recession was reasonable, the County's economy is relatively low value and this contributes to affordability problems;
- Housing affordability issues in the County are compounded by the current housing offer: with a high proportion of detached housing (42%) and properties in Council Tax Bands E-G (26%). The supply of properties which younger households might be able to afford to buy is limited. 13.5% of housing is in social sector ownership (affordable) compared to 19.0% across the West Midlands;
- House prices in the County grew strongly in the decade to 2007, increasing from an average of £60,000 to £183,000. Price growth over the decade mirrored the national trend, supported by a period of sustained economic stability, historically low interest rates and increased choice and competition in the mortgage market;

- Since the onset of the 'credit crunch' in 2007 there has been a sharp downturn in housing market activity: average sales rates have fallen by 49% across Herefordshire, particularly reflecting increasing difficulties in obtaining mortgage finance. House prices have remained pretty static over the last five years, and in mid 2012 stood at £214,000, sales rates remain subdued.
- Difficulties in accessing mortgage finance have reduced levels of first-time buyers in particular, and have had a knock-on effect on demand in the private rented sector, which appears to be strong particularly in Ross-on-Wye, Leominster and Ledbury;
- The private rental sector has provided a stop gap for many young households, who often don't have the savings to provide a sufficient deposit to purchase a home. Intermediate affordable housing may provide an attractive alternative for some of these (where households can raise a deposit).

Improvements to the mortgage deals available will be critical to the revival of the housing market. This is expected to be affected both by future regulation of the sector and investors' appetite for mortgage backed securities (although there was some improvement during the course of 2012). In light of the current cost and barriers to house purchase which have built up over a decade or more, there is an urgent need to increase the supply of affordable housing.

HOUSING NEEDS ASSESSMENT

An assessment of housing needs has been undertaken, which considers the levels of need for and supply of affordable housing over the next five years (2012-17). This draws on a range of information on housing costs and earnings, as well as the numbers of households and flows onto the HomePoint Housing Register. The assessment has been undertaken in accordance with Government Guidance.

A summary of the findings are shown in **Figure A** below. The first two columns consider the affordability of market housing: they show the ratio of entry-level house prices to lower quartile earnings to consider the affordability of a 2-bed property in each of the HMAs to a young household. The second column the proportion of households in each HMA who it is calculated cannot afford to buy or rent homes in the private sector, without financial support.

Housing need is calculated by considering current housing need, and flows in terms of newly arising need and the supply of affordable housing (such as through lettings of existing properties) over a five year period, to calculate a net need for affordable housing. It is assumed that the backlog of housing need is met over a 5 year period.

Figure A: Affordability and Housing Need						
	Ratio Entry-Level					
	House Prices -	% Households		Net Need for		
	Lower Quartile	Unable to Afford		Affordable		
	Household	to Buy/Rent	Net Housing	Housing per		
	Incomes	without Subsidy	Need, 2012-17	Annum, 2012-17		
Hereford	9.2	58%	2084	417		
Bromyard	8.8	57%	358	72		
Ledbury	8.7	53%	452	90		
Ross-on-Wye	9.3	55%	289	58		
Kington	8.7	57%	85	17		
Leominster	10.2	55%	109	22		
Golden Valley	10.0	56%	79	16		
County		56%	3457	691		

Source: GLH/JGC

Information on incomes of households in housing need, as well as the supply of properties has then been used to consider the proportion of households requiring social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing. These are shown below. There is a very limited supply of intermediate housing, estimated at 62 properties county-wide over the 2012-17 period; and this is a key influence on the high levels of need identified.

Figure B: Estimated level of housing need (five years) by intermediate/social/affordable rented housing (percentages)						
HMA Intermediate Affordable rent Social rent Total						
Hereford	22.1%	24.2%	53.8%	100.0%		
Leominster	31.9%	14.6%	53.5%	100.0%		
Ross	27.3%	20.1%	52.5%	100.0%		
Ledbury	27.1%	17.7%	55.3%	100.0%		
Bromyard	40.1%	35.8%	24.1%	100.0%		
Kington	38.4%	5.3%	56.3%	100.0%		
Golden Valley	20.8%	21.8%	57.4%	100.0%		
Total	25.1%	21.7%	53.1%	100.0%		
			/ / /	100.00/		
Urban areas	25.1%	21.8%	53.1%	100.0%		
Rural areas	25.1%	21.6%	53.3%	100.0%		
Herefordshire Total	25.1%	21.7%	53.1%	100.0%		

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012, Projection Modelling

The evidence points to a requirement, based on housing needs, for 53% social rented housing, 22% affordable rented housing and 25% intermediate affordable housing. The highest requirement for

social rented housing is in the Golden Valley HMA, whereas in the Bromyard and Kington HMAs in particular there is a stronger requirement for delivery of intermediate affordable housing.

The split between social and affordable rented housing should be regarded as indicative and is based on modelling of incomes. There is some overlap between these tenure categories not least as households in affordable rented housing can claim housing benefit. The viability of residential development may be an important factor in informing the specific tenure mix in individual development schemes, alongside local evidence of housing needs.

The housing needs analysis has also provided information on the profile of housing needs by size band. This is shown below. It should inform affordable housing negotiations, although these should also consider site specific and neighbourhood characteristics.

Figure C: Overall Estimated Housing Need by Size and HMA							
НМА	1-bed	2-bed	3-bed	4+ bed	Total		
Hereford	57.3%	18.6%	18.5%	5.7%	100.0%		
Leominster	77.1%	21.6%	-10.4%	11.7%	100.0%		
Ross	54.4%	18.4%	28.2%	-1.1%	100.0%		
Ledbury	46.8%	22.3%	22.7%	8.2%	100.0%		
Bromyard	45.8%	29.9%	8.4%	15.9%	100.0%		
Kington	64.7%	23.1%	12.2%	0.0%	100.0%		
Golden Valley	61.6%	-5.0%	37.8%	5.6%	100.0%		
Total	58.1%	19.1%	17.1%	5.7%	100.0%		
Urban areas	58.3%	17.3%	18.6%	5.7%	100.0%		
Rural areas	57.8%	22.3%	14.2%	5.6%	100.0%		
Herefordshire Total	58.1%	19.1%	17.1%	5.7%	100.0%		

Source: GLH/JGC

Herefordshire Council's emerging Local Development Framework Core Strategy seeks to deliver 18,000 new homes (net) across Herefordshire over the 2011-31 plan period. The Council intends to publish a draft Core Strategy in 2013 which will provide a further opportunity for public consultation on its proposals.

Affordable housing targets need to take account of both need and the realism of delivery, considering the viability of residential development. Affordable housing targets will need to be informed by work being undertaken to update the Council's 2010 Development Viability Study together with the needs evidence.

LONG-TERM ANALYSIS OF HOUSING REQUIREMENTS

The housing needs analysis provides a snapshot of affordable housing needs over the period 2012-17. The LHMA has used a Housing Market Model to consider housing requirements in each of the 7 HMAs over the longer-term to 2031. This considers requirements for both affordable and market housing. It takes account of the proposed level of housing development, changes in the age structure of the population, and how households of different ages occupy homes in the market and affordable sectors.



In the market sector the strongest requirement is expected to be for three bedroom properties.

There is strong retirement market within the County with older households moving to the County as it is an attractive place to live. This is evident in each of this HMAs, but appears strongest in the Ledbury and Ross-on-Wye HMAs.

In Hereford City a greater proportion of demand comes from people who live and work locally. Employment growth will support demand for housing and the emerging Core Strategy proposals to deliver new employment both within the City Centre, Rotherwas Industrial Estate and through mixed-use urban extensions will be important to this. The provision of flats over the longer-term should be carefully phased.

In the affordable housing sector over the longer-term, there is expected to be a fairly even split between requirements for properties with one, two and three bedrooms.

Source: JGC



Source: JGC

In relative terms, demand is expected to be stronger for larger properties with 3 and 4 beds in Hereford and Bromyard HMAs; with greater requirements for smaller properties in the Ledbury and Golden Valley HMAs. The differences however are relatively marginal.



Source: JGC

For the affordable sector, over the longer-term just under two-thirds of housing requirements are expected to be one- and two-bedroom properties to meet housing needs. A higher proportion of larger

properties (three- and four-bedroom units) will however be required in the Kington and Leominster HMAs.



RECOMMENDATIONS

HOUSING REQUIREMENTS AND DELIVERY

The proposed housing requirement for Herefordshire of 16,500 homes over the 2011-31 plan period represents 1.5% household growth per annum. It is above the Government's latest 2008 trend-based demographic projections for household growth (14,500 homes between 2011-31)¹.

This report identifies net affordable housing need for 3,457 households over the 2012-17 period (excluding housing in the development pipeline). It seems unlikely that this level of affordable housing can be delivered. However the private rented sector does, and is likely to continue, to provide a source of supply of homes to meet housing need – supported by Local Housing Allowance. Based on current dynamics we estimate that the private rented sector could meet the needs of an estimated 2,660 households in housing need over the 2012-17 period. Thus whilst there is a continuing high need to deliver affordable housing there is not a need to increase the overall housing target for the County above the 16,500 being proposed.

It will be important that the Council progresses its LDF as a matter of priority to provide a policy framework which supports housing delivery, and in particular the delivery of strategic site allocations, as these will make the substantial contribution to housing delivery in the longer-term. It should be

¹ CLG 2008-based Household Projections

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 10 of 217

recognised that there are in some cases long lead-in times to the delivery of strategic employment sites, and that planning is a key element of this. We would recommend that the Council gives careful thought to how delivery is phased over plan period through the delivery strategy which will accompany the Core Strategy.

The mix of sites proposed within the emerging Core Strategy is considered appropriate to meet need and demand over the plan period. It comprises a combination of smaller sites within urban areas and larger strategic greenfield urban extensions. This is considered capable of delivering a range of house types in accordance with the need and demand identified.

Coordinated delivery of housing and employment is likely to be particularly important in Leominster and Hereford reflecting the levels of new development proposed.

Implementation of a strong economic development strategy will be important in supporting housing delivery, and maintaining greater balance in the population structures. An economic strategy needs to sit alongside a housing strategy, and the Council will need to be proactive in this regard. The Council is producing an Economic Development Strategy, and it will be important that it continues to fully engage in the Marches LEP.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING POLICY

Herefordshire Council is updating its assessment of the economic viability of residential development to inform affordable housing policies. Proposed targets for affordable housing provision in the emerging Core Strategy will need to be reviewed to take this into account. This LHMA has considered housing needs.

The housing needs assessment undertaken supports a nuanced policy which recognises that housing needs and affordable tenure requirements vary across the County. Targets and size thresholds for affordable housing will need to be informed by both the needs and viability evidence, and should support housing delivery throughout the economic cycle (as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework). They will also need to consider any potential Community Infrastructure Levy requirements which the Council can set.

For strategic sites affordable housing will need to be balanced with and considered alongside other development costs, including infrastructure costs and the prospective Community Infrastructure Levy; as these have a collective impact on development viability. The range of 'policy costs' need to be considered in a rounded way with a view to delivering a sustainable community.

The market downturn and restrictions on mortgage finance have reduced effective demand for market housing; and this can be expected to limit housing delivery in the short-term.

The Council has been looking at a range of mechanisms to bring forward affordable housing, including use of public sector land assets and supporting direct delivery by Registered Providers (RPs). It is considering and assessing what funding it has to support affordable housing delivery, albeit recognising current financial resource constraints.

In addition to the percentage affordable housing targets, the Council is seeking to provide a clear steer on the mix of affordable housing it wishes to see delivered through the LDF. Based on analysis undertaken, a recommended strategic target of 25 intermediate, 25% affordable rented and 50% social rented housing county-wide would assist in balancing the housing market.

The Council should give thought to whether it wishes to set separate policies for each of the HMAs. Evidence points to the following tenure splits between social rented & intermediate being appropriate:

Hereford HMA – 75% social or affordable rented; 25% intermediate Bromyard HMA – 60% social or affordable rented; 40% intermediate Ledbury HMA – 70% social or affordable rented; 30% intermediate Ross HMA – 70% social or affordable rented; 30% intermediate Kington HMA – 60% social or affordable rented; 40% intermediate Leominster HMA – 65% social or affordable rented; 35% intermediate Golden Valley HMA – 75% social or affordable rented; 25% intermediate

The evidence suggests considerable potential for affordable rented housing in Herefordshire subject to conclusions of the viability remodelling. Higher rents will mean that this is more viable to deliver than social rented properties, and is likely to require less public subsidy. The balance between social and affordable rented housing should be influenced by the modelling in this report and scheme viability.

There are however a number of other intermediate housing products, including shared ownership/equity, which should also be delivered. These are likely to be particularly appealing to would-be first-time buyers who haven't the savings to buy on the open market where the household can raise the necessary deposit.

Many households however often do not know of the housing options which are potentially available to them. We would recommend that alongside delivery of new intermediate housing, work is prioritised to raise the profile of the range of options available through marketing/ website etc.

Formatte spelling or

January 2013

Recognising their sensitivity to changes in market circumstances, affordable housing policies should be kept under regular review. We would recommend that these are reviewed at least every 5 years (or more frequently depending on the degree of change in market circumstances).

Recommendations for the sizes of affordable housing in each of the HMAs are as follows. These are drawn from the Housing Market Model.

Figure H: Recommendation on Affordable Housing Mix							
НМА	1-bed	2-bed	3-bed	4/+ Bed			
Hereford	30%	34%	32%	4%			
Bromyard	29%	37%	30%	4%			
Ross	29%	37%	31%	4%			
Kington	24%	48%	35%	4%			
Leominster	23%	32%	40%	4%			
Ledbury	28%	38%	30%	4%			
Golden Valley	31%	39%	29%	1%			

MIX OF MARKET HOUSING

In regard to market housing, our view is that planning and housing policies should not be overly prescriptive regarding the mix of housing required, as in most senses the market is best placed to consider what homes will sell.

Nonetheless it is important that at the strategic level the planning system delivers a mix of sites which enables a range of housing to be delivered. As stated we consider the mix of sites proposed appropriate to achieve this - with the strategic sites playing an important role in the delivery of family homes. The Council should monitor housing delivery by size to inform a plan, monitor and manage approach to achieve a mix of housing broadly in line with the findings of this report over the plan period.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 This document represents a Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) for Herefordshire. It provides an evidence base regarding housing need and demand (for affordable and market housing) within Herefordshire and its constituent local housing markets of which are focused on the main settlements of Hereford City, Bromyard, Kington, Ledbury, Leominster and Ross, along with the Golden Valley area as defined by the Strategic Housing Market Assessment for Herefordshire & Shropshire (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Herefordshire's Local Housing Markets

1.2 The LHMA is intended to inform and support planning policies within the Local Development Framework as well as to support the Housing Strategy for Herefordshire to inform wider investment decisions by the Council and its partners in meeting local housing needs.

- 1.3 National planning policies for housing provision are set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which was published by Government in March 2012. This has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The starting point in setting policies for housing provision is that local plans should meet the full requirements for market and affordable housing in their housing market area. In regard to affordable housing policies, the NPPF sets out that to ensure that a plan is deliverable, the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to a scale of obligations and policy burdens such that their ability to be developed is threatened and should support development throughout the economic cycle. The Council is separately undertaking an Economic Viability Assessment which will need to inform policies for future affordable housing provision.
- 1.4 A Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for the West Housing Market Area, covering Shropshire and Herefordshire, was completed in 2007. This LHMA, draws on and develops this to provide a more local assessment of housing requirements for the seven local housing markets across Herefordshire. Its broad objectives are similar to those of SHMAs (see box below).

Purposes of Strategic Housing Market Assessment

- Development of long-term strategic views of housing need and demand to inform future policy and investment decisions;
- Enabling local authorities to think strategically about the nature and influence of housing markets in their areas;
- Providing robust evidence to inform policies aimed at providing the right mix of housing across the whole housing market both market and affordable housing;
- Providing evidence to inform policies about the level of affordable housing required, including the need for different sizes of affordable housing;
- Enabling development of a strategic approach to housing through consideration of housing need and demand in all housing sectors – owner occupied, private rented and affordable – and assessment of the key drivers and relationships within the housing market;
- Drawing together the bulk of the evidence required for local authorities to appraise strategic housing options, including social housing allocation priorities, the role of intermediate housing products, stock renewal, conversion, demolition and transfer; and
- To enable the most appropriate and cost-effective use of public funds.

Source: Adapted from CLG SHMA Practice Guidance

1.5 Initial research and work on the LHMA was undertaken by Herefordshire Council. GL Hearn and Justin Gardner Consulting were brought in to complete the assessment, which was published initially in June 2011. This report updates the original assessment to take account of changes of housing market conditions, as at Autumn 2012, to take account of the level and

distribution of housing provision proposed in the Herefordshire Core Strategy Revised Preferred Options. It also considers and takes account of recent policy at both the national and local levels.

1.6

- 1.7 The remainder of the report is structured as follows:
 - Section 2: Policy and Research Context
 - Section 3: Overview of Housing Market Dynamics
 - Section 4: Defining the Local Housing Market
 - Section 5: Approach to Analysing the Housing Market
 - Section 6: Hereford Housing Market
 - Section 7: Leominster Housing Market
 - Section 8: Ross-on-Wye Housing Market
 - Section 9: Ledbury Housing Market
 - Section 10:: Bromyard Housing Market
 - Section 11: Kington Housing Market
 - Section 12: Golden Valley Housing Market
 - Section 13: Conclusions and Recommendations
2 POLICY AND RESEARCH CONTEXT

2.1 This section provides an overview of the current and emerging policy context for housing development and investment at the national and local levels. It has been updated to take account of current and emerging policies as at Autumn 2012.

National Policies for Housing Provision

2.2 This section is structured to address policies for housing provision and investment at the national level together with the housing, welfare and benefit reforms introduced by the Coalition Government.

National Planning Policies

- 2.3 The national policy framework for determining levels of housing provision is currently in a state of flux. Under the previous Government, housing targets were set out in Regional Spatial Strategies which were developed by Regional Planning Bodies in collaboration with local authorities and other stakeholders, subject to independent examination in public, but with the ultimate decisions on levels of housing provision being made by national government (the Secretary of State).
- 2.4 The Coalition Government, elected in May 2010, has pledged to scrap the Regional Spatial Strategies, and the regional housing targets within them, returning powers for determining levels of housing development to local authorities. The Localism Act 2011 provides the primary legislation required to do so. The Secretary of State initially revoked the Regional Spatial Strategies in July 2010 by parliamentary statement. This however was successfully challenged in the High Court by CALA Homes, with the Court ruling that the Secretary of State had acted unlawfully. However while the Regional Spatial Strategies at the time of writing remain in place, it is expected that they will be abolished in due course.
- 2.5 The Government published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in March 2012. This introduces a presumption in favour of sustainable development, whereby local planning authorities should prepare new Local Plans on the basis that objectively assessed development needs (both for housing and other types of development) should be met, unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against policies in the Framework as a whole. The starting point is that Local Plans should meet the full requirements for market and affordable housing in their housing market area. Any under-provision is expected to be addressed through collaborative working with neighbouring authorities, and this is included within the tests of soundness for the plan.

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire_LHMA_Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 17 of 217

- 2.6 The proposed shift of policy means that each local authority should seek to meet its own development needs, unless there are sound reasons why it cannot do so.
- 2.7 In setting affordable housing targets, the NPPF states that to ensure a plan is deliverable, the sites and the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to a scale of obligations and policy burdens such that their ability to be developed is threatened and should support development throughout the economic cycle. The costs of requirements likely to be applied to development, including affordable housing requirements, contributions to infrastructure and other policies in the Plan, should not compromise the viability of development schemes. To address this, affordable housing policies would need to be considered alongside other factors including infrastructure contributions. Where possible the NPPF encourages local authorities to work up Community Infrastructure Levy charges alongside the Local Plan.

National Housing Strategy

- 2.8 In November 2011 the Government published Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy for England (HM Government, Nov 2011). This outlines the Government's ambition to get stimulate housebuilding, not least to support economic recovery. It identifies a number of initiatives to support this, including:
 - New-build Indemnity Scheme providing Government-backed 95% mortgages for newbuild properties;
 - Growing Places Fund providing funding for infrastructure which unblocks housing and economic growth;
 - Initiatives to Kick-Start Stalled Developments including proposals to allow reconsideration of planning obligations; a 'Get Britain Building' Investment Fund to provide development finance; and 'build now, pay later' deals with public sector land; and
 - Custom Homes Programme with short-term project finance support for individuals looking to build their own homes.
- 2.9 The Strategy includes initiatives to support growth and investment in the Private Rented Sector, including new 'build-to-let' models and a review of barriers to investment. It also indicates that the Government is looking at supporting greater innovation and competition between social landlords, including encourage new private entrants to the sector, and potential new approaches to funding in the medium-term.
- 2.10 The Strategy also included proposals for reinvigorating the Right-to-Buy by raising the discounts available to tenants, but with a commitment to build a new 'replacement' affordable home for every home lost.

2.11 The National Housing Strategy also identified a funding steam to support local authorities in bringing empty homes back into use.

2011 Localism Act – Housing Reforms

2.12 The Localism Act has introduced a number of reforms affecting the management of social housing. We summarise these below.

Allocations Policies

2.13 The Localism Act gives Councils greater flexibilities in deciding who qualifies to go onto housing waiting lists (through their allocations policies) and how they treat tenants who want rather than need to move. Local authorities can thus revise their allocations policies, should they wish to do so, to prevent people with no 'need' for affordable housing from joining housing registers.

Tenancies

January 2013

- 2.14 The Localism Act introduces changes to social housing tenancies, giving both local councils and Registered Providers (RP's) the flexibility to grant fixed term tenancies (as well as lifetime tenancies) should they decide to do so. New fixed term tenancies would continue to be at social rent levels and tenants would have the same rights as those with existing lifetime tenancies in terms of a right to repair or to buy/acquire. A minimum fixed-term tenancy in most cases would be for five years (with two year tenancies granted only in exceptional circumstances). Shorter tenancies are considered to be one way of making better use of the existing social housing stock in meeting housing need.
- 2.15 The Government has also changed the rules on succession to make them consistent for all Council and Registered Provider (RP) tenants. The spouse or partner of a tenant who dies will have an automatic legal right to succeed, but will not have an automatic right to then pass on the property. This will not however affect joint tenancies or existing secure tenants.

Reform of Homelessness Legislation

- 2.16 Councils will be able to bring the statutory homelessness duty to an end with an offer of suitable private rented housing. People's right to refuse private rented accommodation will be withdrawn. This could potentially assist in the use of private sector housing stock in meeting affordable housing needs.
- 2.17 The Government has also recently introduced a new nationwide home swap scheme to support mobility in the social sector. In terms of social housing finance, the Localism Act also introduces 'self-financing' which allows Councils to keep money from rents to spend on

upkeep, investment and management of their housing stock. It has also made changes to the regulation of the Social Housing Sector.

Government's Housing and Growth Package (September, 2012)

- 2.18 In September 2012 the Government announced a number of measures to support improved housing delivery and kick start the economy. It is hoped these new measures will result in delivery of up to 70,000 new homes, including affordable housing and opportunities for first-time buyers to get onto the housing ladder.
- 2.19 The key elements of the Housing and Growth Package are:

Initiatives to Stimulate Demand

- **Extension of 'First Buy:'** to support a further 16,500 first-time buyers will be helped with a £280m extension of the successful 'FirstBuy' scheme to March 2014, which offers equity loan funding of up to 20% of the purchase price of a new with the funding of this split equally between the HCA and the housebuilder;
- Investment in Infrastructure & the Private Rented Sector: New legislation for Government guarantees of up to £40 billion worth of major infrastructure projects and up to £10 billion of new homes. The Infrastructure (Financial Assistance) Bill will include guaranteeing the debt of Housing Associations and private sector developers. £200m will be invested in housing sites. This will ensure rented homes will be available to institutional investors.
- Boost to Private Rented Sector. An additional 5,000 homes built for rent at market rates in line with proposals outlined in Sir Adrian Montague's report to Government on aiding the private rented sector.

Initiatives to Support Improved Housing Supply

- **Development Finance and Funding for Affordable Housing**: Up to 15,000 affordable homes will be built and 5,000 empty homes will be brought back into use using new capital funding of £300m and the infrastructure guarantee.
- Initiatives to Speed-Up the Planning Process: For a time limited period, measures will be taken to reduce planning red tape, including increasing the scope of permitted development.
- **Changes to the Planning Appeal Process**: Government is to introduce legislation, effective from the beginning of 2013, to allow any developer with sites made unviable due to the amount of affordable housing to appeal with immediate effect.
- **S106 Renegotiations:** Government is consulting on legislation that will allow developers to renegotiate non-viable S106 agreements entered before April 2010.
- Office to Residential Conversions: Introduction of permitted development rights which will enable a change of use from commercial to residential without the need for planning permission, unless specific local policies seek to restrict this.
- Public Sector Land Disposal: The Government is accelerating the release of public sector land by strengthening the Homes and Communities Agency's Accelerated

Disposal Programme and through a program of transfers from Government Departments and other Agencies to this.

Welfare and Benefit Reforms

- 2.20 As part of the emergency budget in 2010 the Government announced a number of changes to the payment of Housing Benefit and Local Housing Allowance that will impact on tenants in both private and public sector properties.
- 2.21 In March 2012 the Welfare Reform Act received Royal Assent. Universal Credit is a major feature of the Welfare Reform Act which brings together a range of working-age benefits into a single streamlined payment. Other important measures are:
 - Household Benefit Cap;
 - Linking Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates to CPI from 2013; and
 - Size Criteria for Calculating Housing Benefit in the Social Rented Sector.

Household Benefit Cap

- 2.22 The Welfare Reform Act limits total household welfare payments (excluding Working Tax Credit and Disability Living Allowance) to £26,000 (£500 per week) for couple and lone parent households and £18,600 (£350 per week) for single person households. It is structured to increase incentives for households to work.
- 2.23 The Government estimates that 67,000 households nationally will be affected, with the greatest impact being in London and the South East. To address the benefit cuts, households might seek to increase their income through working more hours, or by reducing their rent or non-rent expenditure. Larger households or those in high rent areas will be particularly affected and we may result in some movement of households on benefits to cheaper areas.

Local Housing Allowance

January 2013

- 2.24 Low income households living in the Private Rented Sector are able to claim Local Housing Allowance to assist in meeting their housing costs. Local Housing Allowance is determined in relation to rents in the Broad Rental Market Area (BRMA) in which a property lies.
- 2.25 In April 2011 the Government changed how LHA is calculated, shifting this from median rents in the BMRA to the 30th percentile. It has also introduced caps on LHA payments: £250 a week for a 1-bed property or shared accommodation, £290 a week for a 2-bed property, £340 a week for a 3-bed property and £400 a week for properties with 4 or more bedrooms.

- 2.26 The Welfare Reform Act also indicates that increases in LHA rates from 2013 will be restricted to growth in inflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index (CPI). Rates will also be set annually rather than monthly. This can be expected to exert a downward pressure on rents, particularly in areas where LHA claimants form a significant proportion of the Private Rented Sector market, and may encourage some LHA claimants to move to cheaper areas.
- 2.27 Moving forward LHA will however be paid directly to private landlords, which may provide some incentive for landlords to keep accepting tenants on LHA.

Housing Benefit Size Criteria in the Social Rented Sector

- 2.28 The Welfare Reform Act introduces restrictions on how much Housing Benefit working-age households in social rented properties can claim from April 2013, based on the size of the household. Currently Housing Benefit has been based on the size of the property rather than the household. The policy change is focused on reducing the benefit bill, increasing mobility in the social rented sector and making better use of the existing social housing stock.
- 2.29 The applicable maximum Housing Benefit which households can claim will be reduced by national proportions based on the number of rooms households have which they don't require.
- 2.30 In November 2012 Herefordshire Council published a short research paper looking at the impact of benefit uprating. This research noted that there are 15,300 households in the County in receipt of child and working tax credits (about a quarter of working-age households) with 13,100 individuals claiming at least one working-age benefit (12% of the working age population). Both of these groups will see lower rates of increases in their benefits than if these were linked to inflation.
- 2.31 The research also noted that household incomes in the County are relatively low, although the rates of people claiming benefits and tax credits are also low. This suggested that the take-up of benefits (where eligible) is lower than seen in other areas.
- 2.32 Finally, the research notes that whilst a higher proportion of claimants live in urban areas, more than a quarter live in rural areas. Given potential additional expenses related to heating costs and transport which have increase at a higher rate than other household costs there is a danger that these households will see increasingly stretched household budgets.

Formatte spelling or

January 2013

Regional Guidance on Sub-Regional Housing Strategies

- 2.33 The previous Government had consistently supported the idea of local authorities working together to produce Sub-Regional Housing Strategies, albeit that this was not a statutory requirement. Sub-Regional Housing Strategies were intended to support implementation of the Regional Housing Strategy.
- 2.34 The Regional Housing Executive (RHE), which was responsible for the implementation of the Regional Housing Strategy and part of the Regional Assembly, has however since been abolished and replaced by the Marches Local Enterprise Partnership. Thus there is no longer a specific requirement to prepare a Sub-Regional Housing Strategy.
- 2.35 Nonetheless, Herefordshire Council and Shropshire Council have collaborated to prepare a Housing Strategy to guide delivery of the two authorities' strategic housing function.
- 2.36 The purpose of the Sub-Regional Housing Strategy is to reconcile key national and regional housing and planning policy requirements with the locally prioritised demographic and economic needs. It is intended to take forward the Sub-Regional Housing Market Assessment, disaggregating housing requirements to local markets and moving from data and analysis to consider policy responses.
- 2.37 A Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) plays an important role in this. The Regional Guidance sets out that this will describe the key features of local housing market areas, quantify demand and supply (disaggregated by tenure), and express the difference between these. It should consider and take into account future economic requirements and regeneration projects and apply a 'sustainability filter' (taking account of land supply, environmental constraints, infrastructure etc) in considering future housing requirements.



Figure 1.2: Stages in Developing a Sub-Regional Housing Strategy

2.38 The core requirements for the Sub-Regional Housing Strategy, according to the Guidance, are to identify (as simply as possible):

- Where all housing needs and requirements arise;
- What constitutes the profile of that need, against available supply;
- How, where and why that need is expected to be met;
- In conjunction with the economic future requirements and the planning process:

- Where scarce financial resources are to be deployed as a priority for future 0 housing investment and intervention, and may go on to:
- Include public and private sector refurbishment programmes, regeneration 0 opportunities and energy efficiency initiatives.
- 2.39 This LHMA focuses on addressing the first three bullet points above. Key stages are set out below.

Figure 1.3: Elements of Developing a Sub-Regional Housing Strategy



Herefordshire & Shropshire Housing Strategy 2012-15

- 2.40 Herefordshire and Shropshire Councils have collaborated to produce a Housing Strategy for the sub-regional housing market. The Strategy sets out the key challenges for the area and how these will be addressed; and to support bidding for external funding.
- 2.41 The Strategy is structured around three key priorities and a set of associated outcomes which are summarised in the table below.

Figure 1.4: Herefordshire & Shropshire Housing Strategy Priorities & Outcomes

 1. A range of housing, including affordable housing, is provided in partnership to meet the current and future needs of all our communities; 2. All existing stock is of a high quality and used effectively 4. Health impacts as a result of poor housing conditions are significantly Reduced; 4. Health impacts as a result of poor housing conditions are significantly Reduced; 5. Health impacts as a result of poor housing stock to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; 6. Health impacts as a result of poor housing stock to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; 6. Health impacts as a result of poor housing stock to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; 6. Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; 6. Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and 6. Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 	Priority				
 including affordable housing, is provided in partnership to meet the current and future needs of all our communities; all our communities; all existing stock is of a high quality and used effectively Health impacts as a result of poor housing conditions are significantly Reduced; There are better incentives for home owners and landlords to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 	Priority	Outcomes			
 All those operating in partnership across the local authority areas to have a thorough understanding of current and future housing need and requirements for all types of housing within the sub-region; New housing is developed to the latest standards of sustainability and design, where possible; and Opportunities are maximised to create employment and training opportunities for local people through new housing development. Health impacts as a result of poor housing conditions are significantly Reduced; There are better incentives for home owners and landlords to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 	1. A range of housing,				
 the current and future needs of all our communities; requirements for all types of housing within the sub-region; New housing is developed to the latest standards of sustainability and design, where possible; and Opportunities are maximised to create employment and training opportunities for local people through new housing development. All existing stock is of a high quality and used effectively Health impacts as a result of poor housing conditions are significantly Reduced; There are better incentives for home owners and landlords to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 	including affordable housing, is	• All those operating in partnership across the local authority areas to have a thorough understanding of current and future housing need and requirements for all types of housing within the sub-region;			
 New housing is developed to the latest standards of sustainability and design, where possible; and Opportunities are maximised to create employment and training opportunities for local people through new housing development. All existing stock is of a high quality and used effectively Health impacts as a result of poor housing conditions are significantly Reduced; There are better incentives for home owners and landlords to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 	provided in partnership to meet				
 Opportunities are maximised to create employment and training opportunities for local people through new housing development. All existing stock is of a high quality and used effectively Health impacts as a result of poor housing conditions are significantly Reduced; There are better incentives for home owners and landlords to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 	the current and future needs of				
 2. All existing stock is of a high quality and used effectively Health impacts as a result of poor housing conditions are significantly Reduced; There are better incentives for home owners and landlords to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 	all our communities;	design, where possible; and			
quality and used effectively Reduced; • There are better incentives for home owners and landlords to maintain and improve the quality of their housing; • Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; • Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and • Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties					
 and improve the quality of their housing; Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 		Reduced;			
 Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing are minimised; Opportunities are available for households to move to larger homes or downsize as their needs change; and Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties 					
downsize as their needs change; andBest use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties		Fuel poverty is reduced and carbon emissions associated with housing			
accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties					
		 Best use is made of the existing housing stock to provide suitable 			
back into use.		accommodation options including bringing long term empty properties back into use.			
3. Residents are able to • There is a reduction in the number of homeless people and suitable	3. Residents are able to				
influence decisions throughoptions for homeless people are increased;There is better support for households to make informed choices about	influence decisions through				
having access to suitable and their housing options across all tenures;	having access to suitable and	their housing options across all tenures;			
	timely advice on housing	• A more comprehensive service is provided to those requiring more appropriate accommodation. This will minimise the number of homes			
options and support available. requiring adaptation and promote sustainable independent living;	options and support available.	requiring adaptation and promote sustainable independent living;			
There is improved support for vulnerable people and better partnership					
working with others to respond to identified needs;					
 Services are delivered on a locality basis which fully reflect local needs; Opportunities are taken to minimise dependence on benefits; and 					
There is a reduced reliance on public funding for service viability.					

2.42 It is intended that through the focus on these priorities, the two authorities will be in a strong position to effectively contribute to building sustainable, healthy and empowered communities.

2.43 The Strategy focuses on:

- Highlighting the issues affecting the Herefordshire and Shropshire areas and responding to the full range of housing related challenges;
- Working together to assess and respond to the changing housing markets and housing needs;
- Working to support economic growth, focusing particularly on affordable housing and sustainable growth;

- Improving the services we offer, through involving and empowering local residents to play a more active role in shaping and influencing how housing services work;
- Responding to reductions in overall Government expenditure on public services and identifying how services can be delivered in a more cost effective manner; and
- Developing and further strengthening shared approaches with key partners such as Registered Providers; the Voluntary and Community Sector and health colleagues to the issues the two counties face.

Current Local Policy Framework

Herefordshire Sustainable Community Strategy

- 2.44 The County's Sustainable Community Strategy was developed by the Herefordshire Partnership and provides an overarching set of strategic priorities for the Council. Its vision that "we hope that in 2020 Herefordshire will be a place where people, organisations and businesses work together towards long-term, sustainable success for all" is intended to be delivered through action in six key areas: children and young people; work, wealth and business; environment; healthier communities and older people; safer communities; and stronger communities.
- 2.45 Key objectives under the stronger communities' banner include: having more affordable homes to rent and fewer homeless people; and making sure vulnerable people have a choice of housing and support to live independently. The strategy recognises that housing is expensive and more than a third of homes are in poor condition, and that there is a need to build more affordable homes, especially in Hereford City.

Herefordshire Local Investment Plan 2011-26

- 2.46 The Herefordshire Local Investment Plan (LIP) has been developed by Herefordshire Council (HC) in partnership with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). The LIP identifies key priorities for Herefordshire as growth in Hereford City and its surrounds; rural and market town housing; supporting independent living for vulnerable households; and increasing energy efficiency and decent homes. Under these headings, it is focused on achieving the following key outcomes:
 - Outcome 1: Growth of Hereford City
 - o Infrastructure necessary to facilitate growth in housing and employment
 - Focus on new homes
 - City centre regeneration including housing, education and retail.

- o Regeneration of The Oval, Newton Farm
- Outcome 2: Rural Areas and Market Towns
 - 4,500 homes to be built in rural service centres to meet housing need and support the economy
 - Improved infrastructure
- Outcome 3: Supporting Independent Living/Vulnerable Persons
 - o Through major and minor home improvements and disabled facilities grants
 - Further extra care provision for older persons
 - Delivery of housing solutions for mental health/learning disabilities
 - Provision of pitches for Gypsy and Travellers
 - Supporting Homeless families, prolific offenders and socially excluded families through private rented accommodation
- Outcome 4: Increasing Energy Efficiency and Decent Homes
 - To address Category 1 hazards and non decency criteria
 - Bring empty properties back into use, including those in remote areas where a need has been identified
 - To utilise vacant spaces above shops
 - Policies have been developed through the LDF to improve energy efficiency
 - Key County-wide policies are being developed to include renewable energy and sustainable design

Unitary Development Plan

- 2.47 The Council's current planning policy framework includes 'saved' policies within the Unitary Development Plan (UDP), which was adopted in 2007. Policy H2 makes provision for delivery of 700 dwellings per annum between 2007-11, with priority given to previously-developed land ahead of urban extensions. Its spatial strategy focuses on Hereford, followed by the market towns and then the main villages as the focus for housing provision. Policy H3 sets an indicative target of 35% affordable housing (with specific targets set for allocated sites) which is applicable to sites of 15 or more dwellings/ 0.5ha in settlements of over 3,000 population; and sites of 6 or more dwellings/0.2ha in smaller settlements. Separate policies address rural exception sites and sites for gypsies and travellers.
- 2.48 Policies in the UDP will be superseded in due course by the Local Development Framework Core Strategy (see below).

Local Development Framework

- 2.49 Herefordshire Council is in the process of developing its Local Development Framework (LDF) Core Strategy. The Council published Preferred Options Papers for consultation in September 2010. Further consultation was then undertaken in October and November 2011 on 'Revised Preferred Options.'
- 2.50 The Revised Preferred Options propose policies regarding both the level and distribution of housing across the County. The emerging Core Strategy seeks to deliver 16,500 homes over the 2011-31 plan period (equivalent to 825 per annum). Around 40% of all new homes are to be focused in Hereford, with the majority of the remaining development to take place in the market towns.

	2010 Core Strategy	2011 Core Strategy	Annual Requirement
2011-31 Plan Period	Housing Provision	Housing Provision	(2011 Core Strategy)
Hereford	8500	6500	325
Leominster	2500	2300	115
Ross-on-Wye	1000	900	45
Ledbury	800	800	40
Bromyard	500	500	25
Kington	200	200	10
Rural Areas	4500	5300	265
Herefordshire	18000	16500	825

Figure 1.5: Core Strategy Revised Preferred Options Housing Levels & Distribution

Hereford

- 2.51 Delivery of 6,500 dwellings is proposed in Hereford including through delivery of:
 - 800 homes within the Urban Village in the City Centre (part of Edgar Street Grid);
 - 500 homes at Holmer West as a northern expansion to the City;
 - 1000 homes at Lower Bullingham to the south/south-east of the City;
 - 1000 homes as part of a mixed use urban extension at Three Elms;
- 2.52 These are to be supported by delivery of a Western Relief Road to the City, to include a new river crossing; relieving central area congestion, and delivery of a network of park and ride locations.
- 2.53 Economic growth is to be focused at the Rotherwas Business Park which benefits from Enterprise Zone Status, and as part of development at Three Elms. The Core Strategy is also keen to deliver higher education provision within the City, focused around the Blackfriars

Street area and the existing College of Technology campus on Folly Lane. If achieved, this could over time influence the housing market.

Market Towns

Bromyard

2.54 The emerging Core Strategy plans provision of 500 homes in Bromyard (between 2011-31 including 250 as an urban extension at Hardwick to the north-west of the town (at an average density of 30 dwellings per hectare (dph)). An allocation of 5ha of employment land is made at Linton.

Ledbury

- 2.55 The emerging Core Strategy plans provision of 800 homes in Ledbury, of which 700 are to be delivered as an urban extension on the north side of town (to the north of the Viaduct), with 100 to be delivered on small sites in the built-up area and existing allocations. A 40% affordable housing target is proposed.
- 2.56 A large employment allocation of 12 ha is proposed between Little Marcle Road and Ross Road to the west of the Bypass aiming to reduce out-commuting.
- 2.57 It is envisaged that the urban extension will be delivered in the next 6-10 years at a higher average density of 50 dph, reflecting its location close to the town centre and station.

Ross-on-Wye

- 2.58 The emerging Core Strategy plans provision of 1000 homes in Ross-on-Wye of which 350 are to be delivered in an urban extension of 350 dwellings at Hildersley to the south-east of the town. Delivery is envisaged at an average density of 25-30 dph. The residual requirement of 100 dwellings is expected to be delivered on small sites in the built-up area.
- 2.59 Employment provision includes the extant consent for development of 10 ha of employment land at Model Farm which is expected to come forward in the first half of the plan period.

Leominster

2.60 The emerging Core Strategy plans provision of 2,300 homes at Leominster of which a substantial proportion are to be delivered through an urban extension to the south west of the town which will support delivery of a southern relief road. In addition there is an outstanding

allocation at Barons Cross Camp. A 25% affordable housing target is proposed, reflecting development viability.

2.61 The Revised Core Strategy Preferred Options have reduced the level of development at Leominster over the plan period to 2,300 from 2,500 dwellings (in addition to altering the plan period). They also provide additional employment land provision.

Kington

2.62 Kington is the smallest market town and the plan proposes only modest development with no strategic housing allocations. There is however an allocated residential site at Old Eardisley Road which has not as yet been completed.

Rural Areas

2.63 The emerging plan allocates 5,300 homes to the rural areas between 2011-31, proposing a focus on provision on rural service centres (to accommodate potentially 100 new dwellings) and hubs which have some services (to accommodate up to 30 new dwellings). This is an increase on the level in the initial Preferred Option.

Herefordshire Tenancy Strategy

- 2.64 The Herefordshire Tenancy Strategy (HTS) has been developed within the context of the Herefordshire Council's overarching strategic objectives for housing, as set out in the Herefordshire and Shropshire Housing Strategy 2012 2015, and in consultation with local affordable housing providers.
- 2.65 The implementation of the HTS is key in achieving a number of key priorities and outcomes detailed within the Housing Strategy 2012-2015, including:
 - A range of housing, including affordable housing, is provided in partnership to meet the current and future needs of all communities.
 - All existing stock is of a high quality and used effectively.
 - Residents are able to influence decisions through having access to suitable and timely advice on housing options and support available.
- 2.66 Registered Providers should, when developing their own tenancy and allocation policies, have regard to:
 - Herefordshire Council's Allocations Policy;
 - Herefordshire Council's Homelessness Strategy 2008-2013;
 - Herefordshire Council's Local Investment Delivery Plan 2011-2026;

- Herefordshire Local Housing Market Area Assessment 2011;
- A Study of the Housing and Support needs of Older People in Herefordshire January 2012; and
- Sustainable Communities Strategy.

West Strategic Housing Market Assessment

- 2.67 Sub-regional housing markets have been defined across the West Midlands, with Herefordshire together with Shropshire falling within the 'West' Housing Market. The West Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was prepared by consultants Outside Research and published in 2007. Its' key findings are summarised below.
- 2.68 Population growth is a key demand driver, with evidence that Herefordshire's population has grown strongly driven by net in-migration. There is a dispersed pattern of migration to Herefordshire, including from Wales, Gloucestershire, Birmingham, Bristol, Worcester and the Home Counties. There has also been a substantial recent inflow of Eastern European migrants (typically living in the private rented sector, HMOs and caravans).
- 2.69 The County already has an above average proportion of older people, and the ageing of the population over time will also affect housing demand. Two thirds of projected household growth of 18,000 over the 2011-31 plan period is expected to be of one person households with the remaining third forming family and other multi-person households.
- 2.70 There is a high level of detached housing within the County and an undersupply of other, typically smaller, house types. The social sector has declined in size since 1991, although the private rented sector has grown. House prices grew rapidly from 2002-8 (with the greatest increases for flats/maisonettes) and are above average for the region, whilst wages are below average and there is evidence of under- and un-employment. These factors have come together to create significant affordability pressures particularly within rural areas where low affordable housing supply, a high proportion of detached housing and in-migration have come together.
- 2.71 Net annual affordable housing need for 1,113 dwellings per annum across the County is identified (based on secondary sources) which is higher than the total planned supply. However evidence from Cambridge University (CCHPR) referenced in the Assessment identifies a need for 955 dwellings per annum with 65% provision of market housing, 23% social rented and 12% intermediate.

Research into Older Persons Housing & Support Needs

- 2.72 Research into older persons housing and support needs was undertaken in 2011 and published in January 2012. The Study was undertaken by Peter Fletcher Associates for the Council. The research was intended to support the following aims:
 - For housing to deliver a practical set of public and private sector solutions for the growing needs of older people across the County;
 - For adult social care and health to develop appropriate care, support and health strategies for older people;
 - For providers to consider their own housing and support strategies and services for older people; and
 - For links to be made across services and sectors that result in services and outcomes that older people want.
- 2.73 The key findings of the research were that:
 - Most older people like where they live and want access to services to stay there. Adaptations to homes are enabling people to 'stay put' and it will be a continuing need for adaptations;
 - Information and advice about what support and housing is available in the County needs to be provided through a range of mediums to older people across all tenures;
 - Support with domestic tasks figures prominently in the research findings, and there is a need for practical services to help maintain independence. Most older people say they are willing to pay for these services;
 - When asked where they would prefer to move to, most people, generally, wanted to stay in their local area:
 - There is a need for a range of housing options that include outright purchase and shared ownership, to meet the needs of older persons;

General Needs Housing

- 2.74 The research identifies a need to develop a greater choice of general needs housing to meet the changing needs of older people, and a growing need for housing for older people linked to demographic trends. The Study recommends:
 - The development of 'all age' accessible two bedroom general needs housing, both rent and shared ownership, to address the ageing population in the housing market;
 - Intervention to improving the overall standard and accessibility of housing, and promoting Lifetime Homes standards to developers;
 - A specific need for growth in the number of wheelchair/ adapted properties;

- Development of new high quality two and three bedroom accessible housing to promote downsizing and reduce under occupation; and
- Policies to ensure that all new dwellings that requires access to properties above ground floor have lift access or are designed so that assisted access can be provided

Specialist Housing for Older Persons

- 2.75 The Study identifies that there is a good supply of care home accommodation and nursing places for older people. However there is:
 - A major under supply of specialist retirement housing for sale;
 - An oversupply of lower quality, sheltered housing for rent, that over time needs to be replace with better quality accommodation;
 - An under supply of housing based provision for people with dementia or a learning disability;
 - A shortfall in the planned provision of enhanced sheltered and extra care housing across all tenures to meet projected need; and
 - A significant change in the way new developments will need to be funded, which will have a major influence on developing future provision.
- 2.76 Looking forward, the Study projects a need for a greater diversity of market housing, in particular for more 2-bed properties to purchase that are attractive to under-occupying older persons, and for bungalow provision. It also identifies a need for mixed-tenure extra care housing schemes and more specialist housing for people with dementia and learning disabilities and encourages the provision of extra care and specialist housing within larger development schemes.
- 2.77 The Study also identifies the need to make better use of existing provision, and particularly sheltered accommodation, to support people with higher levels of frailty, but with a need to address the quality of sheltered housing for rent to meet the growing aspirations of older people. It identifies a need to develop the level of sheltered housing for sale and shared ownership.

Understanding Herefordshire 2012: An Integrated Needs Assessment

- 2.78 The Understanding Herefordshire Report brings together the State of Herefordshire Report with the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for the County to provide a single integrated assessment. It includes information regarding demographics, health and the growing older population.
- 2.79 The report highlights a need for service providers to be proactive in responding to changing demographics, including in developing services and support networks to promote self-help

and enable people to live independently. It recommends a community-based approach to addressing social and housing needs, including to provide comprehensive and integrated services and support for people living with dementia. It identifies a need for further in depth analysis to understand the care needs of people with learning disabilities.

2 OVERVIEW OF HOUSING MARKET DYNAMICS

The Geography of Herefordshire

- 3.1 Hereford is a predominantly rural county covering 842 square miles situated in the south-west corner of the West Midlands region bordering Wales. Population density is low. The City of Hereford is the centre of the County for employment, administration, health, education and shopping facilities. The other principal locations are the five market towns (in descending order of size) of Leominster, Ross-on-Wye, Ledbury, Bromyard and Kington.
- 3.2 Herefordshire has beautiful unspoilt countryside, distinctive heritage, remote valleys and rivers.
- 3.3 Herefordshire has limited access to the motorway network via the M50, which starts near Ross-on Wye and joins the M5 north of Tewkesbury in Gloucestershire, and the M5 at Worcester. The other main road links, which all pass through Hereford City, are the A49 (running from north to south), the A438 (running from east to west) and the A4103 to Worcester.
- 3.4 Within Herefordshire, Hereford City, Ledbury and Leominster have railway stations, although many of the lines through the county are single tracks.

Population and Socio-Economic Profile

3.5 Herefordshire had an estimated population in mid 2011 of 183,600. The county's population grew more strongly than was the case across the West Midlands region or nationally between 1991-2001, but over the 2001-11 decade has grown more slowly increasing by 5.0% compared to 9.0% in the previous decade.

	Herefordshire	West Midlands	England & Wales
1991	160400	5229700	50748000
2001	174900	5280700	52360000
2011	183600	5608700	56170900
% Change 1991-01	9.0%	1.0%	3.2%
% Change 2001-11	5.0%	6.2%	7.3%

Figure 3.1: Population Growth, 1991-2011

Source: ONS Mid Year Population Estimates

January 2013

- 3.6 The population is not particularly diverse, with 93.7% of the population of White British origin compared to 79.2% across the West Midlands in 2011².
- 3.7 The population structure has an above average proportion in all age groups over 45 and a particularly low proportion aged 20-39 relative to the regional and national profiles.



Source: ONS Mid-Year Population Estimates

3.8 Over the last 20 years, the proportion of the population aged over 50 in particular has been increasing. Within this the strongest growth has been in the population aged 50-64. However over the 2001-11 period, there was an increase in the population aged 15-34 as well, with growth particularly in those aged 15-24.

² Census 2011

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 37 of 217



Source: ONS Mid Year Population Estimates

3.9 Of those in work within the County, there are a particularly high proportion of people who are employed in skilled trade occupations. The numbers of those employed in as process, plant and machine operatives, and in care/ leisure occupations is also above. In contrast, the numbers employed in professional occupations is notably below regional and national averages.



Source: Annual Population Survey, July 2011-June 2012

- 3.10 The ACORN Mosaic classification published by Experian indicates a very high proportion of the population falling into the following categories:
 - Rural Solitude
 - Small Town Diversity
 - Professional Rewards
 - Active Retirement

January 2013

3.11 Of the 116 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in Herefordshire, eight fall within the 25% most deprived nationally based on the 2010 Index of Deprivation. Five of these fall within South Hereford, two in Leominster and one in Ross-on-Wye. Golden Post- Newton Farm was the most deprived area within the County and the only LSOA to fall in the 10% most deprived nationally in the 2010 Index of Deprivation.

Economic Performance and Commuting

3.12 Herefordshire has a relatively low value economy, with GVA per head in 2009 which was 25% below the UK average and 8% below the West Midlands average. With a high 85% self-containment of travel to work patterns in 2001, this is borne out in the wages of residents.

Gross weekly pay in 2011 at £385 for full-time workers was 18% below average for the region (£471) and 24% below the national average $(£504)^3$. Between 2008-2011 gross weekly wages in the County have fallen -1% whilst they have grown by 5% at both the regional and national levels. Low wage levels are borne out in housing affordability issues. The Council's Local Economic Assessment suggests that rather than narrowing, the gap is widening with the earnings data confirming this.

- 3.13 The low value economy is partly a function of the County's economic structure. There are a high proportion of jobs in manufacturing (accounting for 16.0% of employee jobs compared to 11.9% across the West Midlands and 8.6% across England in 2010), but these are primarily in low and medium technology activities including food and beverage production, rather than higher value-added activities. The wholesale, retail and vehicle repair sector is also strongly represented (accounting for 19.8% of employee jobs compared to 17.7% across the West Midlands) as is the agricultural sector. Employee jobs in health and social work, at 15.0% is also high, relative to 12.8% across the West Midlands.
- 3.14 There is a low level of employment in finance and insurance (1.5%) and professional, scientific and technical activities (3.6%) which has been a key growth sector nationally in recent decades.
- 3.15 A key feature of the economic structure is a low representation of higher-value private sector businesses: this is a structural economic weakness which partly reflects the County's relative 'peripherality' in a national or regional context, together with the size of its population and key centre and the strength (or weakness) of the road and rail links. However this needs to be considered against supply-side regeneration measures, including proposals in the Core Strategy for employment land releases together with regeneration projects such as Edgar Street Grid which is anticipated to generate up to 900 jobs.
- 3.16 Evidence of the skills profile tends to suggest that the qualifications levels are reasonable: with 32% of the working-age population being qualified to NVQ Level 4 or above (equivalent to degree level) which is consistent with the West Midlands average, 24.8%, although below average nationally (38%)⁴. The level with NVQ3 and above is also similar to the regional average. This suggests that skills are not constraining the local economy (not withstanding skills shortages in particular sectors or occupations).
- 3.17 Total employment increased in Herefordshire in the period 2001 2008 faster than growth in the resident working age population, resulting in an increase in the jobs density from 0.81 to

³ *Source:* ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings

⁴ ONS Annual Population Survey, Jan-Dec 2011

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 40 of 212

0.87. In 2008 the jobs density exceeded the regional average of 0.77 and, taking into account economic activity, the suggestion is that total employment actually exceeded the number of people in work. However the impact of the recession has led to a decrease in the jobs density from 0.87 in 2008 to 0.84 in 2010.

- 3.18 Evidence of commuting patterns from 2001 suggests that there was a moderate net outflow of people to work of 4,000, although the level of self-containment of travel to work patterns was relatively high. More up-to-date data on commuting dynamics will be provided in due course from the 2011 Census.
- 3.19 Levels of economic participation are strong. Economic activity in Herefordshire stood at 80.1% (as a proportion of the population aged 16-64) in 2010/11⁵ which, although it has fallen, was above both the regional and national averages (74.3% and 76.5% respectively). Similarly the employment rate at 73.2% in 2011-12 was above average (although this had fallen from a peak of 77.8% in 2008/9).
- 3.20 There is a high level of self-employment in the County which at 24.1% according to the Annual Population Survey in 2011-12 is substantially above the 13.2% across the West Midlands and 14.5% across England & Wales. This particularly reflects self-employment in the agricultural sector.
- 3.21 There are a notable number of seasonal workers in the agricultural sector. Herefordshire Council undertook a survey of farms in 2010 to estimate employment of overseas seasonal workers. This survey of 23 farms identified seasonal employment of c. 4,600 of which 50% were aged 25-34 and 27% 18-24. Seasonal employees were mainly from Bulgaria, Poland and Romania. However 20 of the 23 farms surveyed reported that they provided accommodation for all of the workers. Nonetheless, consultation with estate and letting agents has indicated that there is some impact from agricultural employment on demand within the Private Rented Sector in Herefordshire.
- 3.22 A total of 12.0% of the resident working-age population are in receipt of key out-of-work benefits in February 2012 (including job seekers allowance, incapacity benefit and employment and support allowance). This is below levels across the West Midlands and nationally (16.8% and 15.0% respectively). 2.5% of the resident working-age population was in receipt of Job Seekers Allowance in September 2012: again below GB and West Midlands averages (4.7% and 3.8% respectively). The level of Jobseekers Allowance claimants has remained relatively consistent since early 2012. Of the total of 2,705 claimants in September 2012, 40% had been claiming for over 6 months. Total unemployment is modelled at 5.9%.

⁵ ONS Annual Population Survey, Jul 2011-Jun 2012

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 41 of 217

3.23 Levels of part time working are above average, at 28% compared to 26% nationally. Part-time employment has grown over the last few years. In the short-term it is expected that there is some latent capacity in the local labour market, either through unemployment or underemployment. This will allow some employment growth without growth in the size of the labour force.

Current Housing Offer

- 3.24 A higher proportion of housing in Herefordshire is owner occupied, however this has been falling. 70.8% of households were owner occupiers in 2001 in Herefordshire compared to 69.6% across the West Midlands and 68.7% across England. In 2011 this had fallen to 68.7% across Herefordshire, 65.6% across the West Midlands and 64.2% across England. The social rented sector accommodated a lower proportion of households in 2001 at 15.2% compared to 20.6% across the West Midlands and 19.3% across England. In 2011 this had fallen to 13.9% compared to 19.0% across the West Midlands.
- 3.25 Private renting in Herefordshire at 10.4% was marginally above the national average in 2001 (10.0%), and more notably above the regional average (7.3%). This has been a key growth sector over the last decade and accommodated 15.2% of households across the County in 2011, compared to 14.0% across the region and 16.8% across England.
- 3.26 Figure 3.5 profiles changes in the number of households living in different tenures of housing between 2001-11. Whilst the private rented sector has been a key growth sector in the housing market over this period, the scale of growth has been more moderate than across the West Midlands or nationally. There has been a modest (-3.3%) decline in households living in the social rented sector over this period; but a growth of 20% in shared ownership in the County. The number of owner occupying households has been fairly static.



Source: 2001 Census, 2011 Census

3.27 A particular feature of the County is a very high proportion of detached housing. In 2001 this represented 43.0% of the housing stock across the County compared to 23.9% across the West Midlands and 22.6% across England. By 2011 this proportion had declined slightly to 42.4%; whilst the proportion of flats/maisonettes had increased from 7.5% to 8.4% of the housing stock. Whilst in proportional terms the level of flats/maisonettes increased, in absolute terms growth in households in flatted accommodation (1,516 households) was less than the growth in those living in semi-detached (+1,544) or detached (+1,887) accommodation over the 2001-11 period.



Source: 2011 Census

3.28 The County has a higher proportion of properties in Council Tax Bands E-G than the regional or national profile. These bands accommodate 25.9% of properties in Herefordshire in 2011 compared to 18.5% nationally. There are a low proportion of cheaper properties in Band A in particular.



Source: ONS 2011

January 2013

3.29 Evidence from the 2005 Stock Condition Survey undertaken by PPS indicates an above

average representation in the housing stock of pre-1919 dwellings, and those constructed post 1964. It identified that 23.9% of RSL stock and 33.7% of the private sector stock were non-decent. The Private Rented Survey also had the highest level of Category 1 hazards (17%) and households in fuel poverty (17.3%).

3.30 A total of 1270 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) were recorded in the Stock Condition Survey, representing 1.6% of the housing stock compared to 2.6% nationally.

Recent Housing Market Dynamics

- 3.31 The housing market context has changed since 2007. Over the decade to 2007, housing demand grew strongly across the country supported by a period of sustained economic stability and growth, historically low interest rates and increased choice and competition in the mortgage market. Housing supply was shown to be relatively inelastic, contributing to a period of sustained and strong price growth. The sustained growth in house prices together with mortgage availability supported growth in investment in the residential sector, and with it the size of the private rented sector. A combination of growing costs of home ownership (relative to earnings) and a decline in the size of the social sector (generally as right-to-buys outstripped new housing construction) contributing to increasing levels of housing need.
- 3.32 Market conditions have changed dramatically since 2007. The 'Credit Crunch' has severely constrained access to mortgage finance resulting in a substantial reduction in mortgage product availability, tightened lending controls and a reduction in loan to value ratios. This, coupled with market and subsequent economic uncertainty, have severely curtailed market activity and led to a substantial withdrawal of First-Time Buyers (the lifeblood of the market) and other marginal groups from the housing market. While there has been some improvement in first-time buyer volumes over the last year, levels remain well down on those experienced pre-2007.
- 3.33 There has been a notable reshaping of the dynamics between different segments of the housing market. Uncertainty coupled with restricted lending criteria have significantly restricted home purchases, but also impacted on the buy-to-let market. This has supported growing demand for private renting. Increased difficulties in accessing private housing have had a knock-on effect on the social sector, with growth in both waiting lists and housing benefit costs set against reductions in turnover and new supply.

House Prices

- 3.34 House prices in Herefordshire increased by 77% between 1996 Q1 2002 Q1 (representing an average increase of £41,750 in value) which was similar to nationwide trends but more rapid than house price growth across the West Midlands (62% for the same period). House price growth accelerated between Q1 2002 Q3 2004, with average prices in Herefordshire increasing by 83% in this period (an average increase of £79,500 in value) which exceeded growth across the West Midlands (70%/ £55,600) and England and Wales (66%/ £62,500).
- 3.35 Following a period of relative price stability in late 2004 and early 2005 influenced by a deterioration in housing market confidence, house prices again increased but at a more moderate rate. Average prices grew by 12% in Herefordshire between Q4 2004 and Q3 2007 (gaining £21,000 in value, again similar to growth across England and Wales but higher than elsewhere in the West Midlands). They then remained broadly static over the following year to Q4 2008, regaining in the second half of the year losses in the first. In this initial period of the market downturn, prices in Herefordshire remained more robust than elsewhere (with a fall in prices of £5,000 recorded across the West Midlands and £6,500 nationally).
- 3.36 However we saw a sharp correction in house prices in late 2008, with median prices in Herefordshire falling by £32,000 between Q3 2008 Q1 2009: a loss of -16% of their value. While there has been some subsequent growth, prices have yet to regain their peak values of £197,000 in Q3 2008.
- 3.37 House prices over the 2008-2012 period have been relatively stable both in Herefordshire and at the regional and national levels. Median house prices in Q3 2012 in Herefordshire are consistent with those in Q2 2008. In contrast we have seen a moderate growth in house prices of 2 6% across England and Wales over this period driven by the market in London and the greater South East. Given inflationary pressures, house prices have declined in real terms.



Source: HM Land Registry/CLG Table 582⁶

Sales

- 3.38 Transaction levels (sales) reflect the relative buoyancy of the market and provide an indication of 'effective demand' for market housing. As Figure 3.9 below shows, sales volumes declined dramatically in late 2007 and early 2008 with a reduction of around 60% in housing market activity. We saw some recovery in 2009 however in 2010 and 2011 the recovery stalled. Sales volumes over this period have remained over 40% down on the long-term trend in Herefordshire and almost 50% down across the West Midlands. Average sales volumes have been around half those achieved at the peak of the market.
- 3.39 The latest data available is for Q3 2012. Sales volumes at this point in Herefordshire were 49% down on the average sales between 1998-2007, consistent with the level across England and Wales, but performing better than the West Midlands where sales were on average down 52%. This reflects a market which is more biased towards households with existing equity and less dependent on first-time buyers (consistent the County's older age structure).

Formatte spelling or

 $^{^{\}rm 6}$ Regional data is not recorded by the CLG source from 2011

<u>C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc</u>C:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 47 of 217



Source: HM Land Registry/ CLG Table 584

The Private Rented Sector

- 3.40 Private renting accommodated 15.2% of households across the County in 2011, compared to 14.0% across the West Midlands region and 16.8% across England.
- 3.41 The withdrawal of mortgage products by banks tightening lending practices, coupled with the market downturn have, however curtailed investment purchases since 2008. Tightening lending criteria have equally restricted volumes of first-time buyers⁷ supporting growth in demand within the private rented sector. In many areas this has been having an effect on the rental market, with greater demand than supply leading to growth in rents over the last couple of years (2009-11).
- 3.42 Reflecting the short-term nature of tenancies, turnover of properties in the private rented sector is generally high with evidence nationally suggesting a turnover rate of 32% of properties per annum⁸. The sector plays an important role in providing for housing for young professionals and families who cannot afford to buy, low income households (including some supported by Local Housing Allowance) and households looking for flexibility (including those who have recently moved jobs, recent divorcees etc.).

⁷ Supported by evidence from Council for Mortgage Lenders

⁸ English Housing Survey, 2009-10

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 48 of 217

- 3.43 Qualitative evidence on trends in the private rented sector has been gleaned from discussions with estate and letting agents. This confirms that the investment market is weak. The demand profile appears relatively stable, with some agents particularly in the Bromyard area suggesting that rents have been increasing over the past year; while in other parts of the County rents appear relatively stable. This follows evidence of rising rents in 2009 and 2010.
- 3.44 In due course the 2011 Census will provide more detailed information on the private rented sector in different parts of the County.

Local Intelligence from Estate and Letting Agents

3.45 As part of the research a cross-section of estate and letting agents were spoken to who operate across the Herefordshire HMA in September 2012. This was intended to provide a qualitative assessment of market conditions which can sit alongside the analysis of statistical data. It should however be recognised that this represents a snapshot view of market dynamics and perceptions in Autumn 2012.

Sales Market

- 3.46 Estate agents described current sales market conditions as being "steady" and "fairly slow" with a shortage of new instructions coming onto the market but generally market conditions which are slightly better than a year ago. Some agents indicated that sales were slower in September following a busier period in between March and July. Most agents said prices have been stagnant or have fallen slightly over the past year with agents (in Leominster) describing the last year as "difficult."
- 3.47 The current profile of buyers in Herefordshire tends to be over the age of 30 in all areas, with some areas (such as Ledbury, Leominster and Ross on Wye) attracting a slightly older segment of buyers who tend to be between 40 and 65. Most buyers are either retired or have families and are looking for a larger family home. Very few people buying houses in 2012 are First-time Buyers.
- 3.48 Semi-rural and rural areas were said to be the properties most in demand. Country properties with acres were said to be popular in Bromyard and bungalows were said to be selling well in Ross on Wye).
- 3.49 Looking forward, the estate agents interviewed did not think that the sales market will improve dramatically in the near future. The majority of agents said that they did not believe to see changes over the next year. Most believed that there may be a slight fall in house prices or

that house prices would remain at the similar levels to what they are currently in the next year. Key influences on this were perceived to be the difficulties in accessing finance, especially for first time buyers, concern over job security and the price of living costs (petrol, food etc) and a belief that house prices would increase in the future. One agent did not believe that sales figures would pick up until 2016.

Lettings Market

- 3.50 The agents spoken to were much more positive about the lettings market compared to the sales market. Whilst one agent stated that lettings "aren't flying off the shelf," several agents described the lettings market as "strong" and even "buoyant" although, similarly to some comments of the sales market, some said that conditions were better 2-5 months ago. Many renters are renting on a short term basis with some renting in the area prior to buying in the area and being unable to buy at the moment.
- 3.51 Both the people looking to rent and the properties being let are more varied than in the sales market. The type of houses range from 1 bedroomed flats to larger houses. Agents noted that there is an undersupply of property to let generally. However, some agents stated that there is an oversupply of 1 and 2 bed roomed starter flats, particularly in Hereford City. Demand is strongest for 2-4 bedroomed properties and for rural, detached properties in the Kington area. Around Hereford, agents reported that houses with land were in short supply and retirement properties were said to be the "most difficult properties to shift."
- 3.52 The profile of those renting is more varied than those in the sales market and contains a "younger segment" ranging generally from 20-40 year olds.
- 3.53 Some agents (covering the Bromyard area) said that rents have been increasing over the past year but by a small percentage estimated to be 5-6%. Other agents stated that rents are have been fairly stable over the last year. There was a difference of options on whether agents thought that rents would increase in the future.
- 3.54 Some but not all indicate that there would be prospects for further growth in the rental property sector. Whilst some agents (e.g. in the Ledbury area) believed that rents would increase as they believed there to be a strong demand for rental properties which would continue. Other agents were less optimistic believing that is a limit to how much rents would increase and others noting that this depends on other factors predominantly linked to the UKK economy.

3.55 Agents noted that there is some but a limited amount of demand from investors. These investors tend to be small investors buying 1 or 2 properties costing approximately £120,000-180,000 and averaged around £130,000.

Considering Future Housing Market Dynamics

- 3.56 In looking at what might happen in the future, the ability of the banks to lend is likely to be affected by both future regulation of the sector, investors' appetite for mortgage-backed securities and the wider economic outlook. These will be critical to the revival of the housing market.
- 3.57 We can identify a number of key drivers which influence 'effective demand' for homes for sale. These include:
 - Access to mortgage finance / loan-to-value ratios impacting on levels of first-time buyers, those re-mortgaging properties or existing owner occupiers moving home, and investment purchases;
 - Interest rates & the cost of servicing debt with lower house prices and historically low interest rates, housing is now relatively affordable for those with the savings or who can access capital;
 - Trends in real household incomes which have been squeezed by inflationary pressures over the past couple of years, but play an important role in helping households save up a deposit. The balance between inflation and wage growth is important here;
 - Economic performance and outlook which feeds into market confidence and trends in incomes. There is also a relationship between unemployment and repossessions/ housing need.
- 3.58 Current conditions and the short-term outlook are clearly very different to those in 2003-8. In the 2003-8 period, the economy was stable and growing, inflationary was lower, and mortgage finance was much more readily available. These factors supported effective demand for market housing.
- 3.59 Looking forward, the Council for Mortgage Lenders (CML) predictions for 2012 are for transactions levels to remain flat. CML predict that the Government's new-build indemnity scheme will have an 'incremental rather than transformative' impact on the overall market, albeit that it may support a gradual improvement in completions.
- 3.60 Knight Frank's medium-term forecasts for the housing market (Spring 2012) based on their 'principal forecast' are for a slow correction with sales returning to near long-term averages by 2016. On this basis we would see a recovery in market conditions in the medium rather than short-term. The principal forecast indicates continuing demand and growth in the private rented sector, with growing first-time buyer numbers in the medium-term.

- 3.61 However there are evident upside and downside risks to the forecasts. The upside risks are that we might see a stronger and faster recovery, linked for instance to:
 - Resolution of the Eurozone debt crisis and stable global financial conditions/ growth;
 - Faster improvements to the availability of mortgage finance.
- 3.62 The downside risks are associated with:
 - Rises in interest rates, especially if strong inflation re-emerges, which could hinder improvements in effective demand;
 - The collapse of a Eurozone economy/ currency, which could have serious impacts on the global financial system and result in a further 'credit crunch' which could have a further downward impact on sales (to potentially an unprecedented level). It could also trigger a further economic recession.
- 3.63 The upside risks at the current time look more likely.
- 3.64 Knight Frank forecast the new-build market improving in the medium-term as housebuilders' balance sheets improve, with increased policy certainty provided by Local Plans and the NPPF. However this needs to be balanced against reductions in funding for affordable housing.
- 3.65 The RICS Housing Market Survey in June 2012 showed a worsening trend in price expectations and the agreed sales net balance, with 22% more surveyors recording price falls rather than rises. The survey also suggested that market activity also contracted following the spike in March associated with the expiry of the stamp duty exemptions. The survey reported a decline in both new buyer enquiries and vendor instructions. The trend in sales volumes was also down.
- 3.66 The RICS Survey forecast that the outlook for the next three months remains broadly unchanged, with sales expectations turning slightly more positive but price expectations negative. Overall over the next year sales volumes are expected to remain static. East Midlands surveyors expected prices to fall.
- 3.67 RICS' Economic Overview (July 2012) forecasts UK housing transactions of 890,000 in 2012 compared to 868,000 in 2011 a moderate 2.5% improvement.
- 3.68 Jones Lang LaSalle's *Residential Eye*⁹ reiterates the impact which a lack of finance and economic conditions are having on the housing market. They highlight that although transactions levels over the past four years have been the lowest of record they show little signs of improving and that this is having a notable effect on levels of housing development.

⁹ JLL (2012) *Residential Eye – Summer 2012*

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 217 January 2013
3.69 JLL's housing market forecasts are for static prices across the UK in 2012, with London performing well but house price falls in the Midlands and South. House price growth is forecast from 2013 onwards, with real term (i.e. above inflation) growth from 2014. For the UK as a whole their forecasts are more optimistic than Savills.

Figure 3.9: JLL Price Growth Forecasts, Q2 2012

	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Midlands & North	-2%	1%	3%	5%	7%
UK	0%	3%	5%	6%	5%

3.70 Transactions are forecast to increase from 925,000 across the UK in 2012 by 12% over the period to 2016. In 2016 they would thus likely remain below long-term averages. Housing completions in England are forecast by JLL to increase by a slightly stronger 27% over this four year period to 140,000. This is similar to average completions between 1997-2003.

Figure 3.10: JLL Transactions Forecasts, Q2 2012

	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
UK Transactions	925000	950000	975000	1050000	1125000
UK Mortgage Lending	625000	650000	680000	750000	825000
England Housing Completions	110000	115000	120000	125000	140000

- 3.71 In addition to looking at the sales market, it is relevant to explore trends in the rental market. The private rented sector has been the key growth sector in the housing market over the last decade.
- 3.72 Savills Residential Property Focus Q2 2012 provides forecasts for the rental sector, setting out that:

"We [Savills] estimate that £200 billion of investment is required in the next five years, if the demand for private renting is to be met. But banks remain much more constrained in their buy to let mortgage lending, and it's expected that only £50 billion of the required investment will take the form of buy to let loans. Attention is therefore increasingly focused on the attractions of the private rental market for institutional and investment funds, and to a lesser extent, those private investors with equity."

3.73 In increasing institutional investment, a key factor is the relative return on the investment compared with other income-producing asset classes. Historically the net yields have been

comparatively weak. However, as Savills set out, the market fundamentals have been changing.

- 3.74 Rental demand has clearly been outstripping supply in recent years fuelling growth in rents. Savills for instance indicate that rents across the UK rose by an average of 5.2% in 2011. Evidence from local letting agents in Herefordshire has pointed to rental growth across many parts of the County in recent years. Moving forward Savills forecast that this will continue: *"rental demand is expected to continue to outstrip supply in the coming five years, keeping rents under upward pressure."* The picture from letting agents in Herefordshire is more mixed.
- 3.75 The attractiveness of housing for investment purposes in the short-to-medium term is thus primarily related to the rental return on the investment (yield) rather than the capital growth in the value of the asset. As the forecasts for house prices set out show, the prospects of rapid growth in house prices look relatively weak. According to Savills, the average gross income yield now stands at 5.8% nationally The yield from large scale investors buying properties in bulk can be higher still (where properties can be bought at a discount). Once maintenance costs and void periods are considered, Savills data indicates a typical net yield for a private landlord of around 4.1% across the UK.
- 3.76 Growth in the size of the sector is forecast. It has increased almost 50% in the five years to 2011 from 3.4 to 4.8 million households across the UK. Savills forecast that it will increase further to 5.9 million in 2016.
- 3.77 Savills' view is that over the next few years, the rental sector will become increasingly attractive for corporate investors. Jones Lang LaSalle forecast growth in both buy-to-let investment and corporate investment in the sector.
- 3.78 JLL point to the prospect of the removal of legislative barriers to residential Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) through the 2012 Finance Bill, as well as other changes to the status and interest cover of REITs as supporting the potential expansion of institutional investment in the sector. However they conclude that *"there is still a huge leap to be made before residential investment by large landlords and institional investors becomes anywhere near significant for either the private rented sector or housing supply in the UK. As a result, we do not believe that the Government can expect institutions to help boost housebuilding volumes in any meaningful way unless radical new policies are put in place."*
- 3.79 In our view, institutional investment in the Private Rented Sector is currently embryonic and in the short-term is likely to focus on core cities with sizeable and established rental sectors. It is thus less likely to influence Herefordshire relative to some other parts of the UK in the short-term until this market is more mature.

3.80 Drawing together these various forecasts, we can identify a number of scenarios for the housing market. These are summarised in Figure 3.11 below:

Figure 3.11: Scenarios for UK Housing Market

•	Scenario 1: Slow correction to 2016 Gradual improvement in sales & first- time buyers Improving economic performance & price inflation from 2013 Moderate interest rate increases in medium-term Housebuilding returns to long-term trend over 4 years	 Scenario 2: Rapid Improvements in Market Demand Eurozone crisis resolved quicker than expected; global growth Wage growth and lower inflation support increasing household incomes Improved availability of mortgage finance supports stronger housing market recovery
So	cenario 3: Eurozone Default	Scenario 4: Economic Resilience & Growth
•	Further credit crunch – leading to further reduction in sales & sharp price falls	 Improved macro-economic outlook and the local economy performs more strongly than other areas
1		
•	Further rental growth in private rented sector feeding through to increasing housing need	 Moderate employment growth supports reductions in unemployment and worklessness and continues to attract people to the area
•	sector feeding through to increasing	 Moderate employment growth supports reductions in unemployment and worklessness and continues to attract

3.81 We consider that it is prudent for strategic planning purposes to take a generally more optimistic outlook, as should some of the downside factors come to fruition these will impact on housing delivery (e.g. it will take longer for a portfolio of allocated sites to be built out than anticipated). On the other hand, if planning is based on a more pessimistic scenario and some of the upside factors come to play this could have negative social and economic consequences (resulting from lack of supply of homes/ land which could for instance contribute to growth in house prices, wages etc.). This would favour Options 2 or 4.

Formatte spelling or

January 2013

3.82 In housing policy terms, the more pessimistic scenarios could have notable implications for both affordable housing delivery and for housing need.

Potential Implications of Economic Growth of Demand for Homes

- 3.83 GL Hearn has also sought to consider the potential implications of economic growth in different parts of the County on demand for homes.
- 3.84 Experian econometric forecasts from November 2012 indicate growth in total employment across the County of 9,900 jobs between 2011-31. This represents employment growth of 0.6% per annum (compared to 0.5% annual growth forecast across the West Midlands). However it is focused more towards lower value sectors with forecast annual growth in economic output (GVA) of 1.6% per annum forecast on average over the 2011-31 period relative to 1.8% forecast for the region.
- 3.85 Figure 3.11 shows employment forecast by sector across the County. Taking account of these forecasts and the proportion of employment by sector in individual HMAs,



Figure 3.11: Forecast Employment Growth in Herefordshire by Broad Sector, 2011-31

Source: Experian (Nov 2012 Forecasts)/ GL Hearn

3.86 GL Hearn has sought to use the Experian forecasts to estimate potential employment growth and the occupational profile of this for each of the seven local housing markets. These estimates are based on the proportion of employment in different economic sectors in each of

the local HMAs in 2010¹⁰. The indicative forecast of employment growth in each local housing market between 2011-31 is shown in Figure 3.12 below.

¹⁰ This draws on data published by Herefordshire Council's Research Team from the Business Register and Employment Survey 2010

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 57 of 217



Figure 3.12: Indicative Forecast of Employment Growth by Local HMA, 2011-31

Source: Experian (Nov 2012 Forecasts)/ GL Hearn

- 3.87 These should be regarded as indicative estimates not least as there are a range of factors, including decisions of individual businesses, which can affect employment trends at a very local level. Employment growth can also be influenced by employment land supply.
- 3.88 Taking account of the economic structure in each of the local housing markets and projected growth in employment by sector, GL Hearn has modelled



Figure 3.13: Modelled Change in Employment by Occupation by Local HMA, 2011-31

- 3.89 This analysis particularly indicates that of changes in the profile of jobs by area:
 - Employment growth overall is expected to be slightly more focused towards higher-paid occupations in the Golden Valley, Kington and Bromyard HMAs,
 - Employment growth in the Kington HMA is more likely to be skewed towards skilled trades and elementary occupations;
 - Across the county, relatively strong growth in elementary and skilled trade occupations is forecast.

Demand for Accommodation by Gypsies, Travellers and Showpeople

- 3.90 A Gypsy & Travellers Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) was undertaken by the Centre for Urban and Regional Studies (CURS) at University of Birmingham, published in 2008. This includes a survey and needs assessment covering Herefordshire.
- 3.91 The GTAA identifies a requirement for 83 additional pitches between 2007-12 and for 26 additional pitches between 2012-17. It recommends that a range of tenure options and site

Source: GL Hearn

sizes are provided, with pitches provided in locations with good access to schools and services to support social inclusion although the assessment was not site specific.

Other Vulnerable Groups

- 3.92 Herefordshire Council provides a range of services to provide support and suitable housing for a range of vulnerable groups. These include people with physical and learning disabilities, and mental health problems, as well as older residents.
- 3.93 The Council provides a Home Improvement Agency service to support independent living for vulnerable households, as well as providing a range of grants and a handypersons service.
- 3.94 The Council's Local Investment Plan, developed in conjunction with the Homes and Communities Agency, sets out priorities for investment (as summarised in Section 2). These include priorities for provision of additional general needs accommodation for single people and families with mental health issues; and for delivery of additional extra care and shared supported accommodation, as well as ground floor and adapted properties for people with learning disabilities.

Older Persons

3.95 The Council has undertaken specific research to consider the accommodation and support needs of its growing population of older persons. This was summarised in Section 2. In addition we have used our population projections to study likely change in the number of people who are expected to have a range of disabilities in the future – these figures are provided in the specific sections for each HMA.

BME Households

- 3.96 One additional group we can briefly study are Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) households. The population form a BME group across the County is relatively small and so data is not specifically provided in the individual HMA sections. Below we have therefore provided a few key statistics drawing on Census and Housing Register data.
- 3.97 From 2011 Census data we find that around 6% of the population of Herefordshire came from a non-White (British/Irish) background. This figure is significantly lower than found either regionally or nationally. The key BME group in Herefordshire is Other-White (which is likely to contain a number of Eastern European migrants) the proportion in this group (at 3.9%) is higher than the equivalent figure for the West Midlands.

Figure 3.14: Black and Minority Ethnic Population (2011)							
Ethnic Group	Herefordshire	West Midlands	England				
White: British	93.7%	79.2%	79.8%				
White: Irish	0.4%	1.0%	1.0%				
White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%				
White: Other White	3.9%	2.5%	4.6%				
Mixed: White and Black Caribbean	0.2%	1.2%	0.8%				
Mixed: White and Black African	0.1%	0.2%	0.3%				
Mixed: White and Asian	0.2%	0.6%	0.6%				
Mixed: Other Mixed	0.2%	0.4%	0.5%				
Asian: Indian	0.3%	3.9%	2.6%				
Asian: Pakistani	0.0%	4.1%	2.1%				
Asian: Bangladeshi	0.0%	0.9%	0.8%				
Asian: Chinese	0.2%	0.6%	0.7%				
Asian: Other Asian	0.3%	1.3%	1.5%				
Black: African	0.1%	1.1%	1.8%				
Black: Caribbean	0.1%	1.5%	1.1%				
Black: Other Black	0.0%	0.6%	0.5%				
Other ethnic group: Arab	0.1%	0.3%	0.4%				
Any other ethnic group	0.1%	0.6%	0.6%				
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%				
Total population	5.9%	19.9%	19.3%				
% non-White (British/Irish)	93.7%	79.2%	79.8%				

Source: ONS (2011 Census)

- 3.98 Since 2001 the BME population in the County can be seen to have increased significantly as can be seen in the table below. We have condensed some categories together due to a slightly different list of potential groups being used in the 2011 Census when compared with 2001 data. The data shows that whilst the overall population of Herefordshire has risen by 8,606 over the 10-year period the increase in BME groups (all groups other than White (British/Irish)) has been 7,327 (85% of the total increase).
- 3.99 Looking at particular BME groups we see that the largest rise in terms of population has been for White-Other people – increasing by 5,595 over the ten years which is nearly a tripling of the number of people in this category.

Figure 3.14: Change	e in BME group	s 2001 to 2011	(Herefordshi	re County)
Ethnic Group	2001	2011	Change	% change
White (British/Irish)	171,352	172,631	1,279	0.7%
White - Other	1,943	7,538	5,595	288.0%
Mixed	695	1,270	575	82.7%
Asian or Asian British	335	1,162	827	246.9%
Black or Black British	170	331	161	94.7%
Chinese and other	376	545	169	44.9%
Total	174,871	183,477	8,606	4.9%

Source: Census 2001 and 2011

- 3.100 The data presented above provides some indication of the size of the BME population and how this has changed over time. At present we do not have much additional up-to-date information about BME groups in the County (this will become available with future releases of Census data). One data source we have which is more up-to-date is the Housing Register.
- 3.101 At the time of carrying out the housing needs modelling there were 4,664 households on the register. Not all of these households have provided information about their ethnic group and in total ethnic group data is available for 4,543 households (97% of those registered). The data shows that of those for whom we have information some 91.8% are White (British/Irish). This would suggest that BME households are slightly more likely to be registered for housing than White (British/Irish) households although to some degree this will depend on household rather than population numbers (which may be lower for BME groups due to larger household sizes).
- 3.102 The data for individual BME groups is also interesting with White: Other and Black households looking to be over-represented on the Register and Mixed and Asian households tending to show very low levels of registration. At the time of the assessment there were only 16 Asian households on the Housing Register compared to 22 Black households despite the fact that the Asian population is more than three times the size of the Black population. Further analysis of the Housing Register reveals that the vast majority (73%) of BME households on the register live in the Hereford HMA

Figure 3.15: Housing Register by Ethnic Group							
BME group	On Re	egister	Total po	Total population			
	Total	%	Total	%			
White: British/Irish	4,171	91.8%	172,631	94.1%			
White: Other	281	6.2%	7,538	4.1%			
Mixed	6	0.1%	1,270	0.7%			
Asian	16	0.4%	1,162	0.6%			
Black	22	0.5%	331	0.2%			
Chinese and other	47 1.0%		545	0.3%			
Total	4,543	100.0%	183,477	100.0%			

Source: Housing Register and 2011 Census

4 DEFINING LOCAL HOUSING MARKETS

- 4.1 Herefordshire forms part of a 'West' sub-regional housing market within the West Midlands region which covers Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin and Herefordshire¹¹. The sub-regional housing market was defined (to inform development of the Regional Housing Strategy) principally on the basis of price similarities (based on areas in which a similar home in a similar neighbourhood would command a similar price), together with consideration of travel to work patterns and wider socio-economic characteristics. The key characteristics of the housing market were identified as:¹²
 - Relatively high house prices and pressure for second homes;
 - Highly complex and frequently long-distance travel to work patterns;
 - Limited strength of the functional/ labour market relationship with the Black Country conurbation.
- 4.2 The housing market has an older population structure and low BME population, a high proportion of detached (and semi-detached) housing. It has a high level of economic participation, with higher levels of self-employment and part-time working. The occupational structure shows high levels of professional and skilled trade occupations. Many of these characteristics are common to largely rural sub-regions which are more peripheral to major employment centres.
- 4.3 A Strategic Housing Market Assessment for the West HMA was undertaken by Outside Consultants and published in 2008. This sought to define local housing markets in Herefordshire and Shropshire, taking account of commonalities in key indicators such as tenure and house type profile, incomes and affordability, and house prices; as well as geographical proximity. The consultants overlaid a number of these indicators and tested initial conclusions with stakeholders. Alongside this work, Herefordshire Council have analysed travel to work patterns in the County. Bringing this work together, seven local housing markets in Herefordshire have been defined, which are:
 - Hereford HMA
 - Ross-on-Wye HMA
 - Ledbury HMA
 - Golden Valley HMA
 - Bromyard HMA

¹¹ University of Sheffield (2005) Defining Housing Market Areas in the West Midlands

¹² University of Sheffield (2005) West HMA Sub-Regional Report

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 64 of 217

- Leominster HMA
- Kington HMA
- 4.4 The defined HMAs covering the County are broadly focused on Hereford and the market towns, except for the Golden Valley HMA which is predominantly rural.
- 4.5 The approach used takes account of house prices and rates of change in house prices; patterns of household movement (migration), and wider contextual data including travel to work patterns which demonstrate the functional relationships between where people live and work in accordance with Government Guidance¹³.
- 4.6 Whilst much of the analysis in the report focuses on the seven housing market areas it is also recognised in most of the HMAs that there is a distinction to be drawn between rural and urban parts of the area. We have therefore also sought to provide information about rural areas as compared with urban rural areas are defined as the rural parts of each HMA with urban areas being the five market towns plus Hereford. Figure 4.1 below shows the make-up of each HMA and the parts considered for analysis to be urban/rural the analysis has been based on wards and groups of wards.

	Figure 4.1: Herefordshire Housing Market Areas					
НМА	Urban/rural	Wards				
Hereford	Urban	Aylestone, Belmont, Central, St Martins & Hinton, St Nicholas,				
		Three Elms, Tupsley				
	Rural	Burghill, Holmer & Lyde, Credenhill, Hagley, Hollington, Sutton				
Walls, Stoney Street, Backbury, Wormsley Ridge						
Leominster	Urban	Leominster North, Leominster South				
	Rural	Bircher, Upton, Golden Cross with Weobley, Mortimer				
Ross-on-Wye	Urban	Ross-on-Wye West, Ross-on-Wye East				
	Rural	Penyard, Llangarron, Kerne Bridge, Old Gore, Pontrilas, Valletts				
Ledbury	Urban	Ledbury				
	Rural	Hope End, Frome				
Bromyard	Urban	Bromyard				
	Rural	Bringsty, Hampton Court				
Kington	Urban	Kington Town				
	Rural	Castle, Pembridge & Lyonshall with Titley				
Golden Valley	Rural	Golden Valley North, Golden Valley South				

¹³ CLG (2008) Identifying Sub-Regional Housing Markets – Advice Note

4.7 The remainder of this report seeks to profile housing market conditions and drivers in each of these housing markets to inform policies regarding future housing provision and investment.

5 APPROACH TO ANALYSING THE HOUSING MARKET

- 5.1 In advance of presenting the detailed analysis for the seven individual housing markets, this section first outlines the overall methodology adopted, as this is consistent across each of the HMAs.
- 5.2 The Section dealing with each HMA addresses the following:
 - **Geography** outlining the size and location of the HMA, the settlement structure and access to services;
 - **Current Housing Offer** profiling the current housing offer, considering the number of properties, tenure profile, house type composition, levels of vacant and second homes;
 - Socio-Economic Characteristics addressing levels of employment and the economic structure, as well as concentration of income-deprived households;
 - Housing Need addressing both the affordability of market housing, and providing a housing need analysis to identify the shortfall of affordable housing within the HMA. The section also compares the profiles of household incomes and house prices to consider relative requirements for social rented and intermediate housing;
 - Housing Market Performance provides a profile of house prices and rents, and draws out conclusions from consultation with local estate and letting agents to identify key housing market dynamics;
 - Potential Population and Economic Growth outlines proposed development in the HMA and provides an assessment of potential changes in the occupational structure arising from projected economic performance;
 - Future Housing Requirements uses the Housing Market Model to numbers of homes of different sizes and profile of houses vs. flats required in each HMA, and within the main towns and rural areas within this. This analysis is provided separately for the market and affordable sectors based on the proposed tenure mix set out in the draft Core Strategy;
 - Vulnerable Groups summarises wider research addressing the needs of vulnerable groups;
 - **Delivery Considerations** concludes with key points relating to the delivery of housing within the HMA where appropriate.
- 5.3 This analysis was originally presented in the 2011 LHMA. This 2012 Update to the report has updated key elements of analysis where new data is available, specifically addressing:
 - Housing Market Performance updated and more detailed analysis of house price and sales trends including analysis of the distribution of sales, and house prices by type. GLH

has also provide an updated commentary of national market conditions and undertaken further selected discussions with estate and letting agents active in Hereford and the Market Towns;

- Housing Need an updated analysis of affordable housing need has been undertaken, based on revised data from the HomePoint Housing Register, new demographic projections and an updated survey of housing costs in each of the 7 local housing market areas;
- Future Housing Requirements updated modelling of housing mix taking account of data from the 2011 Census regarding population and headship and proposed housing requirements and the distribution of this to different parts of the County as set out in the 2011 Revised Core Strategy Preferred Options.
- 5.4 Analysis of the current housing and socio-economic characteristics at a local level remains largely unchanged to that in the 2011 LHMA Report. It makes limited sense to update this analysis in advance of the release of 2011 Census data.

Housing Need

- 5.5 Our analysis of housing need draws on a number of different sources of information, in particular analysis of the HomePoint Housing Register and demographic projections of newly forming households. All information used from this source is current as of October 2012.
- 5.6 As part of our analysis of Housing Register undertaken information in developing the original 2011 LHMA Report, we also took the opportunity to discuss this data with HomePoint. A number of potential issues were highlighted which are briefly worth discussing prior to our analysis of this source.
- 5.7 Firstly it was noted that households are registered in terms of bedroom eligibility on the basis of the bedroom standard whereby a standard number of bedrooms is allocated to each household in accordance with the age, sex and marital status of its members and their relationships to one another. Whilst this is perfectly reasonable, it was felt that with additional flexibility that the supply of family housing could be increased. For example a single older person household living in a three bedroom home would only be offered a one bedroom home (on the basis of need) and such households will often not bid for properties of this size.
- 5.8 The second point was relating to allocations, where it was noted that some local Registered Providers (RPs) have slightly different policies relating to bedroom eligibility. For example for larger families, one RP might consider a three bedroom property to be appropriate, whilst

another might suggest four bedrooms. This can cause some difficulty for particular households in understanding which properties it is appropriate for them to bid for.

- 5.9 The Housing Needs Analysis adopts the following key definitions relating to housing need, affordability and affordable housing:
 - Housing Need: Housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who live in unsuitable housing and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market. In this assessment we have based this measure on information from the Council's Housing Register.
 - Newly-Arising Need: Newly arising (or future) need is a measure of the number of households who are expected to have an affordable housing need at some point in the future (measured annually). In this assessment we have used trend data from the Housing Register and also demographic projections about the number of new households forming (along with affordability) to estimate future needs.
 - Affordable Housing Supply: An estimate of the likely future supply of affordable housing is also made (drawing on secondary data sources about past lettings of existing stock). The future supply of affordable housing subtracted from the future need to make an assessment of the net future need for affordable housing.
 - Affordability: Affordability is assessed using income data along with the cost of suitable market housing (to either buy or rent). Separate tests are applied for home ownership and private renting and are summarised below (both tests are fully in line with the advice given in the Practice Guidance¹⁴):
 - Assessing whether a household can afford home ownership a household is considered able to afford to buy a home if it costs 3.5 times the gross household income.
 - Assessing whether a household can afford market renting a household is considered able to afford market rented housing in cases where the rent payable would constitute no more than 25% of gross income.
 - **Affordable Housing**: The NPPF¹⁵ defines affordable housing as including "social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to specified eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Affordable housing should:
 - Meet the needs of eligible households including availability at a cost low enough for them to afford, determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices;

¹⁴ CLG (2007) Strategic Housing Market Assessments, Practice Guidance Version 2

¹⁵ CLG (March 2012) National Planning Policy Framework

- Include provision for the home to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households or, if these restrictions are lifted, for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision.
- Within the definition of affordable housing there is also the distinction between social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing (as set out below).
- Social Rented Housing is defined in the NPPF as 'rented housing owned and managed by local authorities and registered social landlords, for which guideline target rents are determined through the national rent regime. It may also include rented housing owned or managed by other persons and provided under equivalent rental agreements to the above, as agreed with the local authority or with the Homes and Communities Agency as a condition of grant.
- Affordable Rented Housing is defined in the NPPF as 'rented housing let by registered providers of social housing to households who are eligible for social rented housing. Affordable Rent is not subject to the national rent regime, but is subject to other rent controls that require a rent or more than 80% of the local market rent.
- Intermediate Affordable Housing is defined as 'housing at prices and rents above those
 of social rent, but below market price or rents. These can include shared equity products
 (e.g. HomeBuy), other low cost homes for sale and intermediate rent but does not include
 affordable rented housing'. It should be noted that at present the Council do not support
 shared equity as part of an affordable housing contribution.
- 5.10 The analysis undertaken herein is intended to provide a picture of housing needs for the seven housing market areas and Herefordshire as a whole. Herefordshire Council separately undertakes Housing Needs Surveys for specific parishes at a more local level. These are available on the Council's website¹⁶.
- 5.11 It should also be noted that the definition of affordability provided above (for purchase) is broadly consistent with the methodology employed by the Council to study the costs at which Low Cost Market Housing should be made available. The Council regularly monitors house prices (from Land Registry) and income levels (from ASHE) and works under the assumption that the price of a home should not exceed 3.5 times the average income for a single earner household and 2.9 times for dual earners (an assumption of between 10% and 20% deposit is also included in the Council's calculations). The Council's latest figures are contained within the technical guidance supporting the planning obligations SPD and cover the period from April 2012 to March 2013.

¹⁶ http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 70 of 217

Local Price/Rent Survey

- 5.12 The first part of our assessment of housing need is to establish the entry-level costs of housing to both buy and rent in each Housing Market Area.
- 5.13 Our approach has been to carry out a desktop survey using internet sources (mainly Rightmove and Primelocation). For each area we looked at prices and rents for different sizes of property from one to four bedrooms within a five mile radius of the main town in each HMA. In some cases even the five mile radius was not sufficient for a reasonable sample of properties to be found and so the radius was extended until sufficient data was available. Extending the search radius was mainly required for smaller (one bedroom) homes and also four bedroom homes for rent. The survey was undertaken in Autumn 2012.
- 5.14 Figure 5.1 below shows estimated lower quartile property prices obtained from this search. The prices have been reduced slightly (on average by about 8%) to take account of the difference between asking prices and prices paid (based on regional data from Hometrack).
- 5.15 The data shows in most areas that prices start for a one bedroom home from about £75,000 to £90,000 with two-bedroom homes (likely to be the main focus for first-time buyers due to low supply of one bedroom homes) ranging from about £105,000 to £130,000. Larger (three and four bedroom) homes tended to show a wider range between different areas. Overall, the lowest prices were shown to be in Leominster with Ledbury typically recording the highest prices.



Source: Online Estate and Letting Agents Survey (October 2012)

5.16 The entry-level cost for private rented accommodation is presented in Figure 5.2 below. The figure indicates that entry-level rents range from about £400 per month for a one bedroom home up to around £900 per month (depending on location) for a four bedroom property. Overall, the variations in rents across the County are not as great as for house prices.



Source: Online Estate and Letting Agents Survey (October 2012)

- 5.17 The final type (tenure) of housing analysed as part of our market survey is social rented housing. To get information about housing costs in the social rented sector we have drawn on data provided through the HomePoint Housing Register about properties that have been let in the recent past.
- 5.18 Figure 5.3 below shows figures for 2011/12 for each of the different sizes of home (and in each sub-market). As can be seen the costs are significantly below those for private rented housing indicating a significant potential gap between the social rented and market sectors. The figures presented are for lettings made to new tenants and not overall rent levels in the social rented sector (i.e. they do not include rents paid by tenants who did not move home).



Source: HomePoint – October 2012

Gaps in the Housing Market

5.19 Figure 5.4 below estimates how current prices and rents in each of the seven Housing Market Areas might equate to income levels required to afford such housing. The figures are all based on a two bedroom home and clearly indicate a gap between the costs of 'entry-level' market housing and the social rented sector – demonstrating the potential for intermediate housing to meet some of the affordable need.

Figure 5.4 Indicative income required to buy/rent (2 bedroom)							
Location	Entry-level purchase price	Entry-level private rent	Affordable Rent (@80% of market)	Average Social Rent			
Hereford	£32,860	£25,200	£20,160	£16,320			
Leominster	£30,000	£22,800	£18,240	£16,700			
Ross	£32,860	£24,000	£19,200	£16,800			
Ledbury	£36,860	£26,400	£21,120	£18,670			
Bromyard	£32,860	£26,400	£21,120	£18,820			
Kington	£34,290	£22,320	£17,860	£16,990			
Golden Valley	£36,860	£25,200	£20,160	£16,700			

Source: Online Estate and Letting Agents Survey (October 2012) and HomePoint (October 2012)¹

¹⁷ Calculations based on 3.5× household income for purchase and 25% of income to be spent on housing for rented properties. Figures for purchase are based on a 100% mortgage for the purposes of comparing the different types of housing.

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 73 of 217

Income levels

- 5.20 Following on from our assessment of local prices and rents it is important to understand local income levels as these (along with the price/rent data) will determine the affordability of housing and also provide an indication of the potential for intermediate housing to meet needs.
- 5.21 To assess affordability, a profile of incomes has been developed based on modelling a range of sources including the English Housing Survey (EHS), the Annual Survey of Hours and Earning (ASHE), CACI Paycheck information and ONS income estimates. The data has been modelled to provide an estimate of gross household incomes (before tax) including all benefits other than those used to meet housing costs (e.g. housing benefit/local housing allowance).
- 5.22 Figure 5.5 below shows the distribution of income for the whole of Herefordshire. The data shows that around a third of households have an income up to £15,000 and 15% more than £50,000. The overall average (mean) income of all households in the County was estimated to be £29,015 with a median figure of £22,002.
- 5.23 It should be noted that the income data used in this report is for all households an includes income from non-earned sources (i.e. the modelling is attempting to capture all household groups including those who are retired or unemployed as well as households with multiple earners). Herefordshire Council also publish income data based on individual's earnings (which will only include those in employment), the latest data for which from the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings estimates an average (median) full time income in the County of about £20,600 in 2012.



Source: JGC Income Modelling (2012)

- 5.24 Our approach to assessing local incomes differs from that in the original LHMA report. Previous work used data provided by Experian and on reviewing this for the update it was considered that the income distribution suggested by Experian was not realistic (with too much bunching of 'mid' income households with relatively few households assessed as having incomes at the top and bottom end of the scale. This change does not appear to have had a significant impact on assessed levels of housing need although some more detailed output have been affected by this change (these are noted where relevant).
- 5.25 Figure 5.6 shows how the distribution of income varies for each of the seven Housing Market Areas (along with figures for the mean and median income). The data shows that the lowest incomes were expected to be found in Leominster, closely followed by Bromyard. The area with the highest average income was Ledbury – the mean in this area was estimated to be around 13% higher than in the Leominster HMA.

	Figure	5.6 Incom	e levels by	y Housing	Market A	rea		
Income band	Herefor d	Leo- minster	Ross	Ledbur y	Brom- yard	Kington	Golden Valley	County
Up to £10k	14.6%	18.3%	12.1%	11.4%	13.3%	18.9%	13.1%	14.4%
£10k to £15k	18.9%	16.9%	18.8%	17.7%	17.1%	17.5%	18.6%	18.3%
£15k to £20k	13.0%	13.5%	12.1%	12.8%	13.6%	13.1%	13.1%	12.9%
£20k to £25k	10.3%	11.1%	12.2%	10.9%	11.3%	10.7%	11.5%	10.9%
£25k to £30k	9.2%	8.2%	8.0%	8.0%	8.3%	8.5%	8.5%	8.6%
£30k to £40k	12.6%	12.8%	13.5%	13.9%	13.2%	12.4%	12.8%	13.0%
£40k to £50k	7.1%	6.2%	7.9%	8.4%	7.9%	6.2%	7.5%	7.3%
£50k to £60k	4.2%	3.7%	4.2%	4.6%	4.2%	3.7%	4.3%	4.1%
£60k to £75k	4.2%	4.1%	4.5%	4.5%	4.4%	4.1%	4.1%	4.3%
£75k+	5.9%	5.0%	6.9%	7.8%	6.7%	4.8%	6.5%	6.2%
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Estimated households	34,779	10,375	13,007	8,463	5,091	4,095	2,570	78,380
Mean	£28,560	£27,172	£30,240	£31,750	£29,855	£26,801	£29,261	£29,015
Median	£21,653	£20,629	£22,947	£24,048	£22,533	£20,352	£22,252	£22,002

Source: JGC Income Modelling (2012)

Price:Income Ratios and Affordability of Market Housing

- 5.26 By combining the income data above and our estimates of property prices it is possible to construct price:income ratios and also look at the proportion of current households who are unable to afford market housing.
- 5.27 Figure 5.7 shows the lower quartile property prices (for a two bedroom home) along with the lower quartile income (calculated from the above distributions) and uses this data to calculate a price:income ratio. Whilst this measure does not imply anything directly about levels of housing need it does provide a good measure of relative affordability levels in different parts of the area and is also a measure that can fairly easily be monitored in future (as recommended in the CLG's Strategic Housing Market Assessment Guidance).
- 5.28 The table shows that the price:income ratio varies from 8.65 in the Ledbury HMA to 10.23 in the Leominster HMA. The differences between areas are largely driven by different income levels.

Figure 5.7 Price:Income Ratios by Housing Market Area						
(prices based on 2 bedroom home)						
Location	Entry-level purchase	Lower quartile	Price:income ratio			
	price	income				
Hereford	£115,000	£12,498	9.20			
Bromyard	£105,000	£11,939	8.79			
Ledbury	£115,000	£13,293	8.65			
Ross	£129,000	£13,907	9.28			
Kington	£115,000	£13,162	8.74			
Leominster	£120,000	£11,728	10.23			
Golden Valley	£129,000	£12,871	10.02			

Source: Online Estate and Letting Agents Survey (October 2012), Income Modelling (2012) Calculations based on 3.5× household income for purchase and 25% of income to be spent on housing for rented properties. Figures for purchase are based on a 100% mortgage for the purposes of comparing the different types of housing.

- 5.29 Following on from this measure we have used the data to make an estimate of the number of households able to afford market housing. Again, this measure does not in itself provide and direct indication of levels of housing need but will provide an indication of in which areas households may be more or less likely to be able to access market housing, without some form of subsidy (e.g. Local Housing Allowance).
- 5.30 To assess affordability we have used the likely income required to access a two-bedroom private rented property. Given the supply of homes we believe that a two-bed home can be considered as the entry-level size in all Housing Market Areas. Private rent costs are used as in income terms a lower income will be required when compared with buying a home. The distribution of income in each HMA are then used to estimate the likely proportion unable to afford that housing cost. The table below shows the income estimated to be required to afford market housing, the number of households unable to afford and the proportion of total households.
- 5.31 Figure 5.8 shows that across the County it is estimated that around 56% of households are unable to access market housing (i.e. private rental without benefits) on the basis of income levels. The area with the lowest proportion unable to afford is Ross (at 53%) with the highest figures being estimated in the Hereford HMA at 58%.

Formatte spelling or

January 2013

Figure 5.8 Estimated Proportion of Households Unable to afford Market Housing (2-bed Property) without Subsidy								
НМА	Income required to access market	Households unable to afford market housing	Estimated total households (2012)	% of households unable to afford				
Hereford	£25,200	20,354	35,187	57.8%				
Leominster	£22,800	5,994	10,523	57.0%				
Ross	£24,000	7,006	13,107	53.4%				
Ledbury	£26,400	4,654	8,529	54.6%				
Bromyard	£26,400	2,931	5,134	57.1%				
Kington	£22,320	2,247	4,120	54.5%				
Golden Valley	£25,200	1,455	2,585	56.3%				
Total	-	44,641	79,185	56.4%				

Source: Online Estate and Letting Agents Survey (October 2012) and Income Modelling (2012)

Housing Needs Methodology

5.32 The figures presented in this report for affordable housing needs have been based on secondary data sources including analysis of the HomePoint Housing Register. The housing needs modelling undertaken provides an assessment of housing need for a five year period (which is then annualised) with longer term estimates of likely requirements being provided through our Housing Market model (which looks at the impact of demographic change on requirements in both the affordable and market sectors). Each of the stages of the housing needs model calculation are discussed below.

Current Housing Need (Backlog)

- 5.33 The backlog of housing need (for affordable housing) has been based on the number of households registered on the Housing Register - at the time of the assessment there were 4,664 households registered for housing with HomePoint. This figure does not however represent our estimate of backlog need.
- 5.34 The Housing Register includes an assessment of the level of priority for housing of each household; this is split into four bands: Gold (with priority), Gold, Silver and Bronze. The first three of these bands are considered to be households with a genuine need and have been assessed in line with the CLGs 'reasonable preference categories' to determine housing need. The reasonable preferences categories are in-turn similar to the categories used in CLGs Strategic Housing Market Assessment guidance. The table below shows the number of households in each band along with the relevant HMA.

- 5.35 The HMA in which a household is placed has been based on postcode information regarding their correspondence address other than those of no fixed abode or Out of County (which may have a correspondence address within Herefordshire but are separately identified on the HomePoint Register).
- 5.36 The data shows that overall around 63% of households fall into one of the reasonable preference category bands with figures varying from 50% in Bromyard to 63% in Hereford and Ledbury. Virtually all households of no fixed abode are in a reasonable preference category whilst those living outside the county are relatively less likely to be given preference.
- 5.37 In taking the HomePoint analysis forward we have assigned those of no fixed abode and Out of County to specific sub-areas. This has been done on the basis of correspondence addresses where possible and on a pro-rata basis where no locational data is available.

	Figure 5.9 Housing Register priority banding by HMA								
НМА	Gold (with priority)	Gold	Silver	Bronze	Total	Total gold/ silver	% gold/ silver		
Hereford	156	348	958	849	2,311	1,462	63.3%		
Leominster	19	72	189	180	460	280	60.9%		
Ross	13	54	189	173	429	256	59.7%		
Ledbury	3	49	111	95	258	163	63.2%		
Bromyard	1	24	60	86	171	85	49.7%		
Kington	1	28	68	73	170	97	57.1%		
Golden Valley	0	10	18	26	54	28	51.9%		
No fixed abode	29	119	203	8	359	351	97.8%		
Out of County	11	27	175	239	452	213	47.1%		
Total	233	731	1,971	1,729	4,664	2,935	62.9%		

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012

January 2013

- 5.38 Therefore in total there are 2,935 households who are considered to be in housing need. We have further discounted this figure to take account of households already living in social rented or other affordable housing. This is because such households (although they are in need) will release an affordable home when they move and there will therefore be no net requirement for additional affordable housing to be provided.
- 5.39 Figure 5.10 below therefore shows an estimate of the net backlog of need taking account of transfers. The number of households where no locational information was available have been spread pro-rata with those households for whom we do have such information and so the need figures in the table (other than the total) do not match those in the table above.

5.40 Figure 5.10 shows an estimated transfer supply of 972 homes – this leaves a 1,963 in a priority group who are not currently resident in affordable housing. The modelled income data (suitably adjusted to take account of lower incomes of households who are registered) suggests that of the 1,963 households we would expect around 87% to not be able to afford lower quartile housing costs without the need to claim housing benefit – the overall backlog need is therefore 1,708 households. The need is highest in the Hereford HMA (1,105) and lowest in Bromyard, Kington and Golden Valley.

Figure 5.10 Estimated backlog need by HMA							
НМА	In priority group	Transfers	Non-transfers	% unable to afford	Backlog need		
Hereford	1,819	559	1,260	87.7%	1,105		
Leominster	350	118	232	85.7%	199		
Ross	306	106	200	84.8%	170		
Ledbury	195	94	101	86.0%	87		
Bromyard	113	39	74	87.7%	65		
Kington	118	46	72	86.2%	62		
Golden Valley	34	10	24	86.5%	21		
Total	2,935	972	1,963	87.0%	1,708		

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012

- 5.41 Whilst the analysis above has excluded transfers it is worth briefly considering the potential mismatch of the sizes of homes required compared to the sizes likely to released. The table below, Figure 5.11, shows that for the whole County the two are fairly in balance.
- 5.42 In total 70.6% of households require 1 or 2 bedroom homes compared with 69.8% currently living in this size of accommodation. There is evidence of a very small mismatch for larger (4+ bedroom) homes although the number of households involved in quite negligible in the context of the overall analysis. Therefore the exclusion of transfers from our analysis will not impact on the housing needs figures to any notable degree although it is possible that there are some small localised mismatches.

Figure 5.11: Size requirements of Transfers							
Size of accommodation	Size occupied	Size required					
0/1 bedroom	25.9%	39.8%					
2 bedrooms	43.9%	30.8%					
3 bedrooms	26.0%	24.6%					
4+ bedrooms 4.2% 4.8%							
Total	100.0%	100.0%					

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012

Newly Arising Need

- 5.43 To estimate newly arising (projected future) need we have looked at two key groups of households based on the CLGs SHMA guidance. These are:
 - Newly forming households

January 2013

- Existing households falling into need
- 5.44 For newly forming households we have estimated (through our demographic modelling) the number of new households likely to form over the five year period and then applied an affordability test. The number of newly forming households are limited to households forming who are aged under 45. This methodology is recognised in guidance as a robust method for assessing the number of newly forming households.
- 5.45 Whilst the methodology estimates the number of newly forming households it is recognised that some of these will actually move away from the County to secure housing. However, there will also be new households moving to the area for other local authorities. It is therefore assumed that the number of in and out-migrant households will roughly be in balance. This assumption is in line with guidance.
- 5.46 In terms of affordability we have been able to use our HMA level income data to provide a localised estimate of the likely proportion of households unable to afford market housing. Our assessment suggests that overall around 68% of new households will be unable to afford market housing. There is some variation by HMA with 35% of new households in Ross estimated to be able to afford compared with only 30% in the Hereford HMA.

Figure 5.11: Estimated level of Housing Need from Newly Forming Households (Five Year Period)							
НМА	Number of new % unable to afford Total in need households % unable to afford Total in need						
Hereford	3,122	70.2%	2,191				
Leominster	1,003	66.6%	668				
Ross	976	64.5%	630				
Ledbury	656	67.1%	440				
Bromyard	407	69.3%	282				
Kington	Kington 317 67.0% 212						
Golden Valley	152	67.5%	102				
Total	6,632	68.2%	4,525				

Source: GL Hearn/JGC Projection Modelling

- 5.47 The second element of newly arising need is existing households falling into need. To assess this we have again used the HomePoint Housing Register data. We have looked at all applications made over the past five years who still remain on the register as of January 2011. This reflects the unmet need from households joining the register over the past five years. From this we have again excluded households in the Bronze Band as well as any newly forming households (e.g. those currently living with family).
- 5.48 Figure 5.12 below therefore shows our estimate of likely new need from existing households over the next five years by HMA. The data shows an additional need arising from 1,359 households, with over half of these being in the Hereford HMA.

Figure 5.12: Estimated Level of Housing Need from Existing Households (Five Year Period)							
НМА	Number of existing households falling into need	% of need					
Hereford	804	59.2%					
Leominster	169	12.4%					
Ross	148	10.9%					
Ledbury	101	7.5%					
Bromyard	56	4.1%					
Kington	67	4.9%					
Golden Valley	15	1.1%					
Total	1,359	100.0%					

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012

Supply of Affordable Housing

- 5.49 The supply of affordable housing has been based on information provided by HomePoint about properties that have been let over the past five years. Overall, there have been 4,135 lettings over the past five years (an average of 827 per annum). The number of lettings has been roughly constant over this time and so is likely to be a reasonable guide to the future supply of affordable housing.
- 5.50 Within the supply of affordable housing are figures for intermediate housing; these are split into shared ownership, low cost market housing and intermediate rent. In total, some 1.8% of the supply is intermediate housing, ranging from 0.4% in Kington to 5.0% in Bromyard.
- 5.51 Figure 5.13 below shows the affordable housing supply over the past five years in each HMA. Around half of the total is in Hereford with the lowest supply being found in Kington and Golden Valley.

Figure	Figure 5.13: Estimated Supply of Affordable Housing (five years) by HMA						
НМА	Shared ownership	Low cost market	Intermed- iate rent	Social Rented	Total	% inter- mediate	
Hereford	25	1	4	1,985	2,015	1.5%	
Leominster	14	0	5	658	677	2.8%	
Ross	2	0	1	492	495	0.6%	
Ledbury	3	0	0	336	339	0.9%	
Bromyard	0	4	12	302	318	5.0%	
Kington	0	0	1	231	232	0.4%	
Golden Valley	1	0	0	58	59	1.7%	
Total	45	5	23	4,062	4,135	1.8%	

Source: HomePoint Housing Register January 2011

Net Housing Need

5.52 Figure 5.14 below shows our overall calculation of housing need. The data shows an overall need for affordable housing of 3,457 units over the next five years. Around three-fifths of the need (60.3%) is expected to arise in the Hereford HMA with the lowest level being found in Bromyard (85 units over the next five years) and Golden Valley (79 units). Overall, the data confirms that there is a requirement for additional affordable housing to be provided in all parts of the County.

5.53 The estimated level of housing need (of 3,457) is slightly higher than was estimated in the original LHMA (2,837). This looks to be largely attributable to a higher estimate of new household formation rates and is due to the analysis in this report considering new households forming up to the age of 45 rather than a figure of 35 previously used.

	Figure 5.14: Estimated level of housing need (2012-17)							
НМА	Backlog	Newly-	Existing	Total Need	Supply	Net Need		
	Need	Forming	Households					
		Households	falling into					
			Need					
Hereford	1,105	2,191	804	4,099	2,015	2,084		
Leominster	199	668	169	1,035	677	358		
Ross	170	630	148	947	495	452		
Ledbury	87	440	101	628	339	289		
Bromyard	65	282	56	403	318	85		
Kington	62	212	67	341	232	109		
Golden	21	102	15	138	59	79		
Valley								
Total	1,708	4,525	1,359	7,592	4,135	3,457		
Urban areas	1,357	2,949	1,058	5,364	3,108	2,256		
Rural areas	350	1,576	301	2,228	1,027	1,201		
Total	1,708	4,525	1,359	7,592	4,135	3,457		

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012, Projection Modelling

5.54 This analysis does not take account at this point of affordable housing with planning consent which is expected to be delivered over the 2012-17 period.

Role of the Private Rented Sector in Meeting Housing Need

- 5.55 CLG Housing Market Assessment Guidance requires consideration of the extent of the private rented sector (through the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) system) and its ability to meet the needs of households in need to be estimated. We have therefore used data from the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) to look at the number of LHA supported private rented homes. As of May 2012 it is estimated that there were 4,010 benefit claimants in the private rented sector in the County.
- 5.56 The data in Figure 5.15 below shows that in all areas studied the number of LHA claimants has increased over the two and a half year period although the proportionate increase in Herefordshire is low relative to other locations. This finding is to some degree consistent with 2011 Census analysis which shows a smaller increase in the size of the private rented sector

relative to other areas. The time period for analysis has been used due to this being the longest time series available from the DWP source.

Figure 5.15: Number of people claiming LHA in private rented sector (August 2009 and May							
2012)							
Area	August 2009	May 2012	Absolute	% change			
			change				
Herefordshire	3,310	4,010	700	21.1%			
West Midlands 106,880 137,710 30,830 28.8%							
Great Britain	1,272,640	1,645,730	373,090	29.3%			
	Courses Depertures	t of Moule and Day					

Source: Department of Work and Pensions

- 5.57 This information does not tell us how many lettings are made each year to tenants claiming benefit as this will depend on the turnover of stock. Nationally (from the 2010/11 English Housing Survey) it is estimated that the turnover of private rented properties is around 35% (the highest of any tenure category). In addition, comparing EHS data with DWP data suggests that the number of households claiming is around 75% of the number of claimants (this arises due to multiple claimants living in the same dwelling). If these figures are applied to Herefordshire then this would equate to around 1,050 lettings per annum.
- 5.58 Over the five year projection period used for analysis we also need to take account of households making multiple moves within the private rented sector. Again assuming a turnover rate of 35% we estimate that this would mean that over five years some 2,660 households will have their needs met through the private rented sector.
- 5.59 It is not however appropriate to treat this sector as a form of affordable housing and net it from the overall annual housing needs estimate of 3,457 affordable homes (2012-17). Neither the SHMA Guidance (CLG, 2007) nor the NPPF (CLG, 2012) recognise this sector as affordable housing.
- 5.60 However, it should be recognised that, in practice, the private rented sector does make a significant contribution to filling the gap in relation to meeting housing need and given the levels of affordable housing need shown in this study, the private rented sector is likely to continue to be used to some degree to make up for the shortfall of genuine affordable housing for the foreseeable future.
- 5.61 The extent to which the Council wishes to see the private rented sector being used to make up for shortages of affordable housing is a matter for policy intervention and is outside the scope of this report. However it should be recognised that the Private Rented Sector does not

provide secure tenancies and that standards within the sector are likely to be lower than for social rented properties. Furthermore there are households with specific housing needs who may not be able to find suitable accommodation within the Private Rented Sector.

5.62 Given the role played by the private rented sector in providing housing for those unable to afford and unable to access affordable housing (due to lack of supply), the housing needs analysis per se does not provide a strong basis for considering overall future housing requirements.

Need for Different Types of Affordable Housing

- 5.63 Having studied housing costs, incomes and housing need the next step is to make an estimate of the proportion of need that should be met through provision of different housing products. We therefore use the income information presented earlier in this section to estimate the proportion of households who are likely to be able to afford intermediate housing and the number for whom only social rented housing will be affordable.
- 5.64 The main data sources for establishing housing need are the Housing Register and projections of newly-forming households. In both cases income levels are likely to be significantly below local averages. In the case of those on or joining the Housing Register it would be fair to assume that these households have similar characteristics to current social housing tenants (given that they are applying for a social tenancy) whilst newly-forming households also tend to have lower incomes than average.
- 5.65 Drawing on data from the Survey of English Housing (now English Housing Survey) over a number of years we have been able to establish that the average incomes of social tenants is around 48% of the figure for all households whilst newly forming households typically have an average income of 78% of the average. These figures are remarkably consistent over time.
- 5.66 In Herefordshire we have therefore adjusted the overall household income data to reflect the lower averages for the two groups of interest. The adjustments have been made by changing the income bands such that income levels are 48% and 78% of the all household average. In doing this we are able to calculate the proportion of households unable to afford who might be able to afford intermediate housing (to rent) and those who can only afford a social rent¹⁸.
- 5.67 To study the gap between market prices/rents and the costs of social rented and affordable rented housing we have looked at two bedroom homes (which are likely to be the main point

¹⁸ Households ability to buy shared ownership or equity properties will be influenced by their savings as well

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 86 of 217

of market entry for newly forming households). To set out market entry income level we have taken figures relating to the private rented sector (as per the overall affordability test set out earlier in the section).

- 5.68 To assess the income required to access intermediate housing we have taken a figure of 80% of market rents (which would also equate to a typical maximum affordable rent level). The table below shows figures for our assumed market entry income level and the income below which social rented housing will be required. Any household with an income in the gap between these two figures is assumed to be able to afford intermediate housing.
- 5.69 Generally the figures do not vary much between different HMAs this is due to the price/rent survey not uncovering particularly great price differentials between different areas for private rented homes. An income above £22,000 to £26,000 is deemed sufficient to afford market housing with households with incomes below about £18,000 to £21,000 deemed likely to require social rented housing.

Figure 5.16: Income Range for Access to Intermediate Housing							
НМА	Income required to access	Income required at 80% of					
	market housing	market					
Hereford	£25,200	£20,160					
Leominster	£22,800	£18,240					
Ross	£24,000	£19,200					
Ledbury	£26,400	£21,120					
Bromyard	£26,400	£21,120					
Kington	£22,320	£17,860					
Golden Valley	£25,200	£20,160					

Source: Online Estate and Letting Agents Survey (January 2011) and RSR 2011

- 5.70 Figure 5.17 below shows the estimated number of households in need able to afford each of intermediate and social/affordable rented housing. The gross number in need cannot be directly translated into targets for different types of affordable housing as this will in part depend on the relative supply of each of social rented and intermediate housing. The table also provides information about supply to estimate the overall intermediate housing requirement and how this varies by sub-area.
- 5.71 Figure 5.17 shows that overall there is likely to be a requirement for 2,589 additional units of social/affordable rented housing and 868 intermediate. This is a split of 75%:25% in favour of social/affordable rented housing. In proportionate terms the data suggest a greater

requirement for intermediate housing in Bromyard and Kington with Hereford and Golden Valley having greater requirements for social/affordable rented homes.

Figure 5.17: Estimated level of housing need (five years) by intermediate/social/affordable rented housing							
НМА		Intermediate		Afford	able/Social I	Rented	
	Total need	Supply	Net need	Total need	Supply	Net need	
Hereford	490	30	460	3,610	1,985	1,625	
Leominster	133	19	114	902	658	244	
Ross	126	3	123	820	492	328	
Ledbury	81	3	78	547	336	211	
Bromyard	50	16	34	353	302	51	
Kington	43	1	42	298	231	67	
Golden	17	1	16	121	58	63	
Valley							
Total	941	73	868	6,651	4,062	2,589	

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012, Projection Modelling

5.72 Figure 5.18 below separates out affordable rent from social rent – this distinction was not made in above as we do not have information about the likely supply of social rent vs. affordable rent in the future. It is possible that some social relets will be at an affordable rather than a social rent. To derive the figures below we have made an assumption that the proportion of supply in the affordable/social rent category is broadly equivalent to the proportion of need in each category. The table suggests that within the social/affordable category there should be roughly a 70:30 split in favour of social renting.

Figure 5.18: Estimated level of housing need (five years) by intermediate/social/affordable rented housing (percentages)								
НМА	Intermediate	Affordable rent	Social rent	Total				
Hereford	22.1%	24.2%	53.8%	100.0%				
Leominster	31.9%	14.6%	53.5%	100.0%				
Ross	27.3%	20.1%	52.5%	100.0%				
Ledbury	27.1%	17.7%	55.3%	100.0%				
Bromyard	40.1%	35.8%	24.1%	100.0%				
Kington	38.4%	5.3%	56.3%	100.0%				
Golden Valley	20.8%	21.8%	57.4%	100.0%				
Total	25.1%	21.7%	53.1%	100.0%				
	05.40/	04.00/	ED 40/	400.00/				
Urban areas	25.1%	21.8%	53.1%	100.0%				
Rural areas	25.1%	21.6%	53.3%	100.0%				
Total	25.1%	21.7%	53.1%	100.0%				

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 88 of 217
Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012, Projection Modelling

- 5.73 This is however based on analysis of housing needs. It is to some extent an artificial distinction as the client group for these tenure categories is similar, and households would be able to claim Housing Benefit in Affordable Rented homes. In setting and applying policies, this analysis should be brought together with evidence of development viability.
- 5.74 Compared with the initial LHMA this update suggests a greater role for social rented housing to meet needs. The original LHMA suggested that 44% of additional affordable housing should be social rented compared with 53% shown above. This difference is largely driven by our amendment of income distributions in the County with a greater proportion of households estimated to have lower incomes than previously modelled. This has the impact of increasing the number assessed as only able to afford social renting. At a HMA level we have also seen notable differences with all areas other than Hereford now projected to have a higher requirement for social rented housing this is linked to the income distribution in each location along with the supply of different types of affordable housing.

Housing Need Size Requirements

- 5.75 In addition to studying the level of housing need the information from the HomePoint database can be used to establish the sizes of accommodation required and also the supply of different sizes. The information is available for both the backlog of need and the existing households falling into need categories and we have separately studied each of these.
- 5.76 Figure 5.19 below sets out the existing supply of affordable housing in each of the HMAs by number of bedrooms.

Figure	Figure 5.19: Estimated supply of affordable housing by size and HMA										
НМА	1 bedroom	2 bedrooms	3 bedrooms	4+ bedrooms	Total						
Hereford	814	809	359	33	2,015						
Leominster	256	222	192	7	677						
Ross	234	167	81	13	495						
Ledbury	129	142	62	6	339						
Bromyard	153	107	52	6	318						
Kington	68	99	59	6	232						
Golden Valley	19	31	8	1	59						
Total	1,673	1,577	813	72	4,135						

Source: Derived from HomePoint Housing Register October 2012

Backlog

5.77 Figure 5.20 shows the size requirements of the backlog of housing need. The majority of households only require one bedroom and in total only 13.1% require three or more bedrooms. If however we include transfer cases (which were excluded from the main housing needs model) then we see a slightly different profile of size requirements. The table below shows that a greater proportion of households require larger accommodation and fewer need one bedroom homes.

Figure 5.20: Size requirements for Backlog Need										
Size	Backlo	g need	Backlog need (including transfers)							
requirements	Total number	%	Total number	%						
1 bedroom	1,177	60.0%	1,564	53.3%						
2 bedrooms	530	27.0%	829	28.2%						
3 bedrooms	217	11.1%	456	15.5%						
4+ bedrooms	39	2.0%	86	2.9%						
Total	1,963	100.0%	2,935	100.0%						

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012

Existing Households falling into Need

5.78 When we look at our category of existing households falling into need (which is based on registrations to the Housing Register over the past five years that have not been re-housed) we see a somewhat different pattern. Generally, this category of need has a greater proportion of households needing larger accommodation with a total of 28.2% needing three or more bedrooms and 4.5% four or more. Excluding transfer cases shows a slightly lower requirement for larger homes but this is still much bigger than the equivalent figures for our backlog need.

	F	Figure 5.21: Size requirements for Existing Households falling into Need											
		Size	Nev	v need ex	need existing households New r			need exis	ting hous	seholds			
	requir	rements		(ex	cluding tra	ansfers)	(including trans			insfers)			
			Total	number		%	Total number			%			
11	bedroom		295		42.1%		625		39.9%				
2 b	edrooms		227		32.4%		499		31.9%				
3 b	edrooms		148		21.1%		371		23.7%				
4+ be	edrooms	30			4.3%		70	70 4.					
	Total		700		100.0%		1,565		100.0%				

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012

Supply of Affordable Housing

5.79 Turning to the supply of affordable housing we can look at the size of properties that have be let over the past five years –this is shown in the table below. The table shows that the main supply has been one bedroom accommodation with only 1.7% having four or more bedrooms.

Figure 5.2	Figure 5.21: Supply of Affordable Housing by Size										
Size of accommodation	Number	%									
1 bedroom	1,673	40.5%									
2 bedrooms	1,577	38.1%									
3 bedrooms	813	19.7%									
4+ bedrooms	72	1.7%									
Total	4,135	100.0%									

Source: HomePoint Housing Register October 2012

Combining the Information

- 5.80 Below we have provided a table, Figure 5.22, combining the information from the various analyses above. The table takes a simple crude average of all of the different measures of need and compares this with the supply of affordable housing. These figures have been grossed up to the figures in the main housing needs model to provide a suggested net need level by size some caution should however be exercised when using this data as the stages of the model are not directly comparable with our main analysis (the size model includes transfer cases and does not provide information about the requirements of newly forming households).
- 5.81 The data suggests that the main requirement will be for one bedroom accommodation; however, as the last column shows the pressure is greatest on four (or more) bedroom stock with the supply only estimated to be able to meet around 27% of the need.

	Figure 5.22: Overall Estimated Housing Need by Size												
Accomi size	modation	Gross N	leed	Supp	bly	Net Ne	ed	% of n neec		Supply % of G Nee	ross		
	1 b	edroom		3,683		1,673		2,010		58.1%		45.4%	
	2 be	drooms		2,236		1,577		659		19.1%		70.5%	
	3 bedrooms			1,404		813		591		17.1%		57.9%	
	4+ be	drooms		269		72		197		5.7%		26.7%	

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 92

Total	7,592	4,135	3,457	100.0%	54.5%				
Ocurrent Derived from Users Point Usersian Derivter October 2010, 9 Democranship Designations									

Source: Derived from HomePoint Housing Register October 2012 & Demographic Projections

5.82 We can also provide this information for each HMA and this is shown in the table below. The table shows some interesting differences between sub-areas with Leominster and Bromyard showing a large requirement for four or more bedroom homes and Leominster (and Kington) a high need for smaller accommodation. Further information about longer-term size requirements can be found as part of our demographic model later in this section.

F	igure 5.23:	Overa	all Estima	ited H	ousing N	eed b	y Size an	d HM	Α			
HMA	IA 1-be		d 2-be		d 3-bed		d 4+ be		Tota	ıl		
Here	Leominster77Ross54Ledbury46		7.3%	18	3.6%	18	8.5%	Ę	5.7%	10	0.0%	
Leon			7.1%	2′	1.6%	-1	0.4%	1	1.7%	10	0.0%	
Ross			4.4%	18	3.4%	28	8.2%	_	1.1%	10	0.0%	
Ledb			6.8%	22.3%		22.7%		8.2%		10	100.0%	
Bron			45.8% 2		9.9% 8		8.4% 1		15.9%		100.0%	
King	ton	64	4.7%	23	23.1%	12.2%		0.0%		10	0.0%	
Gold	en Valley	6	1.6%	-5	5.0%	3	7.8%	Ę	5.6%	10	0.0%	
Tota		58	8.1%	19	9.1%	17.1%		Ę	5.7%	10	0.0%	
Urba	Urban areas 58		8.3%	17	7.3%	18	8.6%	Ę	5.7%	10	0.0%	
Rura	l areas	5	7.8%	22	2.3%	14	4.2%	Ę	5.6%	10	0.0%	
Tota	l	5	B.1%	19	Э.1%	1	7.1%	Ę	5.7%	10	0.0%	

Source: Derived from HomePoint Housing Register October 2012 & Demographic Projections

Future Housing Requirements by Type and Size

Introduction

- 5.83 This section follows on from our analysis of housing need by looking at longer-term implications of demographic change on the whole housing market (both market and affordable housing). To understand future changes we have developed a demographic model which shows how the profile of the population is expected to change across Herefordshire (and for individual HMAs) over the 20-year period from 2011 to 2031.
- 5.84 The model was originally developed to inform the 2011 Local Housing Market Assessment and has been updated to take account of new information from the 2011 Census about the population profile and the number of households in the County.

5.85 Figure 5.24 below shows the wards that make up each of the HMAs for the purposes of this analysis and also the housing numbers for each area where relevant. The table shows that targets have been set for the six urban areas with a figure of 5,300 homes to be split between rural parts of the county – the estimate of housing requirements for each of these has been derived in earlier demographic analysis (which has been updated for the purposes of this report). In total, between 2011 and 2031 it is proposed for 16,500 additional dwellings to be provided.

Figure 5.24: Herefordsh	ire Housing Market Areas and Pi	roposed Housing Provision
НМА	Sub-area	Proposed/ Modelled Housing Provision
Hereford	Hereford	6,500
	Hereford rural	1,870
Leominster	Leominster	2,300
	Leominster rural	730
Ross-on-Wye	Ross-on-Wye	900
	Ross-on-Wye rural	1,150
Ledbury	Ledbury	800
	Ledbury rural	565
Bromyard	Bromyard	500
	Bromyard rural	365
Kington	Kington	200
	Kington rural	317
Golden Valley	NA	304
TOTAL	-	16,500

5.86 The emerging Core Strategy does not split the target for rural areas between the different HMA, and these have therefore been estimated for modelling purposes based on the existing level of households in each.

Household Numbers

- 5.87 Figure 5.25 below sets out the increase in households derived from our modelling exercise. The table shows estimated household numbers in both 2011 and 2031 and also the increase in households that this represents. The total figures are slightly below the figures for the housing growth as the modelling has included a small (2.5%) vacancy allowance in translating household growth into a housing requirement.
- 5.88 Figure 5.25 shows that the number of households is expected to increase from 78,380 in 2011 to 94,478 in 2031 an increase of 16,098 or 20.5%. Of the sub-areas, only Leominster

and Hereford show growth levels above the county average (44% and 26% respectively) whilst the lowest figure shown is for Golden Valley (at 11.5%). In all HMAs the rural areas show lower housing requirements than urban areas.

Figure	5.25: Herefordshire	estimated housi	ng requirements	by HMA and Sul	b-Area
НМА	Sub-area	2011	2031	Change 2011-	% change
		households	households	2031	
Hereford	Hereford	24,718	31,059	6,341	25.7%
	Hereford rural	10,062	11,886	1,824	18.1%
Leominster	Leominster	5,128	7,372	2,244	43.8%
	Leominster rural	5,247	5,959	712	13.6%
Ross	Ross-on-Wye	4,685	5,564	878	18.7%
	Ross-on-Wye rural	8,321	9,443	1,121	13.5%
Ledbury	Ledbury	4,556	5,336	781	17.1%
	Ledbury rural	3,907	4,458	551	14.1%
Bromyard	Bromyard	2,693	3,181	488	18.1%
	Bromyard rural	2,398	2,754	356	14.8%
Kington	Kington	1,431	1,626	195	13.6%
	Kington rural	2,664	2,973	309	11.6%
Golden Valley	NA	2,570	2,867	297	11.5%
TOTAL	-	78,380	94,478	16,098	20.5%

5.89 Figure 5.26 below shows this same information but for the whole of each HMA (i.e. adding the urban and rural parts together where appropriate). In addition we have added rows for all urban and rural areas separately. Overall, the data confirms the higher housing requirements in Hereford and Leominster with the Golden Valley HMA showing the lowest change in households/housing requirements.

of 217 January 2013

Figure 5.26: Herefordshire Estimated Housing Requirements by HMA and Urban/Rural Classification											
НМА	2011 households	2031 households	Change 2011- 2031	% change							
Hereford	34,779	42,945	8,166	23.5%							
Leominster	10,375	13,331	2,956	28.5%							
Ross	13,007	15,006	2,000	15.4%							
Ledbury	8,463	9,794	1,332	15.7%							
Bromyard	5,091	5,935	843	16.6%							
Kington	4,095	4,599	504	12.3%							
Golden Valley	2,570	2,867	297	11.5%							
TOTAL	78,380	94,478	16,098	20.5%							
Urban	43,211	54,138	10,927	25.3%							
Rural	35,169	40,340	5,171	14.7%							
TOTAL	78,380	94,478	16,098	20.5%							

Changing Demographic Profile

- 5.90 With the change in the number of households will come a change in the make-up of the population This is due to both overall changes in the number of people and also due to the changing age structure particularly relating to the ageing population. Detailed information derived from our modelling exercise has been used to estimate what impact demographic change might have on housing requirements and below we set out some broad data to show how local demography is expected to change under the household numbers derived and presented above.
- 5.91 Figure 5.27 shows the number of household representatives in each of five broad age bands in 2011 and 2031. The data shows that there are only expected to be notable increases in household representatives in the oldest age bands – this reflects the ageing population in Herefordshire (in common with many parts of the country).



5.92 We now use this information to consider in more detail the implications of demographic drivers on demand for different housing products. The analysis uses the information available about the size and structure of the population to consider what impact this may have on the types and sizes of housing required in the future.

Housing Market Requirements - Methodology

- 5.93 As with converting population data into households it is not a simple task to convert the net increase in the number of households in to a suggested profile for additional housing to be provided. The main reason for this is that in the market sector households are able to buy or rent any size of property (subject to what they can afford) and therefore knowledge of the profile of households in an area does not directly transfer into the types of property to be provided. The size of housing which households occupy relates more to their wealth and age than the number of people which they contain.
- 5.94 For example, there is no reason why a single person cannot buy (or choose to live in) a four bedroom home as long as they can afford it and hence projecting an increase in single person households does not automatically translate in to a need for smaller units.
- 5.95 Figure 5.28 below demonstrates this using data from the Survey of English Housing about the proportion of households who under-occupy their dwellings. It can be seen that nationally over a third of households under-occupy with a slightly higher figure in the West Midlands. Over the past few years levels of under-occupancy have increased although in both cases (England and the West Midlands) this change is only around 1%.



Source: Survey of English Housing 2002-2011

5.96 The data therefore suggests that it would be reasonable for our projection to assume that households will continue to occupy dwellings in the same way in the future as they do currently. Our projections for housing types are developed on this basis.

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 98 of 217

- 5.97 The general methodology is therefore to use the information derived in the projections about the number of Household Reference Persons (HRPs), i.e. heads of households, in each age and sex group and apply this to the profile of housing within these groups. The data for this analysis has been formed from a commissioned table by ONS (Table C1213) - an extract of this is shown in the figure below. In addition, a further table (C1212) was commissioned from ONS to provide this data at ward level - to allow information to be built up into the seven HMAs and the market towns within these (where relevant).
- 5.98 The extract shows the number of male owner occupiers in selected age groups along with the size of accommodation that they occupy. By estimating how the number of HRPs in each age group changes over time we are also able to estimate the profile of housing that they would be likely to occupy.
- 5.99 The table shows for example that 27.3% of male HRPs aged 25 to 29 live in a home with six or more rooms, for the 45 to 49 age group this figure rises to 64.2%. The age profile of HRPs will therefore have an impact on the sizes of homes we would expect to be occupied. From the Commissioned Table information is available for all HRP age bands up to 85+ and for both sexes. In addition, information is available about the types of accommodation occupied (which we have split into houses and flats).

			lousing			y - nereio						
Dwelling	Age of Household Reference Person											
size -	25	-29	30	-34	35	-39	40	-44	45-49			
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%		
1 room	29	1.2%	27	0.7%	33	0.6%	28	0.6%	21	0.4%		
2 rooms	117	5.0%	81	2.0%	91	1.7%	58	1.2%	74	1.5%		
3 rooms	247	10.5%	266	6.7%	275	5.2%	154	3.1%	181	3.8%		
4 rooms	669	28.5%	719	18.2%	637	12.1%	460	9.2%	382	8.0%		
5 rooms	643	27.4%	1,079	27.3%	1,273	24.1%	1,069	21.4%	1,049	21.9%		
6 rooms	385	16.4%	872	22.0%	1,164	22.1%	1,061	21.3%	958	20.0%		
7 rooms	128	5.5%	442	11.2%	652	12.4%	787	15.8%	724	15.1%		
8+ rooms	126	5.4%	469	11.9%	1,151	21.8%	1,367	27.4%	1,392	29.1%		
Total	2,344	100.0%	3,955	100.0%	5,276	100.0%	4,984	100.0%	4,781	100.0%		

Figure 5.29: Extract from ONS Commissioned Table C1213 – Male HRPs in Owner-Occupied lousing by Size of Dwelling - Herefordship

Source: ONS Commissioned Table C1213

5.100 When using the data from the Census we have made some adjustments to provide the best possible outputs. The main problem is that the Census only collects information about the number of rooms in a home rather than the number of bedrooms (which is more useful in considering dwelling sizes). Data about the number of rooms in a dwelling has therefore been adjusted to provide an estimate of the number of bedrooms. The table below shows the

assumptions used to make this conversion. Information in the table has been based on a range of surveys where information about both bedrooms and rooms was collected.

Figure 5.30: Relationship between the Number of Rooms and Number of Bedrooms											
Number of		Number of bedrooms									
rooms	1 bedroom	Total									
1-3 rooms	76%	24%	0%	0%	100%						
4 rooms	3%	79%	18%	0%	100%						
5 rooms	0%	15%	83%	2%	100%						
6 rooms	0%	5%	82%	13%	100%						
7 rooms	0%	1%	40%	59%	100%						
8+ rooms	0%	0%	12%	88%	100%						

Source: JGC analysis of survey data

5.101 Figure 5.31 below shows an estimate of how the average number of bedrooms varies by different ages of HRP and different sexes. The figure shows that in the market sector the average size of accommodation rises over time to typically reach a peak around the 40-54 age groups; in the affordable sector this peak appears earlier (in the 35-39 age group). After sizes peak the average dwelling size decreases – possibly due to a number of people down-sizing as they get older. It is also notable that the average size for affordable housing dwellings are lower than those for market housing whilst in market housing male HRPs live in larger accommodation for all age groups – there is no discernable trend between the sexes in the affordable sector.



Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 100 of 217

of 217 January 2013 5.102 A second adjustment is fairly minor and involves the house type 'other' (typically mobile homes, houseboats or temporary structures). This category does not fit comfortably in to either the flat or house category used in our analysis. For the purpose of our projections we have therefore excluded this group of dwellings. The 2001 Census suggests that less than 1% of dwellings fall in to the category of other and so this assumption will again have no real impact on our outputs.

Baseline Position

- 5.103 As of 2011 it is estimated that there were 78,380 households living in the County. Analysis of these households based on headship rates and the size, type and tenure of homes provides us with the following estimate of the profile of the housing stock in 2011.
- 5.104 The table shows that it is estimated that around 15% of households live in affordable housing with 85% being in the market sector. The data also suggests that homes in the market sector are generally bigger than in the affordable sector with 78% having three or more bedrooms compared to 43% for affordable housing. The data about the split between flats and houses suggests that around 7% of homes in the market sector are flats compared with 34% of affordable housing.

Figure 5.32: Estimated Profile of Dwellings in 2011 by Size and Types							
Size/type of	Ma	Market		Affordable		Total	
housing	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	
1 bedroom	3,350	5.1%	2,726	22.6%	6,076	7.8%	
2 bedrooms	11,161	16.8%	4,083	33.9%	15,244	19.4%	
3 bedrooms	31,451	47.4%	4,643	38.5%	36,094	46.0%	
4+ bedrooms	20,368	30.7%	598	5.0%	20,966	26.7%	
Total	66,330	100.0%	12,050	100.0%	78,380	100.0%	
Houses	61,943	93.4%	7,942	65.9%	69,885	89.2%	
Flats	4,387	6.6%	4,108	34.1%	8,495	10.8%	
Total	66,330	100.0%	12,050	100.0%	78,380	100.0%	
% in tenure	84.6%	-	15.4%		100.0%		

Source: Derived from ONS Commissioned Table C1213

Tenure Assumptions and Projections

5.105 Our projections are derived from the modelling process described above. In addition we have also made assumptions relating to the proportion of future housing that will be in the affordable sector. As the housing needs analysis showed there is a significant requirement for additional affordable homes in all parts of the County although realistically delivery will be

driven by viability rather than levels of need. We have therefore taken information from the Council's Affordable Housing Viability study to inform future tenure split in each of the seven HMAs.

5.106 Below we have listed the assumptions applied to our data on the basis of viability. As can be seen the amount of affordable housing likely to be viable varies in different locations from 25% in Leominster to 40% in Bromyard, Ledbury and Ross-on-Wye. Rural areas are assumed to have the same level of affordable housing as their associated market town. The proportions set out are consistent with the Council's emerging Core Strategy and are based on an assessment of economic viability of housing development. A 'best fit' approach has been used to relate the value zones identified within the viability study¹⁹, the Council's emerging Core Strategy policies and the HMA boundaries. The approach adopted assumes that while some sites may not contribute through S106 Agreements this may be counter-balanced by delivery of affordable housing on RSL sites and rural exceptions sites.

Figure 5.33: Levels of Affordable Housing assumed by HMA		
НМА	% affordable	
Hereford	35%	
Leominster	25%	
Ross	40%	
Ledbury	40%	
Bromyard	40%	
Kington	35%	
Golden Valley	35%	

- 5.107 Figure 5.34 below sets out the estimated number of households in 2011 and 2031 split between market and affordable housing. It can be seen that even by assuming the proportions of affordable housing set out above the total proportion of affordable housing by 2031 still only represents 18.6% of the total stock below the national average of around 19%. The modelling process (given different targets in different areas) shows a delivery of 34.5% of housing as affordable under the above percentages county-wide.
- 5.108 It is recognised that a range of factors will affect affordable housing delivery. Affordable housing delivery through Section 106 may fall short of the targets, recognising that it may not be viable on all sites and that some small sites fall outside of the policy. The application of UDP policies will also have had an impact in the early years of the plan. This however is expected to be counter-balanced by delivery through rural exceptions policies, direct

¹⁹ Three Dragons & Roger Tym & Partners (2010)

development by Registered Social Landlords and potential acquisition of properties to meet affordable housing needs.

Figure 5.34: Estimated Split between Market and Affordable Housing 2011 to 2031				
Year	Market housing	Affordable	Total	Affordable as %
real	warket nousing	Housing	TOLAI	Total Stock
2011	66,330	12,050	78,380	15.4%
2031	76,880	17,597	94,478	18.6%

Findings: Market Housing

5.109 Figure 5.35 below shows estimates of the sizes and types of market housing in 2011 and projected to be required in 2031. Data in the final column has been multiplied by 1.025 to take account of the vacancy rate built into the projections for housing requirements (rather than just household change). The data suggests a requirement for 10,814 additional market units with the **majority of these being three bedroom homes**. In addition the data suggests that **the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses or bungalows**.

Figure 5.35: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Herefordshire)				
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031	
1 bedroom	3,350	3,865	528	
2 bedroom	11,161	13,425	2,320	
3 bedroom	31,451	37,268	5,963	
4+ bedroom	20,368	22,322	2,003	
Total	66,330	76,880	10,814	
Houses	61,943	72,163	10,476	
Flats	4,387	4,718	339	
Total	66,330	76,880	10,814	

5.110 Figure 5.36 below show how our estimated market requirement compares with the current stock of housing in the County (figures shown are for households).



5.111 Across the whole of the County it is estimated that 74% of additional market housing should be 'family' sized (3 or more bedrooms) and 26% smaller units (mainly two bedrooms). In addition the analysis suggests a requirement for only 3% of additional homes to be flats (which compares with about 7% of the current stock).



5.112 While the model provides outputs relating to house types, it is recommended that greater emphasis is put on the findings in regard to household size.

Findings: Affordable Housing

- 5.113 Figure 5.38 below shows a similar analysis for affordable housing. The data suggests that there is a fairly even split in requirements between one, two and three bedroom homes with only a small requirement for four bedroom accommodation. Given that the size profile in the affordable sector is generally smaller than in the market sector it is not surprising that the data suggests that a significant proportion of additional homes should be flats.
- 5.114 This analysis provides a longer-term view of requirements for affordable housing than other sources of information such as the Housing Register which is based on a 'snapshot' of current need. In addition the methodology employed here recognises typical occupancy patterns in the affordable sector and is not based on strict definitions of need (such as the bedroom standard). It is therefore not surprising that the findings differ somewhat from Housing Register data which showed in 2012 a majority need for one bedroom homes compared to relatively little need for three or more bedrooms.

Figure 5.38: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Herefordshire)				
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031	
1 bedroom	2,726	4,312	1,626	
2 bedroom	4,083	6,024	1,989	
3 bedroom	4,643	6,460	1,863	
4+ bedroom	598	801	208	
Total	12,050	17,597	5,686	
Houses	7,942	11,647	3,797	
Flats	4,108	5,950	1,889	
Total	12,050	17,597	5,686	

5.115 Figure 5.39 below shows how our estimated affordable requirement compares with the current stock of housing in the County. As with market housing, there is a general shift towards a requirement for more smaller homes – however, the data does indicate that a range of different property sizes is required.



5.116 Across the whole of the County it is estimated that 36.5% of additional affordable housing should be 'family' sized (3 or more bedrooms) and 63.5% smaller units (mainly two bedrooms).



Size requirements by Housing Market Area

5.117 As well as providing information about housing requirements across the whole County it is useful to look at how these vary by HMA. Below we have provided two figures which look at market and affordable housing in each HMA by size. The figures have been split into smaller

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc 9 age 107 of 217 (1 and 2 bedroom) and larger (3+ bedroom) units as this helps to ease comparison between areas.

Market Sector

Figure 5.41 shows that generally different HMAs in Herefordshire have similar requirements in 5.118 terms of property sizes. The requirement for larger (3 and 4+ bedroom) homes varies from 65.2% in Ledbury to 78.6% in Hereford. The difference are likely to be largely due to the overall level of additional house building expected in each location as a higher level of building (relative to the current number of households) is expected to generate additional inmigration. In keeping with other parts of the country, any increase in in-migration is concentrated amongst the economically active age groups of the population - this population is more likely to be part of a family (and have children) and therefore have a requirement for larger homes.



Figure 5.41: Size of Market Housing Required 2011 to 2031 by Housing Market Area

Affordable Sector

5.119 Figure 5.42 below shows the same information but for the affordable housing sector. As with market housing the different HMAs have similar requirements in terms of property sizes. The requirement for smaller (1 and 2 bedroom) homes varies from 55.7% in Leominster to 70.5% in Golden Valley. Again the difference between areas is likely to some degree be explained by the overall level of additional house building expected in each location although the ageing population will also have an impact - data earlier in this section showed that as households get older there is some degree of downsizing.

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 108 of 217



C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 109

6 HEREFORD HOUSING MARKET

Geography

- 6.1 The Hereford Local Housing Market is located in the centre of the County, centred on Hereford City. It the largest of the local housing markets, with a population of 79,800 in mid 2010 (over two and a half times that of the Ross HMA) – primarily reflecting the substantial size of Hereford relative to the County's other towns.
- 6.2 The HMA includes the City of Hereford and surrounding areas as indicated in Figure 1.1. Several of the villages are large enough to be considered as proposed rural service centres, namely Bartestree / Lugwardine, Canon Pyon, Credenhill, Madley, Marden, Wellington. Rural hubs within the Hereford HMA are Moreton on Lugg, Withington, Sutton St. Nicholas, and Stretton Sugwas. Fownhope can be proposed as a local service centre²⁰.

Current Housing Offer

- 6.3 The HMA contained 36,700 properties²¹ in 2012 representing 45% of total properties in Herefordshire.
- 6.4 In 2001 68.6% of households were owner-occupiers, which was below average for the County (70.8%). Levels of private renting were also below average, with 8.1% of households private renting and 3.9% living rent free in 2001 (compared to 9.1% and 4.1% respectively for the County). This is partly a function of higher levels of social renting; the sector accommodating 18.5% of households in the Hereford HMA compared to 15.2% across Herefordshire in 2001.
- 6.5 There is a particular concentration of social rented properties in the South Wye Area where they accommodated a third (33%) of households in 2001. Central and Aylestone wards also have an above average proportion of social rented properties (22-23%).
- 6.6 Levels of owner occupation are higher on the west side of the City and in the north-east (the latter reflecting newer development in the 1980s and 1990s), as well as in the rural parts of the HMA. More than 40% of households in some of the rural wards owned their housing outright in 2001.

²⁰ For further details of the methodology of classifying settlements, see LDF Rural Settlements Hierarchy Background Paper: Updated Nov 2010

²¹ Council Tax Records, Nov 2012

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc 9age 110 of 217

- 6.7 Second homes represented 0.4% of properties (148 properties total) compared to 0.9% across Herefordshire. This is the lowest of any of the HMAs. A low 1.8% of properties were vacant.
- 6.8 Across the HMA detached and semi-detached housing are the predominant house types, however relative to other parts of Herefordshire, this HMA contains a lower proportion of detached housing and higher proportion of other house types. 23% of the housing stock was terraced in 2001 and 14% flats.
- 6.9 Since 2001 we would expect the proportion of flats to have increased, while the private rented sector is also likely to have grown in size.
- 6.10 The City's housing stock is varied ranging from Victorian and Edwardian properties of varying sizes, to areas dominated by semi-detached and terraced housing some of which is of a poorer quality, reinforced concrete construction through to some modern flats and terraced housing around the City Centre.

Socio-Economic Characteristics

- 6.11 Hereford is the County's largest employment centre with a total of around 30,500 employee jobs in the City in 2010 and a total of 37,700 across the Local Housing Market. Hereford (partly linked to its size) is the prime location for business within the County and attracts a mix of international, national and regional companies.
- 6.12 A location quotient analysis of the employment base indicates a concentration of employment in the Local Housing Market in 2010 in manufacturing, real estate activities, health and social work, and wholesale/retail trade²².
- 6.13 A higher proportion of the HMA's population (as at mid 2010) is of working-age (62%) compared to the County average (61%), with a lower proportion of retirement age (19% compared to 22%).
- 6.14 The City does however contain some notable concentrations of deprivation. Four of the City's LSOAs fall within the 20% most income-deprived in England using the 2010 Index of Deprivation, concentrated in the Hunderton area in the South of the City.

²² Herefordshire Council analysis of BRES 2010 data

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 111 of 217

Housing Needs

- 6.15 Housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who live in unsuitable housing, and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market.
- 6.16 An assessment of housing need has been undertaken drawing on a number of sources of information including previous research by Herefordshire Council, a bespoke survey of local prices and rents and information on household incomes. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.

Assessing Housing Affordability

6.17 Figure 6.1 below sets entry-level costs for buying or renting housing of different sizes in this HMA. Prices for a 1-bed home start from about £78,000, and from £115,000 for a 2-bed property. Entry level private rented range from £425 PCM for a 1-bed property and £525 for a 2-bed, through to £850 PCM for a 4-bed home.

Figure 6.1: Entry-Level Housing Costs

	1 Bedroom	2 Bedrooms	3 Bedrooms	4 Bedrooms	
Entry-Level Private Rents (PCM)	£425	£525	£625	£850	
Entry-Level Purchase Price £78,000 £115,000 £147,000 £225,000					
Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (October 2012) n					

6.18 Figure 6.2 indicates the annual income required to buy or rent a 2-bedroom property in the HMA. This is based on a mortgage multiplier of 3.5 times income for house purchase with a 100% mortgage, and an assumption that 25% of income is spent on housing for rented properties in accordance with CLG Best Practice Guidance. It indicates substantial differences in the income levels required to access different housing tenures without financial support.



Figure 6.2: Indicative Income Required to Buy-Rent 2-bed Property

Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (October 2012) & RSR 2011

- 6.19 To assess affordability it is necessary to compare housing costs against income. Figure 6.3 profiles the distribution of household incomes in the Hereford HMA, and compares this with the distribution county-wide. The median income in the Hereford HMA at £21,653 pa is slightly below the County average (£22,002 pa).
- 6.20 In the Hereford HMA, the ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile household incomes is 9.20; which is about average for the County.
- 6.21 As Figure 6.3 indicates, Hereford has an above average proportion of households with incomes of up to £20,000 relative to the County-wide profile.



Figure 6.3: Distribution of Household Incomes in the HMA



6.22 To assess affordability, the income required to either buy or rent a two-bedroom home has been used (whichever the cheaper). This has been compared with the distribution of household incomes within the HMA to calculate the likely proportion of households unable to afford to buy/rent without support. This calculation is shown in Figure 6.4 below.

Figure 6.4: Estimated Proportion of Households unable to afford Market Housing without Subsidy

	Hereford HMA	Herefordshire
Income Required to Access Market Housing	£25,200	-
Number Unable to Afford	20,354	44,641
Estimated Households (2012)	35,187	79,185
% of Households Unable to Afford	57.8%	56.4%

Source: Online Survey of Estate & Letting Agents (October 2012), Affordability Analysis (2012)

- 6.23 It is estimated that 58% of all households in this HMA cannot afford market housing without subsidy compared to 56% across Herefordshire. The proportion of newly-forming households, who are typically younger, unable to buy or rent without support is however considerably higher at 70% of households aged under 45.
- 6.24 The housing affordability analysis indicates that market housing is unaffordable for many local households without equity in existing homes.

Housing Needs Estimates

- 6.25 An estimate of housing need within the HMA has been made taking account of the following:
 - Current housing need total households who are currently in housing need, drawing on information from the Council's Housing Register (Home Point);
 - Future housing need taking account of estimated new household formation and the proportion of estimated proportion of households unable to buy or rent in the market; and
 - Affordable housing supply considering the potential of the existing affordable housing supply to meet housing needs.
- 6.26 The analysis undertaken herein is intended to provide a picture of housing needs for the Housing Market Area. Herefordshire Council separately undertakes Housing Needs Surveys for specific villages and parishes at a more local level. These are available on the Council's Facts and Figures website.²³
- 6.27 Current housing need (the backlog) is calculated using the HomePoint housing register. It is estimated at 1,105 households, net of transfers.
- 6.28 Numbers of newly-forming households expected to form over the next five years have been estimated, and an affordability test applied to this. In the Hereford HMA new household formation is estimated at 3,122 over the next five years. It is estimated that 70% of newly-forming households in the HMA are unable to afford market housing. This is above the Herefordshire average of 68%.
- 6.29 It is estimated that 804 existing households will fall into need over the next 5 years.
- 6.30 The supply of affordable housing over a five year period has been calculated based on actual data on lettings for general needs and sheltered housing in the social sector, as well as the supply of shared ownership, intermediate rent and low cost home ownership homes.

Formatte spelling or

²³ http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/housingresearch

6.31 Net affordable housing need in the HMA is calculated below:

		Hereford HMA
А	Backlog of Need	1,105
В	Newly-Arising Need (5 Year)	2,995
С	Total Need (= A + B)	4,099
D	Affordable Housing Supply (5 Year)	2,015
Е	Net Need (5 Year) (= C - D)	2,084
F	Affordable Housing Requirement PA (=E / 5)	417
	Additional Homes Proposed PA	418
	Need as % of Proposed Supply	100%

Figure 6.5: Estimated Level of Housing Need 2012-17

- 6.32 It is estimated that there is an **annual need for 417 units of affordable housing in the Hereford HMA**. This compares with an estimated supply of 418 new homes per annum (2011-31). The level of need represents virtually 100% of the projected supply.
- 6.33 This figure should however be treated for illustrative purposes only and is only relevant for the five-year period to 2017. In theory if the backlog were met in this five year period then the need as a proportion of total delivery would fall notably. In addition, the figure for need does not take account of the role played by the private rented sector in meeting need and hence the comparison between need and supply is not as clear cut as a simple comparison of the numbers the level of housing need should not necessarily have any bearing on the number of homes (of all tenures) to be provided.
- 6.34 The potential for intermediate affordable housing, such as shared ownership or intermediate rented housing, has been calculated by considering the proportion of newly-forming households and households on the Housing Register who can afford to pay more than existing social housing rents, but cannot afford to rent privately or purchase housing without financial support. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.
- 6.35 It is estimated that an income of £25,200 is required to access market housing, but that an income of £20,160 is required to access intermediate housing within the Hereford HMA.
- 6.36 Within the Hereford HMA it is estimated that 22% of households in need will be able to afford intermediate housing, with 78% requiring social/affordable rented housing (54% social rent; 24% affordable rent).

6.37 The profile of housing need by size is 57% 1-bed properties, 19% 2-bed, 19% 3-bed and 6% with four or more bedrooms. This provides a short-term assessment of requirements for different sizes of affordable housing.

Housing Market Performance

- The Zoopla House Price Index, as at October 2012, indicates that the average house price 6.38 paid for standard property in Hereford over the last three years was £205,790: 2% below the County average (£210,672). The average price in the last 12 months (to Oct 2012) was £206,385. House prices in the City are cheaper than in any of the other market towns, or in the rural areas.
- 6.39 Taking all property sales between April- September 2012 inclusive, the average property price in this HMA was £193,700 as compared to £213,900 for Herefordshire as a whole. On this measure, Hereford HMA has the lowest median price out of the 7 HMA's
- 6.40 GL Hearn has analysed the distribution of sales in the HMA over this period. The sales profile is biased more towards semi-detached and terraced properties, with lower sales of flats/maisonettes relative to other areas.
- 6.41 Areas to the north of the river generally command higher house prices than those to the south. Areas in the north of Hereford perceived to be in the catchment area of particular schools or to have good access to the City Centre are in high demand compared with areas south of the river.
- 6.42 The two wards south of the River Wye have a higher percentage of social housing (33% of total stock), than the 5 wards which are north of the river, where 15% of the stock consists of Much of the older social housing stock south of the river is of PRC social housing. construction (Pre-cast Reinforced Concrete) which will eventually need replacement.
- 6.43 Discussions with estate agents undertaken as part of the 2011 Assessment also indicated that villages to the south and east of the City, with a range of facilities, good public transport links or easy access to the M5 motorway were also popular. Specific mention was made of Fownhope, Woolhope, Hampton Bishop, Mordiford and Bartestree.

- 6.44 Evidence from discussions with estate and letting agents undertaken in January 2011 points to the following conclusions regarding local market conditions²⁴:
 - The market is currently fairly static in terms of values, having fallen since 2007 (c. 15% from the peak of the market). Mortgage finance constraints are having a significant affect on the local housing market, and there is a shortage of first-time buyers.
 - Sensibly priced, modern family housing is popular in the City. Access to good schools is a key driver of demand. There is a recognised glut of flats in the City Centre, and values have reduced since the top of the market.
 - There is a clear north/ south dynamic within the City, with higher value areas to the north
 of the River. This reflects the housing stock, access to schools etc. A Polish community
 has developed around Hinton in the west of the City, accommodated in larger but
 relatively affordable ex-local authority homes.
 - There is a ageing demographic to the population, and demand from the 'grey' market including retirement age couples moving to the area.
 - The market for larger properties in the rural parts of the HMA is buoyant, particularly for properties with land.
 - The lettings market has been relatively steady over the last six months, with the majority of demand coming from young professionals and families, and low income households who cannot afford to buy. The most popular property types are 1 and 2 bed, but there is currently a shortage of 3- and 4-bed properties for rent. The investment market is relatively weak.
- 6.45 A further set of discussions were picked up with estate and letting agents in October 2012 to inform the LHMA Update. Estate agents in Hereford City described the sales market as being "quiet" particularly from September onwards. Agents said there were few first time buyers, with most buyers being above the age of 30. Prices were described as either being "stagnant" or "falling slightly" over the past few months. The agents spoken to envisage that the market will stay the same the same over the next few months. Most buyers were said to be looking for 3/ 4 bed roomed properties.
- 6.46 The lettings market showed more activity in Hereford City. It has a more varied profile of people, including younger couples from the age of 20. The lettings market showed 2-4 bed properties let most recently with there being an oversupply of 1- 2 bed flats. Agents noted a shortage of 2 bed properties in the rental market and said that retirement properties are the most difficult property type to shift.

²⁴ Estate agents consulted were Russell Baldwin & Bright; Jackson International; Sunderland & Thompsons; Brightwells; Connells; Andrew Grant; Cobb; Flint & Cook; Belvoir Lettings; Northwood Lettings

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 118 of 217

Potential Population and Economic Growth

- 6.47 It is proposed to deliver 6,500 new dwellings in Hereford City over the period between 2011-31 representing housing growth of 26% or about 1.3% per annum. It is estimated that 1,870 new dwellings will be delivered in the rural parts of the HMA, representing housing growth of 18%. The total housing growth of 8,370 envisaged represents growth of 23% -.
- 6.48 The economic modelling undertaken suggests employment might grow in Hereford by around 4,700 over the 2011-31 period. This should be regarded as indicative and does not take into account policy or regeneration ambitions including the Edgar Street Grid Project or the Enterprise Zone.
- 6.49 Taking account of the sectoral breakdown of employment in Hereford, we project the following changes in the profile of employment by occupation.



Figure 6.6: Prospective Change in Occupational Profile in Hereford, 2011-31

- 6.50 Forecast employment growth is spread across a range of occupations, with growth projected in both managerial/ professional occupations, skilled trades and elementary occupations in particular. The level of economic growth forecast in Herefordshire is greater than in other areas in the county, and we can expect employment growth to be a stronger driver of housing demand in the City.
- 6.51 The baseline projections do not take account of potential economic interventions. The Preferred Core Strategy proposes allocation of 15 ha of employment land at locations north

Source: GLH

and west of the town, supported by delivery of the relief road which will improve strategic road access. There is further development potential at Rotherwas Industrial Estate which has now been awarded Enterprise Zone status. In addition, delivery of regeneration proposals in the City Centre offer the potential for additional job creation, including retail/ service jobs as part of the retail expansion proposals; and the potential for growth in employment in education. The Hereford Futures retail development project for instance has the potential to generate an additional 890 jobs in retail, leisure and office-based employment²⁵ with estimates that the Hereford Futures 'growth package' could create up to 1,400 jobs (gross) by 2020²⁶.

- 6.52 The City's substantial growth/ regeneration programme will support job creation in construction; whilst housing growth can be expected to support job creation in a range consumer-related services. The county is also one of 4 UK Government pilots for superfast broadband with significant investment planned in technology networking: it is expected that this will also support economic growth.
- 6.53 In overall terms, we would expect employment growth to support job creation at a range of levels over the plan period, but with a focus on 'mid market' housing needed to support the local economy.

Future Housing Requirements

- 6.54 As the largest town within the County, Hereford has a varied profile of house types and exhibits demand characteristics for housing at a variety of different levels within the market.
- 6.55 Relative to some of the other towns within the County, the demand profile is stronger from those who live and work locally, than from those outside of the area. The retirement market appears less pronounced but still an important component of demand.
- 6.56 Despite the higher level of affordable housing supply, there is a substantial level of housing need. However a substantial volume of new supply is proposed.
- 6.57 A demographic model has been constructed in order to estimate housing need and demand within each HMA for different sizes and types of housing. The model takes account of the planned level of housing provision within the HMA over the plan period (and adjusts assumptions on future net migration to take account of this), as well as wider changes in the structure of the population taking account of birth and death rates, the ageing of the population and expected future changes to headship rates (which describe the proportion of people in different age brackets which are heads of households). By considering the size and

²⁵ Draft Herefordshire Local Economic Assessment

²⁶ Hereford Futures Regional Growth Fund Application

<u>C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc</u>C:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan-2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-Page 121 of 217

type of housing occupied by households in different age groups by gender within the HMA, projections can be made of future need and demand for housing arising from expected changes in the make-up of the population and structure of households.

6.58 The model takes account of development viability and funding (and the level of existing stock) and assumes that 35% of net new housing delivered over the 2011-31 plan period is affordable housing.

Demand for Market Housing

- 6.59 It is assumed that 35% of additional housing delivered over the plan period is affordable, with 65% market housing. On this basis a requirement for 5,440 additional market units is identified with the majority of these being three bedroom homes. The majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 6.60 Overall the data suggests that around three-quarters of additional market housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and around a quarter smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that around 3% should be in the form of flats.

Figure 6.7: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Hereford HMA)				
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031	
1 bedroom	1,734	1,955	227	
2 bedroom	4,881	5,791	933	
3 bedroom	13,915	16,869	3,028	
4+ bedroom	7,627	8,849	1,253	
Total	28,157	33,465	5,440	
Houses	25,868	31,025	5,285	
Flats	2,289	2,440	155	
Total	28,157	33,465	5,440	



Affordable Housing

- 6.61 The table and figure below show estimates of the sizes and types of affordable housing required in the whole of the Hereford HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 2,929 additional affordable units (35% of all housing) with the majority of these being two and three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 6.62 Overall the data suggests that over a third of additional affordable housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and just under two-thirds smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that just over a third should be in the form of flats.

Figure 6.10: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Hereford HMA)				
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031	
1 bedroom	1,515	2,380	886	
2 bedroom	2,241	3,212	995	
3 bedroom	2,571	3,495	947	
4+ bedroom	295	394	101	
Total	6,622	9,480	2,929	
Houses	3,982	5,776	1,839	
Flats	2,640	3,704	1,091	
Total	6,622	9,480	2,929	


Urban/Rural Split

- 6.63 The tables below show the above information split between the urban and rural part of the Hereford HMA. Overall, the data shows that of the estimated housing requirement in the HMA some 78% is in the urban area (6,500 of 8,370 units over the 2011 to 2031 period). This is based on assumptions regarding the distribution of new housing provision.
- 6.64 In the market sector the data suggests that in both urban and rural areas the main requirement is for three bedroom homes although there is a noticeable difference for four bedroom accommodation with a relatively low requirement shown in the rural area. This is based on a lower expected level of in-migration, and the changing age structure of the population.
- 6.65 Additionally, the urban area shows a higher requirement for flats than the rural part of the HMA.
- 6.66 In the affordable sector the data suggests a larger requirement for family accommodation in the urban area compared with rural parts of the HMA.

Figure 6.12: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Hereford HMA)							
	Herefor	d Urban	Herefor	d Rural	Herefor	d HMA	
Type/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	
1 bedroom	166	3.9%	61	5.0%	227	4.2%	
2 bedroom	654	15.5%	279	22.9%	933	17.1%	
3 bedroom	2,366	56.0%	662	54.5%	3,028	55.7%	
4+ bedroom	1,040	24.6%	213	17.5%	1,253	23.0%	
Total	4,225	100.0%	1,215	100.0%	5,440	100.0%	
Houses	4,081	96.6%	1,204	99.1%	5,285	97.2%	
Flats	144	3.4%	11	0.9%	155	2.8%	
Total	4,225	100.0%	1,215	100.0%	5,440	100.0%	

Figure 6.13: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Hereford HMA)							
	Herefor	d Urban	Herefor	d Rural	Herefor	d HMA	
Type/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	
1 bedroom	670	29.5%	216	33.0%	886	30.3%	
2 bedroom	753	33.1%	242	37.0%	995	34.0%	
3 bedroom	771	33.9%	176	26.9%	947	32.3%	
4+ bedroom	81	3.6%	20	3.1%	101	3.5%	
Total	2,275	100.0%	654	100.0%	2,929	100.0%	
Houses	1,311	57.6%	528	80.6%	1,839	62.8%	
Flats	964	42.4%	127	19.4%	1,091	37.2%	
Total	2,275	100.0%	654	100.0%	2,929	100.0%	

Delivery Considerations

- 6.67 The scale of development planned in Hereford which amounts to household growth of 1.3% per annum over the plan period. This has been reduced since the original LHMA Report was prepared (growth of 1.7% per annum was proposed at this point) with the housing requirement reduced from 425 to 325 homes per year.
- 6.68 Strategic residential development is no longer proposed at Whitecross, The level of housing proposed at Holmer West has been halved to 500 homes.
- 6.69 For the Hereford HMA, economic growth will be important in supporting housing demand. It will also influence the housing mix, and particularly the balance between 'retirement moves' and those working. Economic growth potential at Hereford has been bolstered by the designation at the Enterprise Zone at Rotherwas Industrial Estate.

- 6.70 To support delivery rates it will be important that there is an element of product differentiation between the types of homes being delivered at different locations, both between the City Centre and Urban Extensions, and between different urban extensions. Multiple developers will need to be delivering homes alongside one another.
- 6.71 In our view the urban village is likely to have a greater focus on smaller households, albeit that flatted provision will need to be carefully phased vis-à-vis other central sites in Hereford.
- 6.72 In our view, the Lower Bullingham extension is likely to have a greater proportion of 2 and 3 bedroom properties, and less four bed reflecting the potential value profile in this location. In contrast a higher proportion of larger homes (4+ bed) can be expected at Three Elms in NW Hereford & Holmer West in North Hereford. These judgements should however be left to the market.
- 6.73 Larger urban extensions provide the opportunity to incorporate bespoke accommodation for older people, recognising the changing demographic within the HMA. This is also true of the Edgar Street Grid regeneration project.
- 6.74 The funding and delivery of the Western Relief Road to the City will be important in supporting housing delivery proposals as well as economic growth.

The Ageing Population

- 6.78 At an HMA level we can also study the older person population and how this is likely to change in the future. To do this we have used our population/household projections in each area and applied prevalence rates as contained within the POPPI and PANSI websites.
- 6.79 Figure 6.14 below shows the proportion of the population aged 55 and over along with the proportion in various bands from 55 to 85+. The data shows that Hereford HMA has about 31% of its population aged 55 and over, this is low in the context of the County as a whole but is still a higher proportion than is seen either regionally of nationally.

Figure 6.14: Older person population (2011)							
Age group	Hereford	Herefordshire	West Midlands	England			
Under 55	69.3%	64.5%	71.3%	72.0%			
55-64	12.2%	14.1%	11.7%	11.6%			
65-74	9.6%	11.3%	9.1%	8.6%			
75-84	6.4%	7.2%	5.7%	5.5%			
85+	2.5%	2.9%	2.2%	2.2%			
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%			
Total 55+	30.7%	35.5%	28.7%	28.0%			

Source: Projection modelling and ONS 2011 mid-year population estimates

6.80 Projecting forward we see that the older person population is expected to increase significantly with 49% more people aged 55 and over expected to be living in the HMA in 2031 when compared with 2011. The population aged 85 and over is expected to more than double whilst the population aged under 55 is expected to drop slightly.

Figure 6.15: Projected Change in Population of Older Persons (2011 to 2031)							
Age group	2011	2031	Change	% change			
Under 55	57,023	55,220	-1,803	-3.2%			
55-64	10,023	12,467	2,444	24.4%			
65-74	7,915	12,289	4,374	55.3%			
75-84	5,303	8,339	3,036	57.2%			
85+	2,040	4,601	2,561	125.5%			
Total	82,304	92,916	10,612	12.9%			
Total 55+	25,281	37,696	12,415	49.1%			

Source: Projection modelling

January 2013

- 6.81 In addition to providing projections about how the number and proportion of older people is expected to change in the future we can look at the likely impact on the number of people with specific illnesses or disabilities. For this we have used data from the Projecting Older People Information System (POPPI) website. The projections from POPPI of older households with health issues are shown in the figure below – in all cases the figures relate to the population aged 65 and over. The figures from POPPI are based on prevalence rates from a range of different sources and whilst these might change in the future (e.g. as general health of the older person population improves) the estimates are likely to be of the right order.
- 6.82 POPPI looks at a wide range of heath issues and for the purposes of our assessment we have concentrated on the two which are in most areas the most significant - this is the

number of people with dementia and those with mobility problems. The table below shows that the number of older people with dementia is expected to increase by 91% with the numbers with mobility problems increasing by 77% - these figures compare with 92% and 76% respectively for the whole of the County.

Figure 6.16: Estimated population change for range of health issues (2011 to 2031)							
Type of illness/disability	2011	2031	Change	% increase			
Dementia	1,084	2,068	984	90.8%			
Mobility problems	2,832	5,014	2,181	77.0%			

Source: POPPI Website and projection modelling

- 6.83 Finally we have looked at older persons the Housing Register. The data shows that an appreciable proportion of those registered are aged 55 and over. In total, some 17% of households registered are aged 55 and over with a figure of 10% for those aged 65 and over. When compared with data about the proportion of older persons in the population these figures are quite low (with an estimated 31% of all people being aged 55 and over).
- 6.84 It is unclear from this information whether or not these figures suggest that older people are less likely to be in housing need or whether to some extent the figures might relate to the speed at which they are typically rehoused on joining the register. We would however note that a good proportion of older person households are owner-occupiers and that older people tend to be less mobile (in terms of moving home) than other groups. Overall the data does not suggest that older persons have particularly high levels of housing need when compared with the wider population. However, changes in the older person population (as discussed above) may mean that additional and specialist provision may be required in the future.

Age group	On R	egister	Total po	pulation
	Total	%	Total	%
Under 55	2,335	82.7%	57,023	69.3%
55-64	219	7.8%	10,023	12.2%
65-74	162	5.7%	7,915	9.6%
75-84	82	2.9%	5,303	6.4%
85+	24	0.9%	2,040	2.5%
Total	2,822	100.0%	82,304	100.0%
Total 55+	487	17.3%	25,281	30.7%

Source: Housing Register and demographic modelling

January 2013

7 LEOMINSTER HOUSING MARKET

Geography

- 7.1 The Leominster Housing Market Area includes the market town to the south, and stretches northward to the border with Shropshire. With a population of 23,300 it has the third largest population out of the HMA's. Within the Leominster HMA, there are several rural service centres as well as the market town itself - Kingsland, Leintwardine, Orleton and Weobley. Wigmore is a local service centres²⁷.
- 7.2 Access to services is only slightly lower than for Herefordshire as a whole: 74.1% of households are within 2km of a post office (82.8% for Herefordshire) and 69.1% of households are within 4km of a free cashpoint (71.1% for Herefordshire).²⁸

Current Housing Offer

- The HMA contains 11,064 properties²⁹ representing 13% of total properties in Herefordshire. 7.3
- 7.4 In 2001, 71.5% of households were owner occupiers which was slightly above average for the County (70.8%). While levels of private renting were above average at 10.8% compared to 9.1% across Herefordshire, the level of social renting was below average (13.2% compared to 15.2% across the County). Private renting can be expected to have increased since 2001.
- 7.5 At a ward level, there was a notable level of private renting in Golden Cross ward in 2001 at 14%. Social rented housing was focused within the town, with 17% social renting in Leominster North ward and 21% in Leominster South ward. Owner occupation in the latter was thus below average, relative to the County.
- 7.6 Second home ownership above the County average at 1.2% of homes. 1.8% of the housing stock was vacant in 2010³⁰.
- 7.7 Across the HMA the level of detached housing in 2001 was slightly above the County average (48% against 43%) and correspondingly there was a slightly below average proportion of flats/maisonettes (at 7.5%).

²⁷ For further details of the methodology of classifying settlements, see LDF Rural Settlements Hierarchy Background Paper: Updated Nov 2010

 ²⁸ Source: Commission for Rural Communities, 2007
 ²⁹ Source: Council Tax Records, November 2012

³⁰ Source: Council Tax Records, November 2012

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 130 of 217

Socio-Economic Characteristics

- 7.8 The Leominster HMA had an estimated population of 23,300 in 2010 of which 11,300 falls within the market town of Leominster. In employment terms, the HMA supported around 10,200 employee jobs in 2010 of which 5,500 are in Leominster. It is thus an important employment centre in the County, second only to Hereford as a source of employment.
- 7.9 Reflecting these employment opportunities, the proportion of people working at home in this HMA in 2001 was only slightly higher than in Herefordshire as a whole (18.4% of the working population as compared to 15.2%). However more residents of this HMA travelled 10km or more to get to work (33.2% as compared to 26.9%)³¹, reflecting the large geographical area covered by this HMA.
- 7.10 A location quotient analysis of the employment base indicates a concentration of employee jobs in 2010 in the HMA in the construction sector, arts entertainment and recreation, and real estate activities.
- 7.11 The 2010 Index of Deprivation identifies that Leominster-Ridgemoor (in the north east of the town) and Leominster Grange (adjoining this to the South) fall within the most deprived 20% of areas nationally. Both fall within the most deprived 20% of areas in terms of income deprivation, with Leominster Ridgemoor within the most deprived 10% of areas nationally. Leominster Ridgemoor is in the most deprived 20% of areas in terms of barriers to housing and services; whilst Leominster Grange is in the most deprived 20% of areas in regard to the living environment.

Housing Need

- 7.12 Housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who live in unsuitable housing, and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market.
- 7.13 An assessment of housing need has been undertaken drawing on a number of sources of information including previous research by Herefordshire Council, a bespoke survey of local prices and rents and information on household incomes. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.

Assessing Housing Affordability

7.14 Figure 10.1 below sets entry-level costs for buying or renting housing of different sizes in this HMA. Prices for a 1-bed home start from about £74,000, and from £105,000 for a 2-bed

³¹ Source: 2001 Census

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 217 January 2013

property. Entry level private rented range from £390 PCM for a 1-bed property and £475 for a 2-bed, through to £750 PCM for a 4-bed home.

Figure 7.1: Entry-Level Housing Costs

	1 Bedroom	2 Bedrooms	3 Bedrooms	4 Bedrooms			
Entry-Level Private Rents (PCM)	£390	£475	£600	£750			
Entry-Level Purchase Price £74,000 £105,000 £155,000 £185,000							
Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012)							

7.15 Figure 7.2 indicates the annual income required to buy or rent a 2-bedroom property in the HMA. This is based on a mortgage multiplier of 3.5 times income for house purchase with a 100% mortgage, and an assumption that 25% of income is spend on housing for rented properties. It indicates substantial differences in the income levels required to access different housing tenures without financial support.



Figure 7.2: Indicative Income Required to Buy-Rent 2-bed Property

Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012) & RSR

- 7.16 To assess affordability it is necessary to compare housing costs against income. Figure 10.3 profiles the distribution of household incomes in the Leominster HMA, and compares this with the distribution county-wide. The median income in the Leominster HMA at £20,629 pa is the second lowest of the HMAs after Kington, and 6% below the County average (£22,002 pa).
- 7.17 As Figure 7.3 indicates, while the income distribution is similar to the County-wide profile, there are a higher proportion of households with incomes of less than £10,000.



Figure 7.3: Distribution of Household Incomes in the HMA



- 7.18 In the Leominster HMA, the ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile household incomes is 4.71.
- 7.19 To assess affordability, the income required to either buy or rent a two-bedroom home has been used (whichever the cheaper). This has been compared with the distribution of household incomes within the HMA to calculate the likely proportion of households unable to afford to buy/rent without support. This calculation is shown in Figure 7.4 below.

Figure 7.4: Estimated	Proportion	of	Households	unable	to	afford	Market	Housing
without Subsidy								

	Leominster HMA	Herefordshire
Income Required to Access Market Housing	£22,800	-
Number Unable to Afford	5,994	44,641
Estimated Households (2012)	10,523	79,185
% of Households Unable to Afford	57.0%	56.4%

Source: Online Survey of Estate & Letting Agents (October 2012), Affordability Analysis (2012)

7.20 It is estimated that 57% of all households in this HMA cannot afford market housing without subsidy compared to 56% across Herefordshire. The proportion of newly-forming households, who are typically younger, unable to buy or rent without support is however considerably higher at 67% of households aged under 45.

7.21 The housing affordability analysis indicates that market housing is unaffordable for many local households without equity in existing homes.

Housing Needs Estimates

- 7.22 An estimate of housing need within the HMA has been made taking account of the following:
 - Current housing need total households who are currently in housing need, drawing on information from the Council's Housing Register (Home Point);
 - Future housing need taking account of estimated new household formation and the proportion of estimated proportion of households unable to buy or rent in the market; and
 - Affordable housing supply considering the potential of the existing affordable housing supply to meet housing needs.
- 7.23 The analysis undertaken herein is intended to provide a picture of housing needs for the Housing Market Area. Herefordshire Council separately undertakes Housing Needs Surveys for specific villages and parishes at a more local level. These are available on the Council's Facts and Figures website.³²
- 7.24 Total current housing need (the backlog) is estimated at 199 households, net of transfers.
- 7.25 Numbers of newly-forming households expected to form over the next five years have been estimated, and an affordability test applied to this. In the Leominster HMA new household formation is estimated at 1,003 over the next five years. It is estimated that 67% of newly-forming households in the HMA are unable to afford market housing. This is below the Herefordshire average of 68%.
- 7.26 An estimated 169 existing households are expected to fall into housing need over the next five years.
- 7.27 The supply of affordable housing over a five year period has been calculated based on actual data on lettings for general needs and sheltered housing in the social sector.
- 7.28 Net affordable housing need in the HMA is calculated below:

³² http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/housingresearch

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 134 of 217

		Leominster HMA
А	Backlog of Need	199
В	Newly-Arising Need (5 Year)	837
С	Total Need (= A + B)	1,035
D	Affordable Housing Supply (5 Year)	677
Е	Net Need (5 Year) (= C - D)	358
F	Affordable Housing Requirement PA (=E / 5)	72
	Additional Homes Proposed PA	151
	Need as % of Proposed Supply	48%

Figure 7.5: Estimated Level of Housing Need 2012-17

- 7.29 It is estimated that there is an annual need for 72 units of affordable housing in the Leominster HMA. This compares with an estimated supply of 151 new homes per annum (2011-31). The level of need represents 48% of projected supply.
- 7.30 This figure should however be treated for illustrative purposes only and is only relevant for the five-year period to 2017. In theory if the backlog were met in this five year period then the need as a proportion of total delivery would fall notably. In addition, the figure for need does not take account of the role played by the private rented sector in meeting need and hence the comparison between need and supply is not as clear cut as a simple comparison of the numbers - the level of housing need should not necessarily have any bearing on the number of homes (of all tenures) to be provided.
- 7.30 The potential for intermediate affordable housing, such as shared ownership or intermediate rented housing, has been calculated by considering the proportion of newly-forming households and households on the Housing Register who can afford to pay more than existing social housing rents, but cannot afford to rent privately or purchase housing without financial support. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.
- 7.31 It is estimated that an income of £22,800 is required to access market housing, but that an income of £18,240 is required to access intermediate housing within the Leominster HMA.
- 7.32 Within the Leominster HMA it is estimated that 32% of households in need will be able to afford intermediate housing, with 68% requiring social/affordable rented housing (53% social rent; 15% affordable rent).
- 7.33 In the short-term, there appears to be a surplus of 3-bed properties within this HMA, and a particular requirement for 1-bed properties.

Housing Market Performance

- 7.34 The Zoopla House Price Index indicates that the average house price paid for a standard property in Leominster over the last three years was £198,955, 6% below the County average and the lowest of any of the market towns. The average house price in the last 12 months (to September 2012) was £190,021 notably lower than in any of the other market towns.
- 7.35 The average price of a home sold in the HMA in the period April September 2012 was £204,100. This was below the County average of £214,000. The average price of a terraced home in the HMA was above average in this period, whist prices for other house types were generally below average.
- 7.36 A high 48% of sales over the April September 2012 period were of detached housing, with 26% of semi-detached and 21% of terraced properties; and 6% of flats.
- 7.37 Evidence from discussions with estate agents in January 2011³³ points to the following conclusions regarding local market conditions:
 - The sales market in 2010 was stronger than in the previous two years. There is a mixed profile of buyers, both local and from further afield. One agent reported less demand from buyers moving from the South than there used to be, however this continues to represent an important segment of demand.
 - Demand from people moving into the area is typically for properties valued between £350,000 £1 million, and this has been a strong segment of the market as the area is considered relatively 'good value' for households with a wide area of search. Local demand is currently principally for homes valued between £180,000 £200,000.
 - Recent flatted schemes, such as the development at Ryelands Road, have not performed well, with 1-bed flats unpopular particularly as people would prefer a small house.
 - Stock in less popular areas such as Middlemarsh can be difficult to sell. This is particularly true of 1 and 2 bed properties.
 - The lettings market was described as very strong with properties letting very quickly. This
 has been buoyed by demand from overseas migrants, particularly from other parts of the
 EU. Stock is spread all over the town and in surrounding areas.
 - There is a general undersupply of properties to let, but this is particularly true of two- and three-bed properties.

³³ Nicholas Craddock & McCartneys

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 217

- The investment market has picked up, with more investors reported to be looking for property in the last 6-8 months. They are particularly seeking properties valued between £70,000 - £100,000 which produces a strong yield.
- 7.38 Agents also reported in 2011 that the Persimmon development on Hereford Road (St Boltophs Green) had sold generally well. It contained a higher proportion of larger properties, but has struggled towards the end of the development. It was suggested that this related to the timing relative to housing market performance, with the final phase on sale as the market turned.
- 7.39 A further set of discussions were picked up with estate and letting agents in October 2012 to inform the LHMA Update. Most agents said prices have been stagnant or have fallen slightly over the past year with agents in Leominster describing the last year as "difficult." Buyers tended to be in their late 40s and early 50s, with family homes being popular. Agents have seen property prices not changing a great deal in the past few months and do not believe that sales prices will increase greatly in the future.
- 7.40 The letting market was said to be stronger in Leominster with the profile of people and the type of property (ranging from 1 bed flats to 4 bed houses) being more varied than in the sales market. Agents estimated that rents had increased 5% over the past year. Investment properties tend to be from small investors, averaging £130,000.

Potential Population and Economic Growth

- 7.41 The Core Strategy Revised Preferred Options propose provision of 2,300 homes at Leominster of which a substantial proportion are to be delivered through an urban extension to the south west of the town which will support delivery of a southern relief road. In addition there is an outstanding allocation at Barons Cross Camp. Delivery of this volume of homes over the plan period, 2011-31, would represent housing growth of 2.2% per annum. This is substantially above levels in other parts of the County (albeit less than the 2.5% growth rate proposed in the initial Preferred Options).
- 7.42 Within the rural parts of the HMA, it is estimated that 730 homes would be delivered over the 2011-31 plan period, representing household growth of 14%. The Core Strategy Revised Preferred Options would support household growth of 28% over the 20 year period is higher than in any of the other HMAs.
- 7.43 Modelled estimates of employment growth in Leominster are for 14% growth over the plan period between 2011-31, taking account of the economic structure of the HMA. This is under

baseline conditions and does not take into account policy or supply-side measures. The level of growth forecast is similar to the County average.

7.44 Considering the sectoral breakdown of employment, we project the following changes in the town's occupational structure:



Figure 7.6: Prospective Changes in the Occupational Profile in Leominster, 2011-31

7.45 Our projections show stronger relative growth in elementary and skilled trade occupations, but with growth across a range of occupational groups. This is set against a reduction in employment of process, plant and machine operatives. We would expect this to support demand for a range of housing typologies.

Future Housing Requirements

- 7.46 Demand within the HMA can be expected to result from local households, from (moderate) economic growth and from households moving to the area.
- 7.47 A demographic model has been constructed in order to estimate housing need and demand within each HMA for different sizes and types of housing. The model takes account of the planned level of housing provision within the HMA over the plan period (and adjusts assumptions on future net migration to take account of this), as well as wider changes in the structure of the population taking account of birth and death rates, the ageing of the population and expected future changes to headship rates (which describe the proportion of people in different age brackets which are heads of households). By considering the size and type of housing occupied by households in different age groups by gender within the HMA,

Source: GLH

projections can be made of future need and demand for housing arising from expected changes in the make-up of the population and structure of households.

7.48 The model takes account of development viability and funding (and the level of existing stock) and assumes that 25% of net new housing delivered over the 2011-31 plan period is affordable housing. This reflects existing housing values (which influence development viability) and levels of housing need.

Demand for Market Housing

- 7.49 Figures 7.7 and 7.8 below show estimates of the sizes and types of market housing required in the whole of the Leominster HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 2,272 additional market units with the majority of these being three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 7.50 Overall the data suggests that around two-thirds of additional market housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and around a third smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that around 4.5% should be in the form of flats. Market evidence has suggested a limited market for flats in this HMA particularly in the short-term

Figure 7.7: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Leominster HMA)						
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031			
1 bedroom	447	587	144			
2 bedroom	1,642	2,183	554			
3 bedroom	4,266	5,408	1,170			
4+ bedroom	2,631	3,026	405			
Total	8,986	11,203	2,272			
Houses	8,544	10,661	2,170			
Flats	442	542	103			
Total	8,986	11,203	2,272			



Sizes of Affordable Housing

- 7.51 Figures 7.9 and 7.10 below show estimates of the sizes and types of affordable housing required in the whole of the Leominster HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 757 additional affordable units (25% of all housing) with the majority of these being two and three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 7.52 Overall the data suggests that over two-fifths of additional affordable housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and just under three-fifths smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that just over a quarter should be in the form of flats.

Figure 7.9: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Leominster HMA)						
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031			
1 bedroom	291	463	177			
2 bedroom	440	679	245			
3 bedroom	575	870	302			
4+ bedroom	84	116	33			
Total	1,389	2,128	757			
Houses	1,051	1,593	556			
Flats	338	535	201			
Total	1,389	2,128	757			



Urban/Rural Split

January 2013

- 7.53 Of the estimated housing requirement in the HMA some 76% is in the urban area (2,300 of 3,030 units over the 2011 to 2031 period) reflecting the proposed distribution of housing provision in the Core Strategy Revised Preferred Options.
- 7.54 In the market sector the data suggests that in both areas the main requirement is for three bedroom homes although there is a noticeable difference for four bedroom accommodation with a relatively low requirement shown in the rural area. Additionally, the urban area shows a higher requirement for flats than the rural part of the HMA. In the affordable sector the data suggests a similar profile in terms of size requirements in both urban and rural areas.

Figure 7.	Figure 7.11: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing								
	(Leominster HMA)								
	Leomins	ter Urban	Leomins	ter Rural	Leomins	minster HMA			
Type/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%			
1 bedroom	112	6.5%	32	5.8%	144	6.3%			
2 bedroom	412	23.9%	142	25.8%	554	24.4%			
3 bedroom	846	49.1%	324	59.1%	1,170	51.5%			
4+ bedroom	354	20.5%	50	9.2%	405	17.8%			
Total	1,725	100.0%	548	100.0%	2,272	100.0%			
Houses	1,623	94.1%	547	99.9%	2,170	95.5%			
Flats	102	5.9%	1	0.1%	103	4.5%			
Total	1,725	100.0%	548	100.0%	2,272	100.0%			

Figure 7.12	Figure 7.12: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing								
(Leominster HMA)									
Type/size	Leominst	ter Urban	Leomins	ter Rural	Leomins	ter HMA			
	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%			
1 bedroom	133	23.1%	44	24.1%	177	23.4%			
2 bedroom	188	32.6%	57	31.5%	245	32.4%			
3 bedroom	225	39.0%	78	42.6%	302	39.9%			
4+ bedroom	30	5.2%	3	1.8%	33	4.4%			

183

171

11

183

100.0%

93.9%

6.1%

100.0%

757

556

201

757

100.0%

73.4%

26.6%

100.0%

Delivery Considerations

575

385

190

575

100.0%

66.9%

33.1%

100.0%

- 7.55 The rate of housing growth proposed at Leominster is likely to be influenced bydelivery of employment development; whilst provision of a range of house types/products will be important to support sales volumes.
- 7.56 It is expected that larger sites will deliver a high proportion of the housing requirement established for this HMA. A focus on two- and three- bedroom properties for these areas appears appropriate, however there may be demand for a larger number of properties with four or more bedrooms (relative to that indicated) depending on the nature of employment growth and future trends in demand from households moving to the area.

The Ageing Population

Total

Flats

Total

Houses

- 7.57 At an HMA level we can also study the older person population and how this is likely to change in the future. To do this we have used our population/household projections in each area and applied prevalence rates as contained within the POPPI and PANSI websites.
- 7.58 The table below shows the proportion of the population aged 55 and over along with the proportion in various bands from 55 to 85+. The data shows that Leominster HMA has about 39% of its population aged 55 and over, this is a high figure when compared to the County as a whole and notably higher than is seen either regionally of nationally.

	Figure 7.14: Older person population (2011)									
Age gr	Age group Leomins		ster	Hereford	dshire	West Mi	dlands	England	l	
	Under 5	5	61.3%		64.5%		71.3%		72.0%	
	55-64		14.9%		14.1%		11.7%		11.6%	
	65-74		12.5%		11.3%		9.1%		8.6%	
	75-84		8.0%		7.2%		5.7%		5.5%	
	85+		3.3%		2.9%		2.2%		2.2%	
	Total		100.0%		100.0%		100.0%		100.0%	
	Total 55	+	38.7%		35.5%		28.7%		28.0%	

Source: Projection modelling and ONS 2011 mid-year population estimates

7.59 Projecting forward we see that the older person population is expected to increase significantly with 34% more people aged 55 and over expected to be living in the HMA in 2031 when compared with 2011. The population aged 85 and over is expected to more than double whilst the population aged under 55 is expected to see a more moderate increase.

Figure 7.15: Projected Change in Population of Older Persons (2011 to 2031)										
Age gro	Age group 20		11	20)31	Cha	ange	% ch	ange	
	Under 5	5	14,6	604	16,7	729	2,1	25	14.	5%
	55-64		3,5	59	3,5	45	-1	4	-0.4	4%
	65-74		2,9	80	3,8	56	87	76	29.4	4%
	75-84		1,9	13	3,1	15	1,2	:01	62.	8%
	85+		78	35	1,8	20	1,0	35	131	.7%
	Total		23,8	342	29,0	065	5,2	23	21.9	9%
	Total 55	+	9,2	38	12,3	336	3,0	98	33.	5%

Source: Projection modelling

- 7.60 In addition to providing projections about how the number and proportion of older people is expected to change in the future we can look at the likely impact on the number of people with specific illnesses or disabilities. For this we have used data from the Projecting Older People Information System (POPPI) website. The projections from POPPI of older households with health issues are shown in the figure below in all cases the figures relate to the population aged 65 and over. The figures from POPPI are based on prevalence rates from a range of different sources and whilst these might change in the future (e.g. as general health of the older person population improves) the estimates are likely to be of the right order.
- 7.61 POPPI looks at a wide range of heath issues and for the purposes of our assessment we have concentrated on the two which are in most areas the most significant this is the

number of people with dementia and those with mobility problems. The table below shows that the number of older people with dementia is expected to increase by 94% with the numbers with mobility problems increasing by 75% - these figures compare with 92% and 76% respectively for the whole of the County.

Figure 7.16: Estimated population change for range of health issues (2011 to 2031)								
Type of illness/disability20112031Change% increa							ease	
Dementia		2	402		779		376	93
Mobility problems		1,	,045	1	,831		786	75

Source: POPPI Website and projection modelling

7.62 Finally we have looked at older persons the Housing Register. The data shows that an appreciable proportion of those registered are aged 55 and over. In total, some 24% of households registered are aged 55 and over with a figure of 13% for those aged 65 and over. When compared with data about the proportion of older persons in the population these figures are quite low (with an estimated 39% of all people being aged 55 and over).

7.63 It is unclear from this information whether or not these figures suggest that older people are less likely to be in housing need or whether to some extent the figures might relate to the speed at which they are typically rehoused on joining the register. We would however note that a good proportion of older person households are owner-occupiers and that older people tend to be less mobile (in terms of moving home) than other groups. Overall the data does not suggest that older persons have particularly high levels of housing need when compared with the wider population. However, changes in the older person population (as discussed above) may mean that additional and specialist provision may be required in the future.

	Figure 7.17: Housing Register by Age									
Age group	ge group		On Re	egister			Total po	pulation		
		То	tal	0	6	To	otal	Q	%	
Und	der 55		42	27	76.	5%	14,6	604	61.	3%
55-	64		6	0	10.	8%	3,5	59	14.9	9%
65-	74		3	6	6.5	5%	2,9	80	12.	5%
75-	84		2	3	4.1	%	1,9	13	8.0	%
85+	85+		1	2	2.2	2%	78	35	3.3	8%
Tot	al		55	58	100	.0%	23,8	842	100.	.0%
Tot	al 55+		13	81	23.	5%	9,2	38	38.	7%

Source: Housing Register and demographic modelling

January 2013

8 ROSS-ON-WYE HOUSING MARKET

Geography

- 8.1 The Ross-on-Wye HMA forms the southern part the county, bordering Worcestershire and Gloucestershire. With a population of 30,100 in mid 2010, it has the second largest population out of the HMAs.
- 8.2 The HMA includes the Market Town of Ross-on-Wye, together with the wards of Valletts, Pontrillas, Llangarron, Kerne Bridge, Penyard and Old Gore. Kingstone and Lea are Rural Service Centres. The villages of Winnal and Weston under Penyard are rural hubs whilst Garway, Goodrich, Gorsley, Peterstow, and Pontrilas are local service centres³⁴.
- 8.3 Access to services is only slightly lower than for Herefordshire as a whole: 79.8% of households are within 2km of a post office (82.8% for Herefordshire) and 69.1% of households are within 4km of a free cash point (61.6% for Herefordshire).³⁵

Current Housing Offer

- 8.4 The HMA contains 113, 640 properties³⁶ representing 17% of total properties in Herefordshire.
- 8.5 In 2001, 74.1% of households were owner occupiers which was above average for the County (70.8%). While levels of private renting were consistent with the County average (9.0% against 9.1%), the level of social rented housing was notably below average (11.7% compared to 15.2%). Private renting can be expected to have increased since 2001.
- 8.6 In 2001, 53% of social rented housing in the HMA was in the town of Ross-on-Wye with the largest concentration along the Walford Road on the south side of the town. Social rented housing accommodated 17% of households in Ross compared to 9% in the rural wards in the HMA (although Valetts ward had a higher proportion at 16%). Owner occupation is highest at 79-82% in the west of the HMA in the rural wards in the south of the HMA (Penyard, Pontrilas, Kerne Bridge and Llangarron).
- 8.7 Second homes ownership is above the County average at 1.4% of homes, but not as high as in the Golden Valley or Kington HMAs. 1.9% of housing is vacant³⁷.

Formatte

spelling or

³⁴ For further details of the methodology of classifying settlements, see LDF Rural Settlements Hierarchy Background Paper: Updated Nov 2010

³⁵ Source: Commission for Rural Communities, 2007

³⁶ Council Tax Records, November 2012

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc 9age 147 of 217

8.8 Across the HMA, a very high proportion of housing was detached at 55% (in 2001), compared to 43% across Herefordshire. Part of this is accounted for by bungalows (of which there is a notable number in Ross). Proportions of other housing types are correspondingly lower, with flats making up 9.8% of the housing stock in 2001. Since 2001 we would however expect the mix to have diversified somewhat.

Socio-Economic Characteristics

- 8.9 The employment focus is the market town of Ross-on-Wye, which has a population of 10,300 (mid 2010) and is the third largest town in Herefordshire after Hereford City and Leominster. The HMA accommodated around 8,400 employee jobs in 2010 of which around 5,000 are in Ross-on-Wye. It is the third largest employment centre in the County behind Hereford and Leominster³⁸.
- 8.10 The proportion of people working at home in this HMA in 2001 was a little higher than in Herefordshire as a whole (18.9% of the working population as compared to 15.2%). More people travelled 10km or more to get to work in 2001 (32.7% as compared to 26.9%)³⁹ which probably reflects the area's good road links, including out of the county, although Ross is not on the rail network.
- 8.11 The HMA has an above average concentration of employment in arts entertainment and recreation, real estate activities, other services, and administration and support services. The largest sectors overall are (like most parts of the county) retail/ wholesale activities and health/social care, each of which included more than 1000 employee jobs in 2010.
- 8.12 The 2010 Indices of Deprivation identify that one Lower-level Super Output Area (LSOA) within Ross-on-Wye, Ross John Kyrle falls within the 25% most deprived areas nationally. This area is within the most 20% income deprived areas nationally.

Housing Need

- 8.13 Housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who live in unsuitable housing, and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market.
- 8.14 An assessment of housing need has been undertaken drawing on a number of sources of information including previous research by Herefordshire Council, a bespoke survey of local

³⁷ Council Tax Records, November 2012

³⁸ Herefordshire Council analysis of BRES 2010 employee jobs data

³⁹ Source: 2001 Census

<u>C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc</u>C:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 148 of 217

prices and rents and information on household incomes. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.

Assessing Housing Affordability

8.15 Figure 8.1 below sets entry-level costs for buying or renting housing of different sizes in this HMA. Prices for a 1-bed home start from about £74,000, and from £115,000 for a 2-bed property, which is likely to be the main focus for first-time buyers linked to a low supply of one-bed properties. Entry level private rented range from £425 PCM for a 1-bed property and £500 for a 2-bed, through to £750 PCM for a 4-bed home.

Figure 8.1: Entry-Level Housing Costs

housing tenures without financial support.

	1 Bedroom	2 Bedrooms	3 Bedrooms	4 Bedrooms				
Entry-Level Private Rents (PCM)	£425	£500	£575	£750				
Entry-Level Purchase Price £74,000 £115,000 £166,000 £239,000								
Source: Online Estate & Letting Age	Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012)							

properties. It indicates substantial differences in the income levels required to access different

8.16 Figure 8.2 indicates the annual income required to buy or rent a 2-bedroom property in the HMA. This is based on a mortgage multiplier of 3.5 times income for house purchase with a 100% mortgage, and an assumption that 25% of income is spend on housing for rented



Figure 8.2: Indicative Income Required to Buy-Rent 2-bed Property

Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012) & RSR

- 8.17 To assess affordability it is necessary to compare housing costs against income. Figure 8.3 profiles the distribution of household incomes in the Ross-on-Wye HMA, and compares this with the distribution county-wide. The median income in the Ross HMA at £22,947 pa is slightly higher than the County average (£22,002 pa).
- 8.18 In the Ross HMA, the ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile household incomes is 8.65: the lowest of any of the HMAs.



Figure 8.3: Distribution of Household Incomes in the HMA

8.19 To assess affordability, the income required to either buy or rent a two-bedroom home has been used (whichever the cheaper). This has been compared with the distribution of household incomes within the HMA to calculate the likely proportion of households unable to afford to buy/rent without support. This calculation is shown in Figure 8.4 below.

Figure 8.4: Estimated Proportion of Households unable to afford Market Housing without Subsidy

	Ross HMA	Herefordshire
Income Required to Access Market Housing	£24,000	-
Number Unable to Afford	7,006	44,641
Estimated Households (2012)	13,107	79,185
% of Households Unable to Afford	53.4%	56.4%

Source: Online Survey of Estate & Letting Agents (October 2012), Affordability Analysis (2012)

Source: JGC Modelling informed by Experian 2010

- 6.75 It is estimated that 53% of all households in this HMA cannot afford market housing without subsidy compared to 56% across Herefordshire.. The proportion of newly-forming households, who are typically younger, unable to buy or rent without support is however considerably higher at 65% of households aged under 45.
- 6.76 The housing affordability analysis indicates that market housing is unaffordable for many local households without equity in existing homes.

Housing Needs Estimates

- 8.20 An estimate of housing need within the HMA has been made taking account of the following:
 - Current housing need total households who are currently in housing need, drawing on information from the Council's Housing Register (Home Point);
 - Future housing need taking account of estimated new household formation and the proportion of estimated proportion of households unable to buy or rent in the market; and
 - Affordable housing supply considering the potential of the existing affordable housing supply to meet housing needs.
- 8.21 The analysis undertaken herein is intended to provide a picture of housing needs for the Housing Market Area. Herefordshire Council separately undertakes Housing Needs Surveys for specific villages and parishes at a more local level. These are available on the Council's Facts and Figures website⁴⁰
- 8.22 Current housing need (the backlog) is estimated at 170 households, net of transfers, based on the HomePoint Housing Register.
- 8.23 Numbers of newly-forming households expected to form over the next five years have been estimated, and an affordability test applied to this. In the Ross HMA new household formation is estimated at 976 over the next five years. It is estimated that 65% of newly-forming households in the HMA are unable to afford market housing. This is below the Herefordshire average of 68%.
- 8.24 It is estimated that over a five year period, 148 existing households will fall into housing need.
- 8.25 The supply of affordable housing over a five year period has been calculated based on actual data on lettings for general needs and sheltered housing in the social sector.

Formatte

spelling or

⁴⁰ http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/housingresearch

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc 9 age 151 of 217

8.26 Net affordable housing need in the HMA is calculated below:

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 152 of 217

		Ross HMA
А	Backlog of Need	170
В	Newly-Arising Need (5 Year)	778
С	Total Need (= A + B)	947
D	Affordable Housing Supply (5 Year)	495
Е	Net Need (5 Year) (= C - D)	452
F	Affordable Housing Requirement PA (=E / 5)	90
	Additional Homes Proposed PA	102
	Need as % of Proposed Supply	88%

Figure 8.5: Estimated Level of Housing Need 2012-17

- 8.27 It is estimated that there is an annual need for 90 units of affordable housing in the Ross
 HMA. This compares with an estimated supply of 102 new homes per annum (2011-31). The level of need represents 88% of projected supply.
- 8.28 This figure should however be treated for illustrative purposes only and is only relevant for the five-year period to 2017. In theory if the backlog were met in this five year period then the need as a propotion of total delivery would fall notably. In addition, the figure for need does not take account of the role played by the private rented sector in meeting need and hence the comparison between need and supply is not as clear cut as a simple comparison of the numbers the level of housing need should not necessarily have any bearing on the number of homes (of all tenures) to be provided.
- 8.28 The potential for intermediate affordable housing, such as shared ownership or intermediate rented housing, has been calculated by considering the proportion of newly-forming households and households on the Housing Register who can afford to pay more than existing social housing rents, but cannot afford to rent privately or purchase housing without financial support. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.
- 8.29 It is estimated that an income of £24,000 is required to access market housing, but that an income of £19,200 is required to access intermediate housing within the Ross-on-Wye HMA.
- 8.30 Within the Ross-on-Wye HMA it is estimated that 27% of households in need will be able to afford intermediate housing, with 73% requiring social rented housing (53% social rent; 20% affordable rent).
- 8.31 The housing needs analysis indicated that in the short-term, 54% of needs are 1-bed properties, 18% for 2-bed, 27% for properties with 3 or more bedrooms. This takes account of both needs and the profile and turnover of existing stock.

January 2013

Housing Market Performance

- 8.32 The Zoopla House Price Index indicates that the average house price paid for a standard property in Ross-on-Wye over the last three years (2008-10) was £234,996, 12% above the County average and the highest of any of the market towns (and Hereford City). The average house price in the last 12 months (to Sep 2012) was £219,898: substantially higher than in the other towns market towns. There is clearly a price premium attached to living in Ross.
- 8.33 The average price of housing sold between April September 2012 (inclusive) in the HMA was £245,500. This was the second highest of the seven HMAs following slightly behind Kington. There was a particular premium for detached and semi-detached properties.
- 8.34 The profile of sales over this period was strongly biased towards detached properties, which accounted for 53% of total sales in the HMA (compared to 43% across the County).
- 8.35 Private rental levels in Ross town were ranked at close to the middle of the range, with the "entry level" monthly rental being estimated as ranging from £375 for a one-bed flat to £688 for a four-bed house, and private rental levels in Ross surrounds were ranked at close to the top of the range, with the "entry level" monthly rental being estimated as ranging £425 to £788.
- 8.36 Evidence from discussions with estate agents in January 2011⁴¹ points to the following conclusions regarding local market conditions:
 - The sales market is reasonable, but activity is down around 6% on levels in 2007/8. There is significant latent demand but restrictions on mortgage finance are affecting households ability to purchase. This is particularly affecting demand for 1-3 bed properties.
 - Current demand for sales comprises local demand as well as demand from people currently living outside of the area, looking to move as a result of both job relocations and for retirement. This includes households from the South, 'a lot of northerners' and older households returning from overseas (e.g. France). A recent trend has been a growth in enquiries from couples with children from Birmingham. People relocating to the area make up a substantial proportion of sales.
 - There is demand for a range of different property types, from bungalows and older semidetached properties to large 4/5 bedroom houses. There is a particularly high demand for rural cottages.

⁴¹ Parry's, Jan 2011

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Loca\\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 217

- Flats are currently difficult to sell, as the core of demand is typically from first-time buyers and investors, who are currently absent from the market.
- The lettings market is currently strong, with particular demand for 2-bed properties especially with parking. Rents have increase c. 25% over the last year.
- Prospective tenants are of all ages, but particularly people in their 20s. The Wycroft Park area is particularly attractive.
- There has been a recent increase in the supply of rented property (over the last 6-8 months), particularly from households letting their properties and moving abroad. Generally landlords have small portfolios of between 1 3 properties.
- Rental properties further out on the Walford Road (ex local authority stock), are more difficult to let, linked to the character and age of amenities.
- 8.37 Within the town, older Victorian properties are concentrated in more central areas and attract a premium. There is a limited supply of flats, and those existing are often targeted at older persons. A new-build development of retirement flats is currently being marketed at Wallace Court on Station Street, close to the town centre. This comprises 43 one and two-bed properties with parking and communal gardens and security.
- 8.38 Similarly to other areas, most agents described the sales market in Ross on Wye to be "difficult" and "slow." One agent was more optimistic, saying that conditions had improved from a year ago but still described current sales conditions as "a struggle. "The agents spoken to in Ross on Wye said that properties that were sold were big town houses and rural houses of 4 / 5 beds. Very few people are looking for 2 beds in this area, with the majority of buyers being families looking for larger houses. The age of buyers ranges from people in their 30s, to people of retirement age. Few buyers are first time buyers. Prices were said to have decreased slightly over the past year. Agents said that they hoped prices would stabilise but said that it was hard to predict given difficulties in borrowing. Most said that they anticipated prices to remain at current levels or increase slightly.
- 8.39 The lettings market was described as "steady", with properties taking approximately 4-5 weeks to let. One agent said that properties were not letting as well as they were doing compared to a few months ago. People who let properties tended to be in their 40s and 50s and let rural, larger properties. Agents predicted that rents may rise in the future but did not show much confidence.
- 8.40 In the Ross–on–Wye's letting market, 3 bedroomed properties are popular, with some students renting properties. Rents were said to have increased slightly (less than 5%) over

the past year. Agents said they doubted that rents would continue to increase. Investment is from small investors with the average investment property £120,000- £150,000.

Potential Population and Economic Growth

- 8.41 It is proposed to deliver 900 new dwellings in Ross-on-Wye over the period between 2011-31 representing household growth of 19% or 0.9% per annum. It is estimated that 1,150 dwellings would be delivered in the rural parts of the HMA based on the existing distribution of households representing household growth of 13.5%. The total household growth of 15% is relatively moderate compared to other parts of the County, except for the Kington and Golden Valley HMAs.
- 8.42 Taking account of the proportion of employment by sector in the County which fall within the Ross-on-Wye HMA, we have modelled relatively strong employment growth over the 2011-31 period of 17%. This is stronger than in the other HMAs.
- 8.43 Considering the sectoral breakdown of employment, we project the following changes in the town's occupational profile over the period 2011-31.



Figure 8.6: Prospective Changes in Occupational Profile in Ross-on-Wye HMA, 2011-31

Source: GLH

8.44 Our projections show a growth in employment across all occupational groups, but with stronger relative growth in elementary occupations followed by managerial occupations. Overall the profile of occupational change is expected to be more focused on higher-paid occupational groups relative to other parts of the County. This may support stronger relative market demand for larger properties from working-age households relative to other areas.

- 8.45 This baseline profile does not however take account of the extant consent for 10ha of employment land at Model Farm which is expected to come forward in the first half of the plan period.
- 8.46 In overall terms, we would expect job creation at a range of levels over the plan period, including for both mid market and larger homes.

Future Housing Requirements

- 8.47 A broad profile of need and demand can be expected to result within the Ross HMA over the plan period including need/demand from people working locally, from moderate employment growth and from retirement and lifestyle moves to the area. The retirement market is more pronounced in this area than in other parts of the County.
- 8.48 A demographic model has been constructed in order to estimate housing need and demand within each HMA for different sizes and types of housing. The model takes account of the planned level of housing provision within the HMA over the plan period (and adjusts assumptions on future net migration to take account of this), as well as wider changes in the structure of the population taking account of birth and death rates, the ageing of the population and expected future changes to headship rates (which describe the proportion of people in different age brackets which are heads of households). By considering the size and type of housing occupied by households in different age groups by gender within the HMA, projections can be made of future need and demand for housing arising from expected changes in the make-up of the population and structure of households.
- 8.49 The model takes account of development viability and funding (and the level of existing stock) and assumes that 40% of net new housing delivered over the 2011-31 plan period is affordable housing.

Demand for Market Housing

- 8.50 Figures 8.7 and 8.8 below show estimates of the sizes and types of market housing required in the whole of the Ross HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 1,230 additional market units with the majority of these being three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 8.51 The Housing Market Model suggests that just over two-thirds of additional market housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and around a third smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that around 4.5% should be in the form of flats.

Figure 8.7: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Ross HMA)								
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031					
1 bedroom	506	583	80					
2 bedroom	1,760	2,056	303					
3 bedroom	5,108	5,794	703					
4+ bedroom	4,134	4,274	144					
Total	11,507	12,707	1,230					
Houses	10,724	11,870	1,174					
Flats	783	837	55					
Total	11,507	12,707	1,230					

8.52 The existing market for flats in Ross does appear however somewhat under-developed and there is a price premium for flats within the town. Against this context, a slightly higher number of flats than indicated might be acceptable.



Sizes of Affordable Housing

8.53 Figures 8.9 and 8.10 below show estimates of the sizes and types of affordable housing required in the whole of the Ross HMA. The analysis is based on delivery of 820 additional affordable units (40% of all housing). It identifies that the main requirement being for two bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).

8.54 Overall the data suggests that around 35% of additional affordable housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and the remainder smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that around 30% should be in the form of flats.

Figure 8.9: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Ross HMA)								
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031					
1 bedroom	383	611	234					
2 bedroom	505	799	301					
3 bedroom	531	777	253					
4+ bedroom	82	112	31					
Total	1,500	2,300	820					
Houses	1,064	1,653	603					
Flats	436	647	216					
Total	1,500	2,300	820					



Urban/Rural Split

January 2013

- 8.55 The tables below show the above information split between the urban and rural part of the Ross HMA. Overall, the data shows that of the estimated housing requirement in the HMA some 44% is in the urban area (900 of 2,050 units over the 2011 to 2031 period).
- 8.56 In the market sector the data suggests that in both areas the main requirement is for three bedroom homes although there is a noticeable difference for four bedroom accommodation with a much lower requirement shown in the rural area. Additionally, the rural area shows a

higher requirement for flats than the urban part of the HMA. In the affordable sector the data suggests a larger requirement for family accommodation in the rural area compared with urban parts of the HMA.

Figure 8.11: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Ross HMA)								
	Ross	Urban	Ross	Rural	Ross	HMA		
Type/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%		
1 bedroom	29	5.3%	51	7.4%	80	6.5%		
2 bedroom	135	25.0%	168	24.3%	303	24.7%		
3 bedroom	267	49.5%	436	63.2%	703	57.2%		
4+ bedroom	109	20.1%	35	5.1%	144	11.7%		
Total	540	100.0%	690	100.0%	1,230	100.0%		
Houses	521	96.5%	653	94.7%	1,174	95.5%		
Flats	19	3.5%	36	5.3%	55	4.5%		
Total	540	100.0%	690	100.0%	1,230	100.0%		

Figure 8.12: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Ross HMA)						
Type/size	Ross Urban		Ross Rural		Ross HMA	
	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%
1 bedroom	135	37.6%	99	21.5%	234	28.6%
2 bedroom	117	32.5%	184	40.1%	301	36.7%
3 bedroom	94	26.2%	159	34.5%	253	30.9%
4+ bedroom	14	3.8%	18	3.9%	31	3.8%
Total	360	100.0%	460	100.0%	820	100.0%
Houses	195	54.2%	408	88.8%	603	73.6%
Flats	165	45.8%	52	11.2%	216	26.4%
Total	360	100.0%	460	100.0%	820	100.0%

Delivery Considerations

- 8.57 The evidence presented highlights substantial need for affordable housing within the HMA. A high level of need for affordable housing in particular is identified. This needs to be brought together with the findings of the viability modelling being undertaken to inform affordable housing policies in the Core Strategy.
- 8.58 While the long-term demand modelling indicates limited market demand for flatted development, this market may return in the medium-term. It suggests that market demand is focused on provision of properties with two or more bedrooms.
- 8.59 The housing needs analysis points intermediate housing being capable of meeting between 25-30% of net need for affordable housing. However it is possible that access to mortgage finance may restrict demand for shared ownership or equity products in the short-term.
- 8.60 Overall the data suggests that a third of additional affordable housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and the remainder smaller units.
- 8.61 Analysis of mix of homes in consented schemes should be undertaken to inform consideration of the housing mix to be delivered as part of the proposed urban extension of 350 dwellings to the south-east of the town.

The Ageing Population

- 8.63 At an HMA level we can also study the older person population and how this is likely to change in the future. To do this we have used our population/household projections in each area and applied prevalence rates as contained within the POPPI and PANSI websites.
- 8.64 The table below shows the proportion of the population aged 55 and over along with the proportion in various bands from 55 to 85+. The data shows that the Ross HMA has about 39% of its population aged 55 and over, this is a high figure when compared to the County as a whole and notably higher than is seen either regionally of nationally.

Figure 8.14: Older person population (2011)								
Age group	Ross-on-Wye	Herefordshire	West Midlands	England				
Under 55	61.0%	64.5%	71.3%	72.0%				
55-64	15.8%	14.1%	11.7%	11.6%				
65-74	12.4%	11.3%	9.1%	8.6%				
75-84	7.5%	7.2%	5.7%	5.5%				
85+	3.3%	2.9%	2.2%	2.2%				
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%				
Total 55+	39.0%	35.5%	28.7%	28.0%				

Source: Projection modelling and ONS 2011 mid-year population estimates

8.65 Projecting forward we see that the older person population is expected to increase significantly with 31% more people aged 55 and over expected to be living in the HMA in 2031 when compared with 2011. The population aged 85 and over is expected to more than double whilst the population aged under 55 is expected to see a notable decrease in population.

Figure 8.15: Projected Change in Population of Older Persons (2011 to 2031)							
Age group	2011	2031	Change	% change			
Under 55	18,750	17,371	-1,378	-7.4%			
55-64	4,851	4,365	-486	-10.0%			
65-74	3,802	5,102	1,300	34.2%			
75-84	2,320	4,087	1,767	76.2%			
85+	1,003	2,217	1,215	121.2%			
Total	30,725	33,142	2,418	7.9%			
Total 55+	11,975	15,771	3,796	31.7%			

Source: Projection modelling

- 8.66 In addition to providing projections about how the number and proportion of older people is expected to change in the future we can look at the likely impact on the number of people with specific illnesses or disabilities. For this we have used data from the Projecting Older People Information System (POPPI) website. The projections from POPPI of older households with health issues are shown in the figure below in all cases the figures relate to the population aged 65 and over. The figures from POPPI are based on prevalence rates from a range of different sources and whilst these might change in the future (e.g. as general health of the older person population improves) the estimates are likely to be of the right order.
- 8.67 POPPI looks at a wide range of heath issues and for the purposes of our assessment we have concentrated on the two which are in most areas the most significant this is the number of people with dementia and those with mobility problems. The table below shows that the number of older people with dementia is expected to increase by 95% with the numbers with mobility problems increasing by 78% these figures compare with 92% and 76% respectively for the whole of the County.

Figure 8.16: Estimated population change for range of health issues (2011 to 2031)								
Type of illness/disability	Type of illness/disability20112031Change% increase							
Dementia	503	982	479	95.3%				
Mobility problems	1,313	2,334	1,021	77.8%				

Source: POPPI Website and projection modelling

8.68 Finally we have looked at older persons the Housing Register. The data shows that an appreciable proportion of those registered are aged 55 and over. In total, some 23% of households registered are aged 55 and over with a figure of 14% for those aged 65 and over. When compared with data about the proportion of older persons in the population these figures are quite low (with an estimated 39% of all people being aged 55 and over).

8.69 It is unclear from this information whether or not these figures suggest that older people are less likely to be in housing need or whether to some extent the figures might relate to the speed at which they are typically rehoused on joining the register. We would however note that a good proportion of older person households are owner-occupiers and that older people tend to be less mobile (in terms of moving home) than other groups. Overall the data does not suggest that older persons have particularly high levels of housing need when compared with the wider population. However, changes in the older person population (as discussed above) may mean that additional and specialist provision may be required in the future.

Figure 8.17: Housing Register by Age						
Age group	On R	egister	Total po	pulation		
	Total	%	Total	%		
Under 55	392	76.7%	18,750	61.0%		
55-64	46	9.0%	4,851	15.8%		
65-74	43	8.4%	3,802	12.4%		
75-84	22	4.3%	2,320	7.5%		
85+	8	1.6%	1,003	3.3%		
Total	511	100.0%	30,725	100.0%		
Total 55+	119	23.3%	11,975	39.0%		

Source: Housing Register and demographic modelling

9 LEDBURY HOUSING MARKET

Geography

- 9.1 The Ledbury HMA is on the eastern side of the County. It benefits from better transport links than a number of the other HMAs, including proximity to the M50 which links to the M5, and from a Rail Service. The HMA has a population of 18,900.
- 9.2 Within the Ledbury HMA, there is only one rural service centre, the village of Colwall, which also has a rail link to London and Birmingham. Bishop's Frome acts as a local service centre⁴².
- 9.3 Access to services is quite good compared to Herefordshire as a whole: 83.7% of households are within 2km of a post office (82.8% for Herefordshire) and 66.5% of households are within 4km of a free cashpoint (71.1% for Herefordshire).⁴³

Current Housing Offer

- 9.4 The Ledbury HMA contains 8,544 properties⁴⁴ representing 10% of total properties in Herefordshire.
- 9.5 In 2001, 72.9% of households were owner-occupiers which was above average for the County (70.8%). While private renting was consistent with the County-average, levels of social renting were below average (12.9% compared to 15.2% across the County). Private renting can be expected to have increased since 2001.
- 9.6 In 2001, levels of social renting were higher in Ledbury and Hope End wards at 13-14%, whilst private renting was higher in Frome ward at 12%. Owner occupation was consistent at 74-75% across all three wards.
- 9.7 Second home ownership is marginally above the County average at 1.0% (compared to 0.9% across Herefordshire). 1.8% of the housing stock was vacant in November 2012 consistent with the County average.

⁴² For further details of the methodology of classifying settlements, see LDF Rural Settlements Hierarchy Background Paper: Updated Nov 2010

⁴³ Source: Commission for Rural Communities, 2007

⁴⁴ Council Tax Records, November 2012

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc 9age 164 of 217

9.8 Across the HMA, a high proportion of the housing stock was detached in 2001 at 47.8% of the stock, compare to 43.0% across the County. There was a below average proportion of terraced housing.

Socio-Economic Characteristics

- 9.9 The Ledbury HMA included 6,200 employee jobs in 2010 of which around 4,100 were in Ledbury itself. It is the 4th largest employment focus in the county after Hereford, Leominster and Ross.
- 9.10 The proportion of people working at home in 2001 in this HMA was only slightly higher than in Herefordshire as a whole (16.3% of the working population as compared to 15.2%) and more travelled 10km or more to get to work (39.3% as compared to 26.9%)⁴⁵. Both of these factors are likely to reflect Ledbury's good transport links (both road and rail) to centres of employment, including out of the county.
- 9.11 This HMA has a strong manufacturing base, with 1400 jobs, making this the largest employment sector. The second largest sector in terms of aggregate employment in retail/wholesale. There is a concentration of employment in the HMA in arts entertainment and recreation, real estate activities and manufacturing.
- 9.12 None of the LSOAs in the Ledbury HMA fall within the 25% most deprived areas nationally, based on the 2010 Indices of Deprivation.

Housing Need

- 9.13 Housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who live in unsuitable housing, and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market.
- 9.14 An assessment of housing need has been undertaken drawing on a number of sources of information including previous research by Herefordshire Council, a bespoke survey of local prices and rents and information on household incomes. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.

Assessing Housing Affordability

9.15 Figure 9.1 below sets entry-level costs for buying or renting housing of different sizes in this HMA. Prices for a 1-bed home start from about £101,000, and from £129,000 for a 2-bed property. Entry level private rented range from £400 PCM for a 1-bed property and £550 for a 2-bed, through to £900 PCM for a 4-bed home. Entry-level prices for three and four bedroom property are notably higher than in other HMAs.

⁴⁵ Source: 2001 Census

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 166 of 217

Figure 9.1: Entry-Level Housing Costs

	1 Bedroom	2 Bedrooms	3 Bedrooms	4 Bedrooms			
Entry-Level Private Rents (PCM)	£400	£550	£675	£900			
Entry-Level Purchase Price £101,000 £129,000 £184,000 £274,000							
Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012)							

Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012)

9.16 Figure 9.2 indicates the annual income required to buy or rent a 2-bedroom property in the HMA. This is based on a mortgage multiplier of 3.5 times income for house purchase with a 100% mortgage, and an assumption that 25% of income is spend on housing for rented properties. It indicates substantial differences in the income levels required to access different housing tenures without financial support.

£36,860 £40,000 £35,000 £26, £30,000 Income Required (per annum) 400 £Ĵ £25,000 120 18,67 £20,000 £15,000 £10,000 £5,000 £0 **RSL Rent** Affordable Rent Private Rent Purchase

Figure 9.2: Indicative Income Required to Buy-Rent 2-bed Property

Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Jan 2011) & RSR 2011

- 9.17 To assess affordability it is necessary to compare housing costs against income. Figure 12.3 profiles the distribution of household incomes in the Ledbury HMA, and compares this with the distribution county-wide. The median income in the Ledbury HMA at £24,048 pa is 9% above the County average (£22,002 pa).
- 9.18 As Figure 9.3 indicates an above average proportion of households in this HMA have incomes of over £30,000 relative to the County-wide profile. The proportion earning below £20,000 is below average.



Figure 9.3: Distribution of Household Incomes in the HMA

Source: JGC Modelling informed by Experian (2010)

- 9.19 In the Ledbury HMA, the ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile household incomes is 9.28 around the average for the whole County.
- 9.20 To assess affordability, the income required to either buy or rent a two-bedroom home has been used (whichever the cheaper). This has been compared with the distribution of household incomes within the HMA to calculate the likely proportion of households unable to afford to buy/rent without support. This calculation is shown in Figure 9.4 below.

Figure 9.4: Estimated	Proportion	of	Households	unable	to	afford	Market	Housing
without Subsidy								

	Ledbury HMA	Herefordshire
Income Required to Access Market Housing	£26,400	-
Number Unable to Afford	4,654	44,641
Estimated Households (2012)	8,529	79,185
% of Households Unable to Afford	54.6%	56.4%

Source: Online Survey of Estate & Letting Agents (October 2012), Affordability Analysis (2012)

8.62 It is estimated that 55% of all households in this HMA cannot afford market housing without subsidy compared to 56% across Herefordshire. The proportion of newly-forming households, who are typically younger, unable to buy or rent without support is however considerably higher at 67% of households aged under 45.

8.63 The housing affordability analysis indicates that market housing is unaffordable for many local households without equity in existing homes.

Housing Needs Estimates

- 9.21 An estimate of housing need within the HMA has been made taking account of the following:
 - Current housing need total households who are currently in housing need, drawing on information from the Council's Housing Register (Home Point);
 - Future housing need taking account of estimated new household formation and the proportion of estimated proportion of households unable to buy or rent in the market; and
 - Affordable housing supply considering the potential of the existing affordable housing supply to meet housing needs.
- 9.22 The analysis undertaken herein is intended to provide a picture of housing needs for the Housing Market Area. Herefordshire Council separately undertakes Housing Needs Surveys for specific villages and parishes at a more local level. These are available on the Council's Facts and Figures website.⁴⁶
- 9.23 Total current housing need (the backlog) is therefore estimated at 87 households, net of transfers, based on the HomePoint Housing Register.
- 9.24 Numbers of newly-forming households expected to form over the next five years have been estimated, and an affordability test applied to this. In the Ledbury HMA new household formation is estimated at 656 over the next five years. It is estimated that 67% of newly-forming households in the HMA are unable to afford market housing. This is below the Herefordshire average of 68%.
- 9.25 It is estimated that 101 existing households will fall into housing need over the next 5 years.
- 9.26 The supply of affordable housing over a five year period has been calculated based on actual data on lettings for general needs and sheltered housing in the social sector.
- 9.27 Net affordable housing need in the HMA is calculated below:

⁴⁶ http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/housingresearch

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 169 of 217

		Ledbury HMA
А	Backlog of Need	87
В	Newly-Arising Need (5 Year)	541
С	Total Need (= A + B)	628
D	Affordable Housing Supply (5 Year)	339
Е	Net Need (5 Year) (= C - D)	289
F	Affordable Housing Requirement PA (=E / 5)	58
	Additional Homes Proposed PA	68
	Need as % of Proposed Supply	85%

Figure 9.5: Estimated Level of Housing Need 2012-17

- 9.28 It is estimated that there is an annual need for 58 units of affordable housing in the Ledbury HMA. This compares with an estimated supply of 68 new homes per annum (2011-31). The level of need represents 85% of projected supply.
- 9.28 This figure should however be treated for illustrative purposes only and is only relevant for the five-year period to 2017. In theory if the backlog were met in this five year period then the need as a proportion of total delivery would fall notably. In addition, the figure for need does not take account of the role played by the private rented sector in meeting need and hence the comparison between need and supply is not as clear cut as a simple comparison of the numbers the level of housing need should not necessarily have any bearing on the number of homes (of all tenures) to be provided.
- 9.29 The potential for intermediate affordable housing, such as shared ownership or intermediate rented housing, has been calculated by considering the proportion of newly-forming households and households on the Housing Register who can afford to pay more than existing social housing rents, but cannot afford to rent privately or purchase housing without financial support. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.
- 9.30 It is estimated that an income of £26,400 is required to access market housing, but that an income of £21,120 is required to access intermediate housing within the Ledbury HMA. The differential between these is not as substantial as for a number of the other HMAs.
- 8.64 Within the Ledbury HMA it is estimated that 27% of households in need will be able to afford intermediate housing, with 73% requiring social/affordable rented housing (55% social rent; 18% affordable rent).
- 9.31 The analysis indicated in the short-term that there is a requirement for 47% 1-bed, 22% 2bed, 23% 3-bed and 8% of affordable homes with 4 or more bedrooms.

Housing Market Performance

- 9.32 The Zoopla House Price Index indicates that the average house price paid for a standard property in Ledbury over the last three years was £225,823 the second highest of any of the main towns and 7.2% above the County-wide average. The average house price over the last 12 months (to Oct 2012) was £222,336.
- 9.33 The average price of homes sold over the period between April September 2012 (inclusive) in the HMA was £249,300. This was 17% above the County average. While average prices for all property types were above the County average, there was a notable premium for larger detached and semi-detached homes in the HMA.
- 9.34 The profile of sales over the April September 2012 period was strongly skewed towards detached sales (with semi-detached sales also being above average in proportional terms relative to other pats of the County).
- 9.35 Private rental levels came out as similarly ranked, with the "entry level" monthly rental being estimated as ranging from £400 for a one-bed flat to £900 for a four-bed house in the HMA.
- 9.36 Evidence from discussions with estate agents in January 2011⁴⁷ points to the following conclusions regarding local market conditions:
 - The local market can be divided geographically into Ledbury, the Villages and Rural Areas. There is always demand for new development in rural areas, key villages with good amenities, particularly those with good communications links. Within Ledbury, demand is also generally strong linked to the high quality of life, some growing employment opportunities and limited new development historically. At the current time, mortgage constraints are limiting the number of first-time buyers. 2008 and 2009 were quieter years, however the sales market picked up in 2010.
 - The demand profile includes local demand, as well as demand from outside of the area, particularly from people who are retired/ retiring or semi-retired. This includes people looking to move from Birmingham, Bristol, Cheshire, South East England and South Wales as well from surrounding areas more locally. Middle aged households are attracted by the availability of private education and good quality state education. Older households are also retiring/ downsizing to the area. On average 40% of sales from some agents are to those moving from outside of the local area. Any improvements in broadband access and links to London would increase demand from this segment of the market.

⁴⁷ Hayes, Kimberley, John Goodwins

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 217 January 2013

- One agent described an oversupply of retirement properties in the town, following delivery
 of Bourne Court and Dawes Court, and Leder Bank. There is a notable demand for
 properties with land (a 4/5 bed home with 1 + acre).
- Within the town, the profile of demand divides between those wanting an 'estate property' such as those on the New Mills Estate, and those wanting a period property which are in shorter supply and concentrated in the south of the town and Newbury Park.
- House prices were described by one agent as not having increased over the last 12 months, with the suggestion that they had stabilised and fallen slightly.
- Local agents recognise the need for affordable housing, to meet demand from young people.
- In the rental market, demand is high; however the supply of properties has reduced over the last 12 months as a result of lower levels of buy-to-let investment (particularly compared to pre-2007). Turnover of rental properties has also fallen. This contrasts with the last 10/12 years when the investment market has been strong and an important component of demand for new-build properties.
- The profile of renters includes younger households, divorcees and those in financial difficulties, plus households renting between moves. Demand is for a variety of properties. One agent commented on a seasonality to demand, with higher demand in the summer months associated with agricultural employees working at Wye Valley Fruits.
- 9.37 Further discussions with estate and letting agents were undertaken in October 2012 as part of the LHMA Update. In Ledbury, the sales market was described as "flat" and was at the same levels as it had been a year ago. Agents believed that this was due to mortgage and finance constraints. As with other areas, buyers tended to be older. Properties ranged from £300,000 in semi-rural areas to over £800,000 in some rural areas. Agents said that house prices had been falling slightly, with the schools in the area helping to keep house prices relatively stable. Some buyers were said to be in their 50s and looking for a holiday home.
- 9.38 The lettings market was said to be "strong" although some agents note that September had been a quieter month than July and August had been. Rents were said to have increased slightly over the past year. The ages of those seeking to rent varied more than in the sales market. Renters were of all ages including those in their late twenties (and quite a few Polish people). The most popular properties were 3 beds. Agents believe that that rents would increase as they believed there to be a strong demand for rental properties which would continue.
- 9.39 There appears to be a more developed flatted market in Ledbury than in a number of the other towns, particularly linked to the market from older persons and quality of life offer.

Potential Population and Economic Growth

- 9.40 It is proposed to deliver 800 dwellings in Ledbury over the plan period between 2011-31 representing housing growth of 0.9% per annum. It is estimated that 565 dwellings would be delivered in the rural parts of the HMA based on the existing distribution of households representing household growth of 14% over twenty years or 0.7% pa. The total growth in the HMA of over the plan period is expected to be around 16%.
- 9.41 Taking account of the level of employment in the HMA in different economic sectors, employment growth of around 700 jobs (11%) is modelled over the 2011-31 period. This should be regarded as indicative and takes no account of supply-side or policy measures.
- 9.42 Considering the sectoral breakdown of employment, we project the following changes in the town's occupation profile over the period 2011-31. A reduction in net terms of process, plant and machine operatives is modelled. Growth in employment in other occupations is projected, with the strongest expected growth in skilled trade and elementary occupations



Figure 12.6: Prospective Changes in Occupational Profile in Ledbury HMA, 2011-31

Source: GLH

9.43 This baseline profile does not take account of the large employment allocation of 12 ha proposed between Little Marcle Road and Ross Road to the west of the Bypass. This could result in significant job creation and result in more positive economic performance, supporting a broad range of demand within the housing market.

9.44 In overall terms, we would expect job creation at a range of levels over the plan period, including for both mid market and larger homes as well as those on lower incomes.

Future Housing Requirements

- 9.45 A broad profile of need and demand can be expected to result within the Ledbury HMA over the plan period, including need/demand from people working locally, supported by potential employment growth, and from retirement and lifestyle moves to the area. The retirement market and moves from outside of the area to access good schools are particular features of this HMA and are supported by its strong quality of life offer and relatively stronger accessibility.
- 9.46 A demographic model has been constructed in order to estimate housing need and demand within each HMA for different sizes and types of housing. The model takes account of the planned level of housing provision within the HMA over the plan period (and adjusts assumptions on future net migration to take account of this), as well as wider changes in the structure of the population taking account of birth and death rates, the ageing of the population and expected future changes to headship rates (which describe the proportion of people in different age brackets which are heads of households). By considering the size and type of housing occupied by households in different age groups by gender within the HMA, projections can be made of future need and demand for housing arising from expected changes in the make-up of the population and structure of households.
- 9.47 The model takes account of development viability and funding (and the level of existing stock) and assumes that 40% of net new housing delivered over the 2011-31 plan period is affordable housing.

Demand for Market Housing

- 9.48 The table and figure below show estimates of the sizes and types of market housing required in the whole of the Ledbury HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 819 additional market units with the majority of these being three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 9.49 Overall the data suggests that just under two-thirds of additional market housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and just over a third smaller units (mainly two bedroom). Of the total, it is suggested that around 5% should be in the form of flats.

Figure 12.7: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Ledbury HMA)						
Type/size	Households 2011	Additional homes 2011-2031				
1 bedroom	294	328	36			
2 bedroom	1,358	1,601	250			
3 bedroom	3,361	3,802	452			
4+ bedroom	2,372	2,452	82			
Total	7,385	8,184	819			
Houses	6,923	7,685	781			
Flats	461	498	38			
Total	7,385	8,184	819			



Sizes of Affordable Housing

- 9.50 The table and figure below show estimates of the sizes and types of affordable housing required in the whole of the Ledbury HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 546 additional affordable units (40% of all housing) with the largest proportion of these being two bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 9.51 Overall the data suggests that just under a third of additional affordable housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and just over two-thirds smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that around 40% should be in the form of flats.

Figure 12.9: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Ledbury HMA)						
Type/size	/size Households 2011 Households 2031					
1 bedroom	238	386	152			
2 bedroom	391	595	209			
3 bedroom	389	549	164			
4+ bedroom	59	80	22			
Total	1,078	1,611	546			
Houses	684	1,003	327			
Flats	394	607	219			
Total	1,078	1,611	546			



Urban/Rural Split

January 2013

- 9.52 The tables below show the above information split between the urban and rural part of the Ledbury HMA. Overall, the data shows that of the estimated housing requirement in the HMA some 59% is in the urban area (800 of 1,365 units over the 2011 to 2031 period).
- 9.53 In the market sector the data suggests that in both areas the main requirement is for three bedroom homes although there is a noticeable difference for four bedroom accommodation with no requirement shown in the rural area. Additionally, the urban area shows a higher requirement for flats than the rural part of the HMA although in both areas the proportions suggested are relatively low. In the affordable sector the data suggests a broadly similar pattern of requirements (by size) in both urban and rural areas

Figure 12.11: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Ledbury HMA)						
Type/size	Ledbur	y Urban	Ledbur	y Rural	Ledbu	ry HMA
i ype/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%
1 bedroom	18	3.7%	18	5.2%	36	4.3%
2 bedroom	124	25.9%	126	37.0%	250	30.5%
3 bedroom	227	47.3%	225	66.4%	452	55.2%
4+ bedroom	111	23.1%	-29	-8.7%	82	10.0%
Total	480	100.0%	339	100.0%	819	100.0%
Houses	445	92.6%	336	99.3%	781	95.4%
Flats	35	7.4%	3	0.7%	38	4.6%
Total	480	100.0%	339	100.0%	819	100.0%

Figure 12.1	Figure 12.12 Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing							
	(Ledbury HMA)							
Type/size	Ledbur	y Urban	Ledbur	y Rural	Ledbur	ry HMA		
i ype/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%		
1 bedroom	85	26.5%	67	29.7%	152	27.8%		
2 bedroom	120	37.5%	89	39.4%	209	38.3%		
3 bedroom	99	31.1%	64	28.4%	164	30.0%		
4+ bedroom	16	5.0%	6	2.5%	22	4.0%		
Total	320	100.0%	226	100.0%	546	100.0%		
Houses	176	55.0%	151	66.9%	327	59.9%		
Flats	144	45.0%	75	33.1%	219	40.1%		
Total	320	100.0%	226	100.0%	546	100.0%		

Delivery Considerations

9.54 The majority of new homes planned at Ledbury are expected to be delivered on the north-side of the town, close to the rail station. A density of 50 dph is envisaged for the development. Proposed for development in Ledbury remain unchanged from the 2010 Core Strategy Preferred Options. It is envisaged that the development will contain a mix of houses and flats, but with predominant delivery of houses. A mix of two and three-bedroom homes can be expected to be the main housing products delivered, potentially with some larger homes particularly in terms of the market housing mix.

The Ageing Population

9.54 At an HMA level we can also study the older person population and how this is likely to change in the future. To do this we have used our population/household projections in each area and applied prevalence rates as contained within the POPPI and PANSI websites.

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc 9 age 177 of 217 January 2013

9.55 The table below shows the proportion of the population aged 55 and over along with the proportion in various bands from 55 to 85+. The data shows that the Ledbury HMA has about 39% of its population aged 55 and over, this is a high figure when compared to the County as a whole and notably higher than is seen either regionally of nationally.

Figure 9.14: Older person population (2011)								
Age groupLedburyHerefordshireWest MidlandsEngland								
Under 55	61.0%	64.5%	71.3%	72.0%				
55-64	15.0%	14.1%	11.7%	11.6%				
65-74	12.5%	11.3%	9.1%	8.6%				
75-84	7.7%	7.2%	5.7%	5.5%				
85+	3.8%	2.9%	2.2%	2.2%				
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%								
Total 55+	39.0%	35.5%	28.7%	28.0%				

Source: Projection modelling and ONS 2011 mid-year population estimates

9.56 Projecting forward we see that the older person population is expected to increase significantly with 29% more people aged 55 and over expected to be living in the HMA in 2031 when compared with 2011. The population aged 85 and over is expected to nearly double whilst the population aged under 55 is expected to see a small decrease in population.

Figure 9.15: Projected Change in Population of Older Persons (2011 to 2031)							
Age group	2011	2031	Change	% change			
Under 55	11,774	11,200	-574	-4.9%			
55-64	2,897	2,845	-52	-1.8%			
65-74	2,414	3,006	592	24.5%			
75-84	1,488	2,443	955	64.2%			
85+	737	1,425	688	93.4%			
Total	19,309	20,918	1,610	8.3%			
Total 55+	7,535	9,719	2,184	29.0%			

Source: Projection modelling

January 2013

9.57 In addition to providing projections about how the number and proportion of older people is expected to change in the future we can look at the likely impact on the number of people with specific illnesses or disabilities. For this we have used data from the Projecting Older People Information System (POPPI) website. The projections from POPPI of older households with health issues are shown in the figure below – in all cases the figures relate to the population aged 65 and over. The figures from POPPI are based on prevalence rates from a range of

different sources and whilst these might change in the future (e.g. as general health of the older person population improves) the estimates are likely to be of the right order.

9.58 POPPI looks at a wide range of heath issues and for the purposes of our assessment we have concentrated on the two which are in most areas the most significant – this is the number of people with dementia and those with mobility problems. The table below shows that the number of older people with dementia is expected to increase by 78% with the numbers with mobility problems increasing by 64% - these figures compare with 92% and 76% respectively for the whole of the County.

Figure 9.16: Estimated population change for range of health issues (2011 to 2031)							
Type of illness/disability20112031Change% increase							
Dementia 344 614 270 78.3%							
Mobility problems	879	1,443	564	64.2%			

Source: POPPI Website and projection modelling

- 9.59 Finally we have looked at older persons the Housing Register. The data shows that an appreciable proportion of those registered are aged 55 and over. In total, some 26% of households registered are aged 55 and over with a figure of 13% for those aged 65 and over. When compared with data about the proportion of older persons in the population these figures are quite low (with an estimated 39% of all people being aged 55 and over).
- 9.60 It is unclear from this information whether or not these figures suggest that older people are less likely to be in housing need or whether to some extent the figures might relate to the speed at which they are typically rehoused on joining the register. We would however note that a good proportion of older person households are owner-occupiers and that older people tend to be less mobile (in terms of moving home) than other groups. Overall the data does not suggest that older persons have particularly high levels of housing need when compared with the wider population. However, changes in the older person population (as discussed above) may mean that additional and specialist provision may be required in the future.

Figure 9.17: Housing Register by Age						
Age group	On R	egister	Total po	pulation		
	Total	%	Total	%		
Under 55	223	74.1%	11,774	61.0%		
55-64	38	12.6%	2,897	15.0%		
65-74	17	5.6%	2,414	12.5%		
75-84	18	6.0%	1,488	7.7%		
85+	5	1.7%	737	3.8%		
Total	301	100.0%	19,309	100.0%		
Total 55+	78	25.9%	7,535	39.0%		

Source: Housing Register and demographic modelling

10 BROMYARD HOUSING MARKET

Geography

- 10.1 The Bromyard HMA is in the north-east of the County, bordering Worcestershire. It is the 5th largest of the 7 HMA's with a population in mid 2010 of 11,600 which is nearly twice the size of that in the HMA with the lowest population (Golden Valley HMA) but is just 15% of the size of the Hereford HMA.
- 10.2 The local housing market is primarily a rural area, with a low population density. Bromyard is the main town within the HMA, with a population of 4,600⁴⁸. Two villages, Burley Gate and Whitbourne are local service centres⁴⁹.

Current Housing Offer

- 10.3 The HMA contained 5,281 in November 2012. The HMA contains 6.4% of total properties in Herefordshire. 108 properties were vacant (inc. long and short-term vacant) representing a vacancy rate of 2.0%.
- 10.4 In 2001 72.2% of households were owner occupiers, which was above average for the County (70.8%). Levels of private and social renting were below average; with 8.8% of households living in the Private Rented Sector in 2001 compared to 9.1% across Herefordshire, and 14.2% in the Social Rented Sector compared to 15.2% across the County. Social rented properties were concentrated in Bromyard ward in which they accommodated 20% of households.
- 10.5 Second homes accounted for a modest 0.7% of the housing stock in November 2012 (35 properties in total) compared to 0.9% across Herefordshire.
- 10.6 The HMA is dominated by detached housing which accounted for 54.8% of dwellings in 2001, compared to 43.0% across Herefordshire. 22.6% of the housing is semi-detached. A low proportion of the housing stock is terraced or flatted (12.2% and 8.6% compared to 17.6% and 11.0% across Herefordshire). The existing profile of housing contributes to affordability issues.

⁴⁸ ONS Mid 2010

⁴⁹ For further details of the methodology of classifying settlements, see LDF Rural Settlements Hierarchy Background Paper: Updated Nov 2010

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Loca\\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 181 of 217

Socio-Economic Characteristics

- 10.7 The HMA includes an estimated 5,100 employee jobs in 2010. Of these around 1,900 are in Bromyard itself.
- 10.8 More people in this HMA in 2001 worked at home than in Herefordshire as a whole (20.9% of the working population as compared to 15.2%) and more travelled 10km or more to get to work (39.7% as compared to 26.9%, the same figure as for Golden Valley HMA)⁵⁰ This is not surprising considering the relative lack of employment options in this HMA and the accessibility of Worcester as a centre for employment. Worcester is located about 25km east from Bromyard Market Town.
- 10.9 The HMA in 2010 had a particular concentration of employment in construction and information and communifications. Employment in manufacturing and health/social work was also above average these two sector supporting the highest overall numbers of jobs.
- 10.10 A slightly above average proportion of the HMA's population is of retirement age (24% compared to 22% across Herefordshire, based on 2010 Mid-Year Population Estimates), while the HMA has a below average proportion of its population of people aged under 16.
- 10.11 There are no parts of this HMA which fall within the 25% most deprived areas nationally as recorded by the 2010 Indices of Deprivation.

Housing Needs

- 10.12 Housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who live in unsuitable housing, and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market.
- 10.13 An assessment of housing need has been undertaken drawing on a number of sources of information including previous research by Herefordshire Council, a bespoke survey of local prices and rents and information on household incomes. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.

Assessing Housing Affordability

10.14 Figure 10.1 below sets entry-level costs for buying or renting housing of different sizes in this HMA. Prices for a 1-bed home start from about £75,000, and from £124,000 for a 2-bed property. Entry level private rented range from £425 PCM for a 1-bed property and £550 for a 2-bed, through to £900 PCM for a 4-bed home.

Formatte spelling or

⁵⁰ Source: 2001 census

Figure 10.1: Entry-Level Housing Costs

	1 Bedroom	2 Bedrooms	3 Bedrooms	4 Bedrooms			
Entry-Level Private Rents (PCM)	£425	£550	£625	£900			
Entry-Level Purchase Price	£74,000	£115,000	£156,000	£271,000			
Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Jan 2011)							

10.15 Figure 10.2 indicates the annual income required to buy or rent a 2-bedroom property in the HMA. This is based on a mortgage multiplier of 3.5 times income for house purchase with a 100% mortgage, and an assumption that 25% of income is spent on housing for rented properties. It indicates substantial differences in the income levels required to access different housing tenures without financial support.



Figure 10.2: Indicative Income Required to Buy-Rent 2-bed Property

Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Jan 2011) & RSR 2011

- 10.16 To assess affordability it is necessary to compare housing costs against income. Figure 10.3 profiles the distribution of household incomes in the Bromyard HMA, and compares this with the distribution county-wide. The median income in the Bromyard HMA at £22,533 pa is slightly above the County average of £22,002 pa.
- 10.17 In the Bromyard HMA, the ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile household incomes is 8.74 which is at the lower end of County figures.

10.18 As Figure 10.3 indicates, Bromyard has an above average proportion of households with incomes of between £15,000 - £25,000 relative to the County-wide profile and relatively few with incomes below £15,000.



Figure 10.3: Distribution of Household Incomes in the HMA



10.19 To assess affordability, the income required to either buy or rent a two-bedroom home has been used (whichever the cheaper). This has been compared with the distribution of household incomes within the HMA to calculate the likely proportion of households unable to afford to buy/rent without support. This calculation is shown in Figure 10.4 below.

Figure 10.4: Estimated Proportion of Households unable to afford Market Housing without Subsidy

	Bromyard HMA	Herefordshire
Income Required to Access Market Housing	£26,400	-
Number Unable to Afford	2,931	44,641
Estimated Households (2012)	5,134	79,185
% of Households Unable to Afford	57.1%	56.4%

Source: Online Survey of Estate & Letting Agents (October 2012), Affordability Analysis (2012)

- 8.65 It is estimated that 57% of all households in this HMA cannot afford market housing without subsidy compared to 56% across Herefordshire.. The proportion of newly-forming households, who are typically younger, unable to buy or rent without support is however considerably higher at 69% of households aged under 45.
- 8.66 The housing affordability analysis indicates that market housing is unaffordable for many local households without equity in existing homes.

Housing Needs Estimates

10.20 An estimate of housing need within the HMA has been made taking account of the following:

- Current housing need total households who are currently in housing need, drawing on information from the Council's Housing Register (Home Point);
- Future housing need taking account of estimated new household formation and the proportion of estimated proportion of households unable to buy or rent in the market; and
- Affordable housing supply considering the potential of the existing affordable housing supply to meet housing needs.
- 10.21 The analysis undertaken herein is intended to provide a picture of housing needs for the Housing Market Area. Herefordshire Council separately undertakes Housing Needs Surveys for specific villages and parishes at a more local level. These are available on the Council's Facts and Figures website⁵¹
- 10.22 Total current housing need (the backlog) is estimated at 65 households, net of transfers, based on the HomePoint Housing Register.
- 10.23 Numbers of newly-forming households expected to form over the next five years have been estimated, and an affordability test applied to this. In the Bromyard HMA new household formation is estimated at 407 over the next five years. It is estimated that 69% of newly-forming households in the HMA are unable to afford market housing. This is slightly above the Herefordshire average of 68%.
- 10.24 It is estimated that 56 existing households will fall into housing need over the next five years.
- 10.25 The supply of affordable housing over a five year period has been calculated based on actual data on lettings for general needs and sheltered housing in the social sector.
- 10.26 Net affordable housing need in the HMA is calculated below:

⁵¹ http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/housingresearch

		Bromyard HMA
А	Backlog of Need	65
В	Newly-Arising Need (5 Year)	338
С	Total Need (= A + B)	403
D	Affordable Housing Supply (5 Year)	318
Е	Net Need (5 Year) (= C - D)	85
F	Affordable Housing Requirement PA (=E / 5)	17
	Additional Homes Proposed PA	43
	Need as % of Proposed Supply	40%

Figure 10.5: Estimated Level of Housing Need 2012-17

- 10.27 It is estimated that there is an annual need for 17 units of affordable housing in the Bromyard HMA. This compares with an estimated supply of 43 new homes per annum (2011-31). The level of need represents 40% of the projected supply.
- 10.28 This figure should however be treated for illustrative purposes only and is only relevant for the five-year period to 2017. In theory if the backlog were met in this five year period then the need as a proportion of total delivery would fall notably. In addition, the figure for need does not take account of the role played by the private rented sector in meeting need and hence the comparison between need and supply is not as clear cut as a simple comparison of the numbers - the level of housing need should not necessarily have any bearing on the number of homes (of all tenures) to be provided.
- The potential for intermediate affordable housing, such as shared ownership or intermediate 10.28 rented housing, has been calculated by considering the proportion of newly-forming households and households on the Housing Register who can afford to pay more than existing social housing rents, but cannot afford to rent privately or purchase housing without financial support. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.
- 10.29 It is estimated that an income of £26,400 is required to access market housing, but that an income of £21,120 is required to access intermediate housing within the Bromyard HMA.
- 10.30 Within the Bromyard HMA, the housing needs analysis indicates that around 40% of additional provision should be intermediate housing with about 60% being social/affordable rented homes (24% social rent; 36% affordable rent)...
- The analysis indicated in the short-term that there is a requirement for 46% 1-bed, 30% 2-10.31 bed, 8% 3-bed and 16% of affordable homes with 4 or more bedrooms.

Housing Market Performance

- 10.32 The Zoopla House Price Index indicates that the average price paid for a standard property in Bromyard over the last three years was £215,396 – marginally (2.2%) above the County average of £210,672. The average price in the last 12 months (to October 2012) was £221,793. Relative house prices in the town over the past year are similar to those in Ledbury and Ross-on-Wye.
- 10.33 The average price of properties sold in the HMA between April September 2012 (inclusive) was £224,200. This was 5% above the average for the County. However the above average prices were particularly influenced by the mix of sales (which was biased strongly towards detached sales at 59% of the total). Average house prices in this period for detached, semi-detached and flats/maisonettes were also below the County average. Only average terraced prices were above.
- 10.34 Private rental levels came out as similarly ranked, with the "entry level" monthly rental being estimated as ranging from £369 for a one-bed flat to £487 for a four-bed house in the HMA.
- 10.35 Evidence from discussions with estate agents in January 2011⁵² points to the following conclusions regarding local market conditions:
 - Market conditions were described as poor, related particularly to the level of first-time buyer activity.
 - Current demand for sales is more from people from outside of the area than local. This includes households returning from overseas as well as from other parts of the UK. A substantial proportion is from older households looking to retire and downsize.
 - The lettings market locally is also currently difficult, in contrast to other parts of the County. A significant proportion of rental demand comes from international migrants, particularly from Poland and Hungary and working locally, including at Holdens and Rydon House. Rental demand (in the private sector) is primarily for two-bedroom properties.
 - There have been relatively few recent buy-to-let investments in the local market.
- 10.36 As part of the 2012 Update of the LHMA, further discussions with estate and letting agents were undertaken in October 2012. Similarly to other areas, most agents described the sales market in the Bromyard HMA as "difficult" and "slow." One agent was more optimistic, saying

⁵² Flint and Cook Bromyard, Jan 2010

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 217

that conditions had improved from a year ago but still described current sales conditions as "a struggle. "

- 10.37 The agents spoken to in Bromyard and Ross on Wye said that few people are looking for 2 beds in this area, with the majority of buyers being families looking for larger houses. The age of buyers ranges from people in their 30s, to people of retirement age. Few buyers are first time buyers. Prices were said to have decreased slightly over the past year. Agents said that they hoped prices would stabilise but said that it was hard to predict given difficulties in borrowing. Most said that they anticipated prices to remain at current levels or increase slightly.
- 10.38 The lettings market was described as "steady", with properties taking approximately 4-5 weeks to let. One agent said that properties were not letting as well as they were doing compared to a few months ago. People who let properties tended to be in their 40s and 50s and let rural, larger properties. Agents predicted that rents may rise in the future but did not show much confidence.

Potential for Population & Economic Growth

- 10.39 It is proposed to deliver 500 houses in Bromyard over the period between 2011-31 with an estimated 317 pro rata in the rural parts of the HMA, representing housing growth of 0.8% (with growth at a rate of 0.9% in Bromyard itself).
- 10.40 We have modelled potential employment growth in the HMA based on the proportion of employment by sector in Herefordshire in the Bromyard HMA. This suggests net employment growth of around 700 jobs over the 2011-31 period.
- 10.41 Considering the sectoral breakdown of employment, we project the following changes in the town's occupational profile over the period 2011-31.



Figure 10.6: Prospective Changes in Occupational Profile in Bromyard HMA, 2011-31

Source: GLH

- 10.42 Our projections show a particular reduction in process, plant and machine operatives. We see growth in the numbers employed in other occupational groups but particularly in skilled trade and elementary occupations.
- 10.43 This baseline profile does not however take account of the implementation of the 5ha employment allocation identified in the Core Strategy Preferred Options.

Future Housing Requirements

- 10.44 Housing demand within the Bromyard HMA includes a mix of people living and working locally, households retiring to the area, and some lifestyle moves from households who might work in Worcester. The retirement market however is not as strong as in the Ledbury and Ross-on-Wye HMAs.
- 10.45 A demographic model has been constructed in order to estimate housing need and demand within each HMA for different sizes and types of housing. The model takes account of the planned level of housing provision within the HMA over the plan period as well as wider changes in the structure of the population. By considering the size and type of housing occupied by households of different age groups within the HMA, projections are made of future need and demand for housing.

10.46 The model takes account of development viability and funding. It assumes that 40% of net new housing delivered over the 2011-31 plan period is affordable housing.

Demand for Market Housing

- 10.47 Figures 10.7 and 10.8 below show estimates of the sizes and types of market housing required in the whole of the Bromyard HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 519 additional market units with the majority of these being three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the vast majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 10.48 Overall the data suggests that over 70% of additional market housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and around 30% smaller units. Of the total, the analysis suggests that there is no requirement for additional dwellings to be in the form of flats.

Figure 10.7: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Bromyard HMA)						
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031			
1 bedroom	167	181	14			
2 bedroom	677	813	139			
3 bedroom	2,049	2,349	308			
4+ bedroom	1,485	1,542	58			
Total	4,378	4,884	519			
Houses	4,144	4,662	531			
Flats	234	222	-12			
Total	4,378	4,884	519			

Figure 10.8: Size and Type of Market Hous	ing Required 2011 to 2031 (Bromyard HMA)
Size	Туре



Formatte spelling or

<u>C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc</u>C:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc Page 192 of 217

Affordable Housing

- 10.49 Figures 10.9 and 10.10 show estimates of the sizes and types of affordable housing required in the whole of the Bromyard HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 346 additional affordable units (40% of all housing) with the largest proportion being two bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 10.50 Overall the data suggests that around a third of additional affordable housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and just over two-thirds smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that around 30% should be in the form of flats.

Figure 10.9: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Bromyard HMA)						
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031			
1 bedroom	176	275	101			
2 bedroom	243	368	129			
3 bedroom	252	353	103			
4+ bedroom	42	55	13			
Total	713	1,050	346			
Houses	521	755	240			
Flats	192	295	106			
Total	713	1,050	346			



Urban/Rural Split

- 10.51 The tables below show the above information split between the urban and rural part of the Bromyard HMA. Overall, the data shows that of the estimated housing requirement in the HMA some 58% is in the urban area (500 of 865 units over the 2011 to 2031 period).
- 10.52 In the market sector the data suggests that in both areas the main requirement is for three bedroom homes although there is a noticeable difference for four bedroom accommodation with no requirement shown in the rural area. In the affordable sector the data suggests a larger requirement for family accommodation in the rural area compared with urban parts of the HMA.

Figure 10	Figure 10.11: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing							
	(Bromyard HMA)							
Type/size	Bromya	rd Urban	Bromya	rd Rural	Bromya	rd HMA		
i ype/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%		
1 bedroom	13	4.3%	1	0.5%	14	2.7%		
2 bedroom	66	22.0%	73	33.3%	139	26.8%		
3 bedroom	142	47.3%	166	75.8%	308	59.3%		
4+ bedroom	79	26.5%	-21	-9.6%	58	11.3%		
Total	300	100.0%	219	100.0%	519	100.0%		
Houses	306	102.1%	224	102.6%	531	102.3%		
Flats	-6	-2.1%	-6	-2.6%	-12	-2.3%		
Total	300	100.0%	219	100.0%	519	100.0%		

Figure 10.12: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing

			Bromyard HMA	4)		
	Bromyard Urban		Bromya	Bromyard Rural		ard HMA
Type/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%
1 bedroom	67	33.3%	35	23.7%	101	29.3%
2 bedroom	73	36.6%	55	37.9%	129	37.2%
3 bedroom	52	26.2%	50	34.5%	103	29.7%
4+ bedroom	8	3.8%	6	3.8%	13	3.8%
Total	200	100.0%	146	100.0%	346	100.0%
Houses	120	60.1%	120	82.3%	240	69.5%
Flats	80	39.9%	26	17.7%	106	30.5%
Total	200	100.0%	146	100.0%	346	100.0%

Delivery Considerations

10.53 Bromyard is a relatively small town. An appropriately sized urban extension is planned, but there is a small, local market. Appropriate delivery phasing with a relatively long build-out period will be required to deliver housing at the urban extension over the plan period.

The Ageing Population

- 10.53 At an HMA level we can also study the older person population and how this is likely to change in the future. To do this we have used our population/household projections in each area and applied prevalence rates as contained within the POPPI and PANSI websites.
- 10.54 The table below shows the proportion of the population aged 55 and over along with the proportion in various bands from 55 to 85+. The data shows that the Bromyard HMA has about 41% of its population aged 55 and over, this is a high figure when compared to the County as a whole and notably higher than is seen either regionally of nationally.

Figure 10.14: Older person population (2011)					
Age group	Bromyard	Herefordshire	West Midlands	England	
Under 55	59.4%	64.5%	71.3%	72.0%	
55-64	16.9%	14.1%	11.7%	11.6%	
65-74	12.7%	11.3%	9.1%	8.6%	
75-84	7.8%	7.2%	5.7%	5.5%	
85+	3.2%	2.9%	2.2%	2.2%	
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	
Total 55+	40.6%	35.5%	28.7%	28.0%	

Source: Projection modelling and ONS 2011 mid-year population estimates

10.55 Projecting forward we see that the older person population is expected to increase significantly with 27% more people aged 55 and over expected to be living in the HMA in 2031 when compared with 2011. The population aged 85 and over is expected to more than double whilst the population aged under 55 is expected to see a small decrease in population (the population aged 55 to 64 is also expected to drop noticeably).

Figure 10.15: Projected Change in Population of Older Persons (2011 to 2031)					
Age group	2011	2031	Change	% change	
Under 55	7,046	6,845	-201	-2.8%	
55-64	2,006	1,596	-409	-20.4%	
65-74	1,504	1,921	416	27.7%	
75-84	926	1,693	767	82.9%	

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 195 of 217

85+	375	876	502	133.9%
Total	11,857	12,932	1,075	9.1%
Total 55+	4,810	6,086	1,276	26.5%

Source: Projection modelling

- 10.56 In addition to providing projections about how the number and proportion of older people is expected to change in the future we can look at the likely impact on the number of people with specific illnesses or disabilities. For this we have used data from the Projecting Older People Information System (POPPI) website. The projections from POPPI of older households with health issues are shown in the figure below in all cases the figures relate to the population aged 65 and over. The figures from POPPI are based on prevalence rates from a range of different sources and whilst these might change in the future (e.g. as general health of the older person population improves) the estimates are likely to be of the right order.
- 10.57 POPPI looks at a wide range of heath issues and for the purposes of our assessment we have concentrated on the two which are in most areas the most significant this is the number of people with dementia and those with mobility problems. The table below shows that the number of older people with dementia is expected to more than double with the numbers with mobility problems increasing by 83% these figures compare with 92% and 76% respectively for the whole of the County.

Figure 10.16: Estimated population change for range of health issues (2011 to 2031)					
Type of illness/disability	2011	2031	Change	% increase	
Dementia	196	395	199	101.7%	
Mobility problems	509	930	422	82.9%	

Source: POPPI Website and projection modelling

- 10.58 Finally we have looked at older persons the Housing Register. The data shows that an appreciable proportion of those registered are aged 55 and over. In total, some 35% of households registered are aged 55 and over with a figure of 18% for those aged 65 and over. When compared with data about the proportion of older persons in the population these figures are quite low (with an estimated 41% of all people being aged 55 and over).
- 10.59 It is unclear from this information whether or not these figures suggest that older people are less likely to be in housing need or whether to some extent the figures might relate to the speed at which they are typically rehoused on joining the register. We would however note that a good proportion of older person households are owner-occupiers and that older people tend to be less mobile (in terms of moving home) than other groups. Overall the data does not
suggest that older persons have particularly high levels of housing need when compared with the wider population. However, changes in the older person population (as discussed above) may mean that additional and specialist provision may be required in the future.

Figure 10.17: Housing Register by Age					
Age group	On R	On Register		pulation	
	Total	%	Total	%	
Under 55	138	65.1%	7,046	59.4%	
55-64	35	16.5%	2,006	16.9%	
65-74	20	9.4%	1,504	12.7%	
75-84	18	8.5%	926	7.8%	
85+	1	0.5%	375	3.2%	
Total	212	100.0%	11,857 100.0%		
Total 55+	74	34.9%	4,810	40.6%	

Source: Housing Register and demographic modelling

11 KINGTON HOUSING MARKET

Geography

- 11.1 The Kington HMA is in the north west of the county, bordering Wales. It has a population of 9,200 (mid 2010), the second smallest of the HMA's after Golden Valley. Kington is the main market town but the villages of Eardisley and Shobdon have sufficient facilities and employment opportunities to be classified as rural service centres. In addition, Lyonshall and Winforton are within 5km of a rural service centre and the villages of Almeley and Pembridge have 4 or more key services and public transport provision⁵³.
- 11.2 Access to services is poorer than for Herefordshire as a whole: 73.3% of households are within 2km of a post office (82.8% for Herefordshire) and 40.0% of households are within 4km of a free cashpoint (71.1% for Herefordshire).⁵⁴

Current Housing Offer

- 11.3 The Kington HMA contains 4456 properties representing 5% of total properties in Herefordshire.
- 11.4 In 2001, 68% of households were owner occupiers which was below average for the County (70.8%), as were levels of social renting (13.1% compared to 15.2% across Herefordshire). The level of private rented housing, and households living rent free (at 13.1% and 5.8% respectively) were both above average. The profile is particularly influenced by that of Kington Town, where 18% of households in 2001 were living in the social rented sector and 17% in the private rented sector. Owner occupation was 61%. In comparison in the two rural wards in the HMA, owner occupation was 73-74% in 2001.
- 11.5 Second home ownership is the second highest in the County at 1.6% of the housing stock, compared to 0.9% across Herefordshire. The HMA has an above average number of vacant properties, with a vacancy rate of 2.6% compared to 1.8% County-wide.
- 11.6 Across the HMA, the majority of housing was detached at 56% (in 2001), compared to 43% across Herefordshire. Proportions of other housing types are correspondingly lower, with flats making up just 5.7% of the housing stock compared to 11.0% County-wide in 2001.

⁵³ For further details of the methodology of classifying settlements, see LDF Rural Settlements Hierarchy Background Paper: Updated Nov 2010

²⁴ Source: Commission for Rural Communities, 2007

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc 9 217

Socio-Economic Characteristics

- 11.7 The market town of Kington is the smallest of the market towns, with a population of 3,200 in mid 2010.
- 11.8 The HMA includes a total of 3,200 employee jobs in 2010. Of these around half (1,200) were in Kington. The HMA's economy includes a particularly strong level of manufacturing jobs, as well as above average employment in transport and communications.
- 11.9 More people in this HMA worked at home than in Herefordshire as a whole (24.0% of the working population as compared to 15.2%) and more travelled 10km or more to get to work (34.7% as compared to 26.9%).55
- 11.10 No parts of this HMA fall within the 25% most deprived areas nationally.

Housing Need

- 11.11 Housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who live in unsuitable housing, and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market.
- 11.12 An assessment of housing need has been undertaken drawing on a number of sources of information including previous research by Herefordshire Council, a bespoke survey of local prices and rents and information on household incomes. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.

Assessing Housing Affordability

11.13 Figure 11.1 below sets entry-level costs for buying or renting housing of different sizes in this HMA. Prices for a 1-bed home start from about £92,000, and from £120,000 for a 2-bed property. Entry level private rented range from £375 PCM for a 1-bed property and £465 for a 2-bed, through to £700 PCM for a 4-bed home.

Figure 11.1: Entry-Level Housing Costs

	1 Bedroom	2 Bedrooms	3 Bedrooms	4 Bedrooms	
Entry-Level Private Rents (PCM)	£375	£465	£600	£700	
Entry-Level Purchase Price £92,000 £120,000 £155,000 £239,000					
Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012)					

Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012)

11.14 Figure 11.2 indicates the annual income required to buy or rent a 2-bedroom property in the HMA. This is based on a mortgage multiplier of 3.5 times income for house purchase with a

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-Page 199

13-nxi).doc

⁵⁵ Source: 2001 census

100% mortgage, and an assumption that 25% of income is spent on housing for rented properties. It indicates substantial differences in the income levels required to access different housing tenures without financial support. There is a particularly strong difference between the income required to rent and to purchase in this HMA.



Figure 11.2: Indicative Income Required to Buy-Rent 2-bed Property

- 11.15 To assess affordability it is necessary to compare housing costs against income. Figure 9.3 profiles the distribution of household incomes in the Kington HMA, and compares this with the distribution county-wide. The median income in the Kington HMA at £20,352 pa is the lowest in the County; 7% below the County average (£22,002 pa).
- 11.16 In the Kington HMA, the ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile household incomes is 10.23: the highest of any of the HMA in the County.
- 11.17 Analysis of the distribution of incomes indicates a high proportion of households with an income below £10,000 compared to the County-wide profile with relatively few high income households.

Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012) & RSR



Figure 11.3: Distribution of Household Incomes in the HMA

Source: JGC Modelling informed by Experian (2010)

11.18 To assess affordability, the income required to either buy or rent a two-bedroom home has been used (whichever the cheaper). This has been compared with the distribution of household incomes within the HMA to calculate the likely proportion of households unable to afford to buy/rent without support. This calculation is shown in Figure 11.4 below.

Figure 11.4: Estimated Proportion of Households unable to afford Market Housing without Subsidy

	Kington HMA	Herefordshire
Income Required to Access Market Housing	£22,320	-
Number Unable to Afford	2,247	44,641
Estimated Households (2012)	4,120	79,185
% of Households Unable to Afford	54.5%	56.4%
Source: Online Survey of Estate & Letting A	gents (October 2012),	Affordability Analysis

(2012)

- 11.19 It is estimated that 55% of all households in this HMA cannot afford market housing without subsidy compared to 56% across Herefordshire.. The proportion of newly-forming households, who are typically younger, unable to buy or rent without support is however considerably higher at 67% of households aged under 45.
- 11.20 The housing affordability analysis indicates that market housing is unaffordable for many local households without equity in existing homes.

Housing Needs Estimates

- 11.21 An estimate of housing need within the HMA has been made taking account of the following:
 - Current housing need total households who are currently in housing need, drawing on information from the Council's Housing Register (Home Point);
 - Future housing need taking account of estimated new household formation and the proportion of estimated proportion of households unable to buy or rent in the market; and
 - Affordable housing supply considering the potential of the existing affordable housing supply to meet housing needs.
- 11.22 The analysis undertaken herein is intended to provide a picture of housing needs for the Housing Market Area. Herefordshire Council separately undertakes Housing Needs Surveys for specific villages and parishes at a more local level. These are available on the Council's Facts and Figures website.⁵⁶
- 11.23 Total current housing need (the backlog) is estimated at 62 households, net of transfers, based on the HomePoint Housing Register.
- 11.24 Numbers of newly-forming households expected to form over the next five years have been estimated, and an affordability test applied to this. In the Kington HMA new household formation is estimated at 317 over the next five years. It is estimated that 67% of newly-forming households in the HMA are unable to afford market housing. This is close to the Herefordshire average of 68%.
- 11.25 An estimated 67 existing households are expected to fall into housing need over a five year period.
- 11.26 The supply of affordable housing over a five year period has been calculated based on actual data on lettings for general needs and sheltered housing in the social sector.
- 11.27 Net affordable housing need in the HMA is calculated below:

⁵⁶ http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/housingresearch

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 202 of 217

		Kington HMA
А	Backlog of Need	62
В	Newly-Arising Need (5 Year)	279
С	Total Need (= A + B)	341
D	Affordable Housing Supply (5 Year)	232
Е	Net Need (5 Year) (= C - D)	109
F	Affordable Housing Requirement PA (=E / 5)	22
	Additional Homes Proposed PA	26
	Need as % of Proposed Supply	85%

Figure 11.5: Estimated Level of Housing Need 2012-17

- 11.28 It is estimated that there is an **annual need for 22 units of affordable housing in the Kington HMA**. This compares with an estimated supply of 26 new homes per annum (2011-31). The level of need represents 85% of the projected supply. The HMA has a below average proportion of affordable housing, and there are particularly barriers to accessing market housing for newly-forming households. These explain the high levels of housing need arising.
- 11.29 This figure (the 85% above) should however be treated for illustrative purposes only and is only relevant for the five-year period to 2017. In theory if the backlog were met in this five year period then the need as a proportion of total delivery would fall notably. In addition, the figure for need does not take account of the role played by the private rented sector in meeting need and hence the comparison between need and supply is not as clear cut as a simple comparison of the numbers the level of housing need should not necessarily have any bearing on the number of homes (of all tenures) to be provided.
- 11.29 The potential for intermediate affordable housing, such as shared ownership or intermediate rented housing, has been calculated by considering the proportion of newly-forming households and households on the Housing Register who can afford to pay more than existing social housing rents, but cannot afford to rent privately or purchase housing without financial support. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.
- 11.30 It is estimated that an income of £22,320 is required to access market housing, but that an income of £17,860 is required to access intermediate housing within the Kington HMA.
- 11.31 Within the Kington HMA it is estimated that 38% of households in need will be able to afford intermediate housing, with 62% requiring social rented housing (56% social rent; 6% affordable rent).

11.32 In the short-term, the housing needs analysis suggests a requirement for 65% 1-bed properties, 23% 2-bed, 12 with 3 or more bedrooms.

Housing Market Performance

- 11.33 The Zoopla House Price Index indicates that the average house price paid for a standard property in Kington was £194,016 over the past three years. 8% below the County average. The average price over the last year (to September 2012) was £198,262. This is above the average price achieved in Leominster but below that in Hereford.
- 11.34 Of properties sold between April September 2012 (inclusive), the average house price was £246,500 which is the highest of the seven HMAs. This however is particularly a function of the profile of sales, which are strongly focused towards detached sales (which accounted for 65% of all sales over this period). By type, house prices for detached homes were lower than in the Ledbury, Ross-on-Wye and Golden Valley HMAs. Over this April September period just 3% of sales were of flats.
- 11.35 There is a premium attached to three and four-bed homes in this area, relative to other parts of the County. There is evidently a market for larger, detached property within the HMA. It is interesting that this western rural area of the county commands premium house prices. Hay-on-Wye (which is outside of Herefordshire) has increasingly come to prominence in the last few years with the expansion of the Hay Literary Festival, and it is possible that this may have led to increased demand for property in the area.

Potential Population and Economic Growth

- 11.36 It is proposed to deliver 200 new dwellings in Kington over the 2011-31 plan period representing household growth of 0.7% per annum. It is estimated that 317 dwellings would be delivered in the more rural parts of the HMA based on the existing distribution of households, representing household growth of 12%. (0.6% pa). The total growth of 12.3% is the lowest other than in the Golden Valley HMA.
- 11.37 We have modelled potential employment growth in the HMA taking account of the level and structure of employment relative to Herefordshire as a whole. Total employment is estimated to increase by around 300 jobs over the 2011-31 period, representing 14% growth which is similar to the County as a whole.
- 11.38 Considering the sectoral structure of employment, we project the following changes in the occupational profile of the Kington HMA over the period 2011-31:



Figure 11.6: Prospective Changes in Occupation Profile in Kington HMA, 2011-31

Source: GLH

January 2013

- 11.39 The projections show a particular reduction in process, plant and machine operatives with growth focused in elementary and skilled trade occupations. This would likely focus demand from working-age households more towards lower and mid value properties.
- 11.40 No employment allocations are made within the draft Core Strategy which would materially alter this projection.

Future Housing Requirements

- 11.41 The evidence presented suggests that in-migration, particularly of older households, could potentially be a stronger driver of housing demand in this HMA than in some of the others. Weak economic performance could restrict demand from working households and support out-migration of younger households.
- 11.42 A demographic model has been constructed in order to estimate housing need and demand within each HMA for different sizes and types of housing. The model takes account of the planned level of housing provision within the HMA over the plan period (and adjusts assumptions on future net migration to take account of this), as well as wider changes in the structure of the population taking account of birth and death rates, the ageing of the population and expected future changes to headship rates (which describe the proportion of people in different age brackets which are heads of households). By considering the size and type of housing occupied by households in different age groups by gender within the HMA,

projections can be made of future need and demand for housing arising from expected changes in the make-up of the population and structure of households.

11.43 The model takes account of development viability and funding (and the level of existing stock) and assumes that 35% of net new housing delivered over the 2011-31 plan period is affordable housing.

Demand for Market Housing

- 11.44 Figures 11.7 and 11.12 below show estimates of the sizes and types of market housing required in the whole of the Kington HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 336 additional market units with around half of these being three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the vast majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 11.45 Overall the data suggests that just over two-thirds of additional market housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and around a quarter 2-bedroom units. Of the total, it is suggested that around 3% should be in the form of flats.

Figure 11.7: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Kington HMA)						
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031			
1 bedroom	144	167	23			
2 bedroom	541	622	83			
3 bedroom	1,653	1,818	169			
4+ bedroom	1,196	1,255	61			
Total	3,535	3,863	336			
Houses	3,387	3,705	325			
Flats	147	158	11			
Total	3,535	3,863	336			



Sizes of Affordable Housing

- 11.46 Figures 11.9 and 11.10 below show estimates of the sizes and types of affordable housing required in the whole of the Kington HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 181 additional affordable units (35% of all housing) with the majority of these being two and three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 11.47 Overall the data suggests that around two-fifths of additional affordable housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and just under three-fifths smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that around 15% should be in the form of flats.

Figure 11.9: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Kington HMA)							
Type/size	Households 2011Households 2031Additional homes 2011-2031						
1 bedroom	77	119	43				
2 bedroom	191	258	69				
3 bedroom	260	322	63				
4+ bedroom	31	38	6				
Total	560	737	181				
Houses	495	646	154				
Flats	65	90	26				
Total	560	737	181				



Urban/Rural Split

- 11.48 The tables below show the above information split between the urban and rural part of the Kington HMA. Overall, the data shows that of the estimated housing requirement in the HMA some 39% is in the urban area (200 of 517 units over the 2011 to 2031 period).
- 11.49 In the market sector the data suggests that in both areas the main requirement is for three bedroom homes with a similar pattern of requirements shown in both types of location.

Figure 11.11: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Kington HMA)						
	Kingtor	n Urban	Kingto	n Rural	Kingto	n HMA
Type/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%
1 bedroom	6	4.6%	24	7.0%	30	6.4%
2 bedroom	26	20.1%	78	23.2%	104	22.3%
3 bedroom	70	53.6%	162	48.1%	231	49.6%
4+ bedroom	28	21.6%	73	21.7%	101	21.7%
Total	130	100.0%	336	100.0%	466	100.0%
Houses	129	98.9%	320	95.3%	449	96.4%
Flats	1	1.1%	16	4.7%	17	3.6%
Total	130	100.0%	336	100.0%	466	100.0%

11.50 Relative to a number of the other HMAs, there is a notable requirement in this HMA for homes with four or more bedrooms in the market sector.

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc Page 208 11.51 In the affordable sector the data suggests a slightly larger requirement for family accommodation in the urban area compared with rural parts of the HMA. The majority of need is for two and three bedroom properties.

Figure 11.12	Figure 11.12: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Kington HMA)						
	Kingtor	n Urban	Kingto	n Rural	Kingto	n HMA	
Type/size	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	
1 bedroom	12	16.8%	39	21.6%	51	20.3%	
2 bedroom	29	41.3%	72	39.8%	101	40.2%	
3 bedroom	28	39.5%	62	34.5%	90	35.9%	
4+ bedroom	2	2.4%	8	4.1%	9	3.6%	
Total	70	100.0%	181	100.0%	251	100.0%	
Houses	54	76.8%	166	91.9%	220	87.6%	
Flats	16	23.2%	15	8.1%	31	12.4%	
Total	70	100.0%	181	100.0%	251	100.0%	

Delivery Considerations

11.52 The numbers of new homes proposed to be delivered in this HMA are small, reflecting the size of the HMA and that of the main town, Kington, within it. No large strategic sites are proposed. The application of a 'plan, monitor and manage' approach to delivering the right mix of housing will thus be particularly important in this HMA.

The Ageing Population

- 11.56 At an HMA level we can also study the older person population and how this is likely to change in the future. To do this we have used our population/household projections in each area and applied prevalence rates as contained within the POPPI and PANSI websites.
- 11.57 The table below shows the proportion of the population aged 55 and over along with the proportion in various bands from 55 to 85+. The data shows that the Kington HMA has about 41% of its population aged 55 and over, this is a high figure when compared to the County as a whole and notably higher than is seen either regionally of nationally.

	Figure 11.14: Older person population (2011)					
Age group	Kington	Herefordshire	West Midlands	England		
Under 55	59.1%	64.5%	71.3%	72.0%		
55-64	15.8%	14.1%	11.7%	11.6%		
65-74	13.4%	11.3%	9.1%	8.6%		
75-84	8.5%	7.2%	5.7%	5.5%		
85+	3.2%	2.9%	2.2%	2.2%		
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%		
Total 55+	40.9%	35.5%	28.7%	28.0%		

Source: Projection modelling and ONS 2011 mid-year population estimates

11.58 Projecting forward we see that the older person population is expected to increase significantly with 24% more people aged 55 and over expected to be living in the HMA in 2031 when compared with 2011. The population aged 85 and over is expected to more than double whilst the population aged under 55 is expected to see a small decrease in population (the population aged 55 to 64 is also expected to drop noticeably).

Figure 11.15: Projected Change in Population of Older Persons (2011 to 2031)						
Age group	2011	2031	Change	% change		
Under 55	5,646	5,220	-426	-7.6%		
55-64	1,508	1,311	-197	-13.0%		
65-74	1,282	1,518	236	18.4%		
75-84	816	1,266	450	55.1%		
85+	302	747	445	147.1%		
Total	9,554	10,062	507	5.3%		
Total 55+	3,908	4,842	934	23.9%		

Source: Projection modelling

11.59 In addition to providing projections about how the number and proportion of older people is expected to change in the future we can look at the likely impact on the number of people with specific illnesses or disabilities. For this we have used data from the Projecting Older People Information System (POPPI) website. The projections from POPPI of older households with health issues are shown in the figure below – in all cases the figures relate to the population aged 65 and over. The figures from POPPI are based on prevalence rates from a range of different sources and whilst these might change in the future (e.g. as general health of the older person population improves) the estimates are likely to be of the right order.

11.60 POPPI looks at a wide range of heath issues and for the purposes of our assessment we have concentrated on the two which are in most areas the most significant – this is the number of people with dementia and those with mobility problems. The table below shows that the number of older people with dementia is expected to increase by 94% with the numbers with mobility problems increasing by 73% - these figures compare with 92% and 76% respectively for the whole of the County.

Figure 11.16: Estimated population change for range of health issues (2011 to 2031)					
Type of illness/disability20112031Change% increase					
Dementia 164 318 154 94.2%					
Mobility problems 431 744 313 72.5%					

Source: POPPI Website and projection modelling

- 11.61 Finally we have looked at older persons the Housing Register. The data shows that an appreciable proportion of those registered are aged 55 and over. In total, some 33% of households registered are aged 55 and over with a figure of 20% for those aged 65 and over. When compared with data about the proportion of older persons in the population these figures are quite low (with an estimated 41% of all people being aged 55 and over).
- 11.62 It is unclear from this information whether or not these figures suggest that older people are less likely to be in housing need or whether to some extent the figures might relate to the speed at which they are typically rehoused on joining the register. We would however note that a good proportion of older person households are owner-occupiers and that older people tend to be less mobile (in terms of moving home) than other groups. Overall the data does not suggest that older persons have particularly high levels of housing need when compared with the wider population. However, changes in the older person population (as discussed above) may mean that additional and specialist provision may be required in the future.

Figure 11.17: Housing Register by Age					
Age group	On R	On Register		pulation	
	Total	%	Total	%	
Under 55	135	67.5%	5,646	59.1%	
55-64	25	12.5%	1,508	15.8%	
65-74	25	12.5%	1,282	13.4%	
75-84	11	5.5%	816	8.5%	
85+	4	2.0%	302	3.2%	
Total	200	100.0%	9,554	100.0%	
Total 55+	65	32.5%	3,908	40.9%	

Source: Housing Register and demographic modelling

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).docC:\Users\nxi\Documents\Herefordshire LHMA Update 2012\Draft Report - Jan 2013\Draft LHMA Report (05-13-nxi).doc Page 211

of 217 January 2013

12 GOLDEN VALLEY HOUSING MARKET

Geography

- 12.1 The Golden Valley is the most rural HMA, to the west of the county, bordering Wales, and the only one without a market town. It has the smallest population of the 7 HMA's its population was estimated at 5,900 in mid 2010.
- 12.2 The area is served by the A438 which links Hereford to Hay-on-Wye, and the A465 which runs south-west from Hereford towards Abergaveny. Public transport links are not good there is a regular bus service between Peterchurch and Hereford during the day; the service from Ewyas Harold is less frequent, and involves changing at Pontrilas, so that the whole journey to Hereford takes about an hour.
- 12.3 Although there is no market town within the Golden Valley Housing Market Area, the villages of Ewyas Harold and Peterchurch serve as rural service centres. Pontrilas is a rural hub and the villages of Cusop and Dorstone are local service centres.
- 12.4 Access to services is poorer than for Herefordshire as a whole and is the worst out of the 7 HMA's: only 51.5% of households are within 2km of a post office (82.8% for Herefordshire) and only 2.0% of households are within 4km of a free cashpoint (71.1% for Herefordshire).⁵⁷

Current Housing Offer

- 12.5 The Golden Valley HMA contains 2,771 properties⁵⁸ representing a moderate 3% of total properties in Herefordshire.
- 12.6 In 2001, 75.8% of households were owner occupiers which was above average for the County (70.8%). While levels of private renting were above average (10.6% compared to 9.1% across Herefordshire), the levels of social housing ownership were low; the sector accommodating 7.6% of households compared to 15.2% across Herefordshire.
- 12.7 Social and private renting were slightly higher in Golden Valley North ward in 2001 than in Golden Valley South Ward; albeit that owner occupation was above average in both at 73% and 79% respectively.
- 12.8 Second home ownership is significant, representing 3.0% of the housing stock in 2012 the highest of any of the HMAs. This compares to an average of 0.9% across Herefordshire.
 2.4% of the housing stock was vacant compared to 1.8% across Herefordshire.

Formatte

spelling or

⁵⁷ Source: Commission for Rural Communities, 2007

⁵⁸ *Source:* Council Tax Records, November 2012

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 217

12.9 Across the HMA, a very high proportion of the housing stock was detached, at 70% in 2001; dominating the housing offer. The proportion of other types of housing is correspondingly substantially below average.

Socio-Economic Characteristics

- 12.10 Not surprisingly, as there is no market town to provide an employment focus, a high percentage of people in this HMA worked at home in 2001 (30.2% of the working population as compared to 15.2% for Herefordshire) and more travelled 10km or more to get to work than in Herefordshire as a whole (39.7% as compared to 26.9%, the same figure as for Bromyard HMA).
- 12.11 Data from the Business Register and Employment Survey in 2010 indicated that there were 3,700 employee jobs in the HMA. There is a particular concentration of employment in the HMA in the construction, health and social work, information and communications and real estates sectors.
- 12.12 None of the Lower-Level Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in this HMA fall within the 25% most deprived areas nationally.
- 12.13 This HMA includes some of the finest landscape in the county. This is likely to be a factor in driving second home ownership and retirement moves; as is the proximity to the Powys town of Hay-on-Wye.
- Fairfield High School in Peterchurch is very highly regarded, and this fact was commented on 12.14 by estate agents as increasing the demand for property in this area.

Housing Need

- 12.15 Housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who live in unsuitable housing, and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market.
- 12.16 An assessment of housing need has been undertaken drawing on a number of sources of information including previous research by Herefordshire Council, a bespoke survey of local prices and rents and information on household incomes. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.

Assessing Housing Affordability

12.17 Figure 12.1 below sets entry-level costs for buying or renting housing of different sizes in this HMA. Prices for a 1-bed home start from about £92,000, and from £129,000 for a 2-bed property. Entry level private rented range from £425 PCM for a 1-bed property and £525 for a 2-bed, through to £800 PCM for a 4-bed home.

Figure 12.1: Entry-Level Housing Costs

	1 Bedroom	2 Bedrooms	3 Bedrooms	4 Bedrooms	
Entry-Level Private Rents (PCM)	£425	£525	£625	£800	
Entry-Level Purchase Price £92,000 £129,000 £170,000 £276,000					
Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Jan 2011)					

12.18 Figure 12.2 indicates the annual income required to buy or rent a 2-bedroom property in the HMA. This is based on a mortgage multiplier of 3.5 times income for house purchase with a 100% mortgage, and an assumption that 25% of income is spent on housing for rented properties. It indicates substantial differences in the income levels required to access different housing tenures without financial support.



Figure 11.2: Indicative Income Required to Buy-Rent 2-bed Property

Source: Online Estate & Letting Agents Survey (Oct 2012) & RSR

^{12.19} To assess affordability it is necessary to compare housing costs against income. Figure 11.3 profiles the distribution of household incomes in the Golden Valley HMA, and compares this with the distribution county-wide. The median income in the Golden Valley HMA at £22,252 pa is slightly above the County average (£22,002 pa).

12.20 As Figure 12.3 indicates, the income distribution in the HMA is broadly similar to the County as a whole although there are relatively few households with an income of below £10,000.



Figure 12.3: Distribution of Household Incomes in the HMA

- 12.21 In the Golden Valley HMA, the ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile household incomes is 10.02 one of the highest in the County.
- 12.22 To assess affordability, the income required to either buy or rent a two-bedroom home has been used (whichever the cheaper). This has been compared with the distribution of household incomes within the HMA to calculate the likely proportion of households unable to afford to buy/rent without support. This calculation is shown in Figure 12.4 below.

Figure 12.4: Estimated Proportion of Households unable to afford Market Housing without Subsidy

	Golden Valley HMA	Herefordshire
Income Required to Access Market Housing	£25,200	-
Number Unable to Afford	1,455	44,641
Estimated Households (2012)	2,585	79,185
% of Households Unable to Afford	56.3%	56.4%

Source: Online Survey of Estate & Letting Agents (October 2012), Affordability Analysis (2012)

12.23 It is estimated that 56% of all households in this HMA cannot afford market housing without subsidy compared to 56% across Herefordshire.. The proportion of newly-forming

Source: JGC Modelling informed by Experian (2010)

households, who are typically younger, unable to buy or rent without support is however considerably higher at 68% of households aged under 45.

12.24 The housing affordability analysis indicates that market housing is unaffordable for many local households without equity in existing homes.

Housing Needs Estimates

- 12.25 An estimate of housing need within the HMA has been made taking account of the following:
 - Current housing need total households who are currently in housing need, drawing on information from the Council's Housing Register (Home Point);
 - Future housing need taking account of estimated new household formation and the proportion of estimated proportion of households unable to buy or rent in the market; and
 - Affordable housing supply considering the potential of the existing affordable housing supply to meet housing needs.
- 12.26 The analysis undertaken herein is intended to provide a picture of housing needs for the Housing Market Area. Herefordshire Council separately undertakes Housing Needs Surveys for specific villages and parishes at a more local level. These are available on the Council's Facts and Figures website⁵⁹
- 12.27 Total current housing need (the backlog) is therefore estimated at 21 households, net of transfers.
- 12.28 Numbers of newly-forming households expected to form over the next five years have been estimated, and an affordability test applied to this. In the Golden Valley HMA new household formation is estimated at 152 over the next five years. It is estimated that 68% of newly-forming households in the HMA are unable to afford market housing. This is the same as the Herefordshire average.
- 12.29 It is estimated that 15 existing households will fall into housing need over the next five years.
- 12.30 The supply of affordable housing over a five year period has been calculated based on actual data on lettings for general needs and sheltered housing in the social sector.
- 12.31 Net affordable housing need in the HMA is calculated below:

Formatte

spelling or

⁵⁹ http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/factsandfigures/housingresearch

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc 9age 217 of 217

		Golden Valley HMA
А	Backlog of Need	21
В	Newly-Arising Need (5 Year)	117
С	Total Need (= A + B)	138
D	Affordable Housing Supply (5 Year)	59
Е	Net Need (5 Year) (= C - D)	79
F	Affordable Housing Requirement PA (=E / 5)	16
	Additional Homes Proposed PA	15
	Need as % of Proposed Supply	107%

Figure 12.5: Estimated Level of Housing Need 2012-17

- 12.32 It is estimated that there is an **annual need for 16 units of affordable housing in the Golden Valley HMA**. This compares with an estimated supply of 15 new homes per annum (2011-31). The level of need represents 107% of projected supply. This is a particularly function of the low existing affordable housing supply in this HMA.
- 12.33 This figure (the 107% shown above) should however be treated for illustrative purposes only and is only relevant for the five-year period to 2017. In theory if the backlog were met in this five year period then the need as a proportion of total delivery would fall notably. In addition, the figure for need does not take account of the role played by the private rented sector in meeting need and hence the comparison between need and supply is not as clear cut as a simple comparison of the numbers the level of housing need should not necessarily have any bearing on the number of homes (of all tenures) to be provided.
- 12.33 The potential for intermediate affordable housing, such as shared ownership or intermediate rented housing, has been calculated by considering the proportion of newly-forming households and households on the Housing Register who can afford to pay more than existing social housing rents, but cannot afford to rent privately or purchase housing without financial support. The detailed methodology is described in Section 5.
- 12.34 It is estimated that an income of £25,200 is required to access market housing, but that an income of £20,160 is required to access intermediate housing within the Golden Valley HMA.
- 12.35 Within the Golden Valley HMA it is estimated that 21% of households in need will be able to afford intermediate housing, with 79% requiring social rented housing (57% social rent; 22% affordable rent).
- 12.36 In the short-term, it is calculated that 62% of housing need is for 1-bed properties, a small surplus of 2-bed, 38% for 3 bed and 6% for properties with 4 or more bedrooms.

Housing Market Performance

- 12.37 The average price of all homes sold between April September 2012 (inclusive) in the HMA was £220,400, which was 3% above the County average. In total 50% of sales in this period were of detached properties, with no sales of flats/ maisonettes. The HMA commands some of the highest prices in the County.
- 12.38 Herefordshire Council's survey of Estate Agents in 2009 showed property prices in the Golden Valley to be among the highest when all 12 areas were ranked in order, second only to Ledbury surrounds.
- 12.39 Looking at private rental levels, this area came out as somewhat lower, being ranked as 4th highest out of the 12 areas used in this survey.
- 12.40 The "entry level" monthly rental estimated in late 2012 as ranging from £425 for a one-bed flat to £800 for a four-bed house.
- 12.41 Comparative house prices indicate a relative premium on detached housing and properties with four or more bedrooms in this HMA.

Future Housing Requirements

- 12.42 Housing delivery in the Golden Valley HMA is estimated at 304 dwellings between 2011-31, which would represent household growth of 0.6% and a total of 11.5% growth over the 20 year period.
- 11.53 We have modelled potential employment growth in the HMA taking account of the level and structure of employment relative to Herefordshire as a whole. Total employment is estimated to increase by around 700 jobs over the 2011-31 period, representing 17% growth which is above the County average of 13%.
- 11.54 Considering the sectoral structure of employment, we project the following changes in the occupational profile of the Golden Valley HMA over the period 2011-31:



Figure 12.6: Prospective Changes in Occupation Profile in Kington HMA, 2011-31

Source: GLH

- 12.43 The profile overall of expected change in occupations is structured more towards managerial and professional occupations, as well as skilled trade and elementary occupations. This can be expected to support demand for housing at a range of levels from working-age households.
- 12.44 A demographic model has been constructed in order to estimate housing need and demand within each HMA for different sizes and types of housing. The model takes account of the planned level of housing provision within the HMA over the plan period (and adjusts assumptions on future net migration to take account of this), as well as wider changes in the structure of the population taking account of birth and death rates, the ageing of the population and expected future changes to headship rates (which describe the proportion of people in different age brackets which are heads of households). By considering the size and type of housing occupied by households in different age groups by gender within the HMA, projections can be made of future need and demand for housing arising from expected changes in the make-up of the population and structure of households.

Market Housing

12.45 The table and figure below show estimates of the sizes and types of market housing required in the whole of the Golden Valley HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 198 additional market units with the majority of these being three bedroom homes. In addition the data suggests that all of the housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).

Formatte spelling or

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 220 12.46 Overall the data suggests that around two-thirds of additional market housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation and around a third smaller units.

Figure 12.7: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Market Housing (Golden Valley HMA)					
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031		
1 bedroom	59	64	5		
2 bedroom	301	358	59		
3 bedroom	1,099	1,229	133		
4+ bedroom	923	923	1		
Total	2,382	2,575	198		
Houses	2,351	2,555	209		
Flats	31	20	-11		
Total	2,382	2,575	198		

12.47 While the model points to little requirement for additional homes with 4 or more bedrooms, in reality there is likely to be some evidence of demand for additional larger properties. The model is driven by changes in the demographic structure, resulting in a moderate shift in the general requirement for different types of housing. This does not mean that there is not likely to be demand for a moderate number of larger homes with 4 or more bedrooms, particularly considering the housing values and quality of place which the area provides. This demand however is particularly likely to be driven by households seeking to move into the area.



Sizes of Affordable Housing

- 12.48 Figures 12.9 and 12.10 below show estimates of the sizes and types of affordable housing required in the whole of the Golden Valley HMA. The data suggests a requirement for 106 additional affordable units (35% of all housing) with two bedroom homes showing the greatest requirement. In addition the data suggests that the majority of housing required will be in the form of houses (or bungalows).
- 12.49 Overall the data suggests that around 30% of additional affordable housing should be family (3+ bedroom) accommodation with the remainder being smaller units. Of the total, it is suggested that around a quarter should be in the form of flats.

Figure 12.9: Estimated Size and Type of Dwellings Required 2011 to 2031 – Affordable Housing (Golden Valley HMA)					
Type/size	Households 2011	Households 2031	Additional homes 2011-2031		
1 bedroom	46	78	33		
2 bedroom	72	113	42		
3 bedroom	65	95	31		
4+ bedroom	5	5	1		
Total	188	292	106		
Houses	144	220	77		
Flats	44	72	29		
Total	188	292	106		



Delivery Considerations

12.50 The numbers of new homes proposed to be delivered in this HMA are small, reflecting the size of the HMA and lack of a market town. No large strategic sites are proposed. The application of a 'plan, monitor and manage' approach to delivering the right mix of housing will thus be particularly important in this HMA.

The Ageing Population

- 12.49 At an HMA level we can also study the older person population and how this is likely to change in the future. To do this we have used our population/household projections in each area and applied prevalence rates as contained within the POPPI and PANSI websites.
- 12.50 The table below shows the proportion of the population aged 55 and over along with the proportion in various bands from 55 to 85+. The data shows that the Golden Valley HMA has about 41% of its population aged 55 and over, this is a high figure when compared to the County as a whole and notably higher than is seen either regionally of nationally.

Figure 12.14: Older person population (2011)					
Age group	Golden Valley	Herefordshire	West Midlands	England	
Under 55	58.8%	64.5%	71.3%	72.0%	
55-64	16.8%	14.1%	11.7%	11.6%	
65-74	13.5%	11.3%	9.1%	8.6%	
75-84	8.2%	7.2%	5.7%	5.5%	
85+	2.7%	2.9%	2.2%	2.2%	
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	
Total 55+	41.2%	35.5%	28.7%	28.0%	

Source: Projection modelling and ONS 2011 mid-year population estimates

12.51 Projecting forward we see that the older person population is expected to increase significantly with 28% more people aged 55 and over expected to be living in the HMA in 2031 when compared with 2011. The population aged 85 and over is expected to nearly triple whilst the population aged under 55 is expected to see a notable decrease in population (the population aged 55 to 64 is also expected to drop noticeably).

Figure 12.15: Projected Change in Population of Older Persons (2011 to 2031)						
Age group	2011	2031	Change	% change		
Under 55	3,544	3,062	-482	-13.6%		
55-64	1,013	839	-173	-17.1%		
65-74	811	1,028	217	26.8%		
75-84	495	848	353	71.3%		
85+	165	468	303	183.8%		
Total	6,028	6,245	217	3.6%		
Total 55+	2,484	3,183	700	28.2%		

Source: Projection modelling

- 12.52 In addition to providing projections about how the number and proportion of older people is expected to change in the future we can look at the likely impact on the number of people with specific illnesses or disabilities. For this we have used data from the Projecting Older People Information System (POPPI) website. The projections from POPPI of older households with health issues are shown in the figure below in all cases the figures relate to the population aged 65 and over. The figures from POPPI are based on prevalence rates from a range of different sources and whilst these might change in the future (e.g. as general health of the older person population improves) the estimates are likely to be of the right order.
- 12.53 POPPI looks at a wide range of heath issues and for the purposes of our assessment we have concentrated on the two which are in most areas the most significant this is the number of people with dementia and those with mobility problems. The table below shows that the number of older people with dementia is expected to more than double with the numbers with mobility problems increasing by 89% these figures compare with 92% and 76% respectively for the whole of the County.

Figure 12.16: Estimated population change for range of health issues (2011 to 2031)						
Type of illness/disability20112031Change% increase						
Dementia	357	755	399	111.8%		
Mobility problems	953	1,801	848	89.0%		

Source: POPPI Website and projection modelling

^{12.54} Finally we have looked at older persons the Housing Register. The data shows that an appreciable proportion of those registered are aged 55 and over. In total, some 18% of households registered are aged 55 and over with a figure of 12% for those aged 65 and over. When compared with data about the proportion of older persons in the population these figures are quite low (with an estimated 41% of all people being aged 55 and over).

12.55 It is unclear from this information whether or not these figures suggest that older people are less likely to be in housing need or whether to some extent the figures might relate to the speed at which they are typically rehoused on joining the register. We would however note that a good proportion of older person households are owner-occupiers and that older people tend to be less mobile (in terms of moving home) than other groups. Overall the data does not suggest that older persons have particularly high levels of housing need when compared with the wider population. However, changes in the older person population (as discussed above) may mean that additional and specialist provision may be required in the future.

Figure 12.17: Housing Register by Age					
Age group	On R	egister	Total po	opulation	
	Total	%	Total	%	
Under 55	49	81.7%	3,544	58.8%	
55-64	4	6.7%	1,013	16.8%	
65-74	6	10.0%	811	13.5%	
75-84	0	0.0%	495	8.2%	
85+	1	1.7%	165	2.7%	
Total	60	100.0%	6,028	100.0%	
Total 55+	11	18.3%	2,484	41.2%	

Source: Housing Register and demographic modelling

13 CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS

13.1 In this section we set out our conclusions and recommendations. These particularly deal with housing mix.

HOUSING REQUIREMENTS AND DELIVERY

- 13.2 The proposed housing requirement for Herefordshire of 16,500 homes over the 2011-31 plan period represents 1.5% household growth per annum. It is above the Government's latest 2008 trend-based demographic projections for household growth (14,500 homes between 2011-31)⁶⁰.
- 13.3 This report identifies net affordable housing need for 3,457 households over the 2012-17 period (excluding housing in the development pipeline). It seems unlikely that this level of affordable housing can be delivered. However the private rented sector does, and is likely to continue, to provide a source of supply of homes to meet housing need supported by Local Housing Allowance. Based on current dynamics we estimate that the private rented sector could meet the needs of an estimated 2,660 households in housing need over the 2012-17 period. Thus whilst there is a continuing high need to deliver affordable housing there is not a need to increase the overall housing target for the County above the 16,500 being proposed.
- 13.4 It will be important that the Council progresses its LDF as a matter of priority to provide a policy framework which supports housing delivery, and in particular the delivery of strategic site allocations, as these will make the substantial contribution to housing delivery in the longer-term. It should be recognised that there are in some cases long lead-in times to the delivery of strategic employment sites, and that planning is a key element of this. We would recommend that the Council gives careful thought to how delivery is phased over plan period through the delivery strategy which will accompany the Core Strategy.
- 13.5 The mix of sites proposed within the emerging Core Strategy is considered appropriate to meet need and demand over the plan period. It comprises a combination of smaller sites within urban areas and larger strategic greenfield urban extensions. This is considered capable of delivering a range of house types in accordance with the need and demand identified.
- 13.6 Coordinated delivery of housing and employment is likely to be particularly important in Leominster and Hereford reflecting the levels of new development proposed.

⁶⁰ CLG 2008-based Household Projections

C:\Users\ks1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\N1DI5CZU\Draft LHMA Report (05-02-13-nxi).doc 13-nxi).doc of 226 January 2013

13.7 Implementation of a strong economic development strategy will be important in supporting housing delivery, and maintaining greater balance in the population structures. An economic strategy needs to sit alongside a housing strategy, and the Council will need to be proactive in this regard. The Council is producing an Economic Development Strategy, and it will be important that it continues to fully engage in the Marches LEP.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING POLICY

- 13.8 Herefordshire Council is updating its assessment of the economic viability of residential development to inform affordable housing policies. Proposed targets for affordable housing provision in the emerging Core Strategy will need to be reviewed to take this into account. This LHMA has considered housing needs.
- 13.9 The housing needs assessment undertaken supports a nuanced policy which recognises that housing needs and affordable tenure requirements vary across the County. Targets and size thresholds for affordable housing will need to be informed by both the needs and viability evidence, and should support housing delivery throughout the economic cycle (as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework). They will also need to consider any potential Community Infrastructure Levy requirements which the Council can set.
- 13.10 For strategic sites affordable housing will need to be balanced with and considered alongside other development costs, including infrastructure costs and the prospective Community Infrastructure Levy; as these have a collective impact on development viability. The range of 'policy costs' need to be considered in a rounded way with a view to delivering a sustainable community.
- 13.11 The market downturn and restrictions on mortgage finance have reduced effective demand for market housing; and this can be expected to limit housing delivery in the short-term.
- 13.12 The Council has been looking at a range of mechanisms to bring forward affordable housing, including use of public sector land assets and supporting direct delivery by Registered Providers (RPs). It is considering and assessing what funding it has to support affordable housing delivery, albeit recognising current financial resource constraints.
- 13.13 In addition to the percentage affordable housing targets, the Council is seeking to provide a clear steer on the mix of affordable housing it wishes to see delivered through the LDF. Based on analysis undertaken, a recommended strategic target of 25 intermediate, 25% affordable

Formatte spelling or

January 2013

rented and 50% social rented housing county-wide would assist in balancing the housing market.

13.14 The Council should give thought to whether it wishes to set separate policies for each of the HMAs. Evidence points to the following tenure splits between social rented & intermediate being appropriate:

Hereford HMA – 75% social or affordable rented; 25% intermediate Bromyard HMA – 60% social or affordable rented; 40% intermediate Ledbury HMA – 70% social or affordable rented; 30% intermediate Ross HMA – 70% social or affordable rented; 30% intermediate Kington HMA – 60% social or affordable rented; 40% intermediate Leominster HMA – 65% social or affordable rented; 35% intermediate Golden Valley HMA – 75% social or affordable rented; 25% intermediate

- 13.15 The evidence suggests considerable potential for affordable rented housing in Herefordshire subject to conclusions of the viability remodelling. Higher rents will mean that this is more viable to deliver than social rented properties, and is likely to require less public subsidy. The balance between social and affordable rented housing should be influenced by the modelling in this report and scheme viability.
- 13.16 There are however a number of other intermediate housing products, including shared ownership/equity, which should also be delivered. These are likely to be particularly appealing to would-be first-time buyers who haven't the savings to buy on the open market where the household can raise the necessary deposit.
- 13.17 Many households however often do not know of the housing options which are potentially available to them. We would recommend that alongside delivery of new intermediate housing, work is prioritised to raise the profile of the range of options available through marketing/ website etc.
- 13.18 Recognising their sensitivity to changes in market circumstances, affordable housing policies should be kept under regular review. We would recommend that these are reviewed at least every 5 years (or more frequently depending on the degree of change in market circumstances).
- 13.19 Recommendations for the sizes of affordable housing in each of the HMAs are as follows. These are drawn from the Housing Market Model.

Figure 13.1: Recommendation on Affordable Housing Mix							
НМА	1-bed	2-bed	3-bed	4/+ Bed			
Hereford	30%	34%	32%	4%			
Bromyard	29%	37%	30%	4%			
Ross	29%	37%	31%	4%			
Kington	24%	48%	35%	4%			
Leominster	23%	32%	40%	4%			
Ledbury	28%	38%	30%	4%			
Golden Valley	31%	39%	29%	1%			

MIX OF MARKET HOUSING

- 13.20 In regard to market housing, our view is that planning and housing policies should not be overly prescriptive regarding the mix of housing required, as in most senses the market is best placed to consider what homes will sell.
- 13.21 Nonetheless it is important that at the strategic level the planning system delivers a mix of sites which enables a range of housing to be delivered. As stated we consider the mix of sites proposed appropriate to achieve this with the strategic sites playing an important role in the delivery of family homes. The Council should monitor housing delivery by size to inform a plan, monitor and manage approach to achieve a mix of housing broadly in line with the findings of this report over the plan period.

MONITORING AND REVIEW

- 13.22 This report has recognised that there is limited information available on the size of or conditions in the private rented sector. This is an issue which is not unique to Herefordshire. The Council might consider undertaking some bespoke research, however it should be recognised that this is likely to provide only qualitative understanding. A quantitative picture of the size and distribution of the sector will however emerge from findings of the 2011 Census. In any case, the Council has limited control over the size or market dynamics within the private rented sector.
- 13.23 Is it recommended that the Council continues to monitor housing market activity in accordance with the template provided and through annual Estate/Letting Agents Surveys.